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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

ATHENS, ONTARIO, Friday, March 30, 2007
(58)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry
met at 9 a.m., this day, in the Joshua Bates Centre, 2nd Floor,
in Athens, Ontario, the Chair, the Honourable Joyce Fairbairn,
P.C., presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Callbeck, Fairbairn, P.C., Losier-Cool, Mercer and Segal (5).

In attendance: Marc Leblanc and Marc-André Pigeon,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Services,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate
on Tuesday, May 16, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of rural poverty in Canada. (For complete text of
Order of Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 6.)

WITNESSES:
Loaves and Fishes:
Irene Selkirk, Administrator.
Country Roads Community Health Centre:
Jen Bergman, Health Promoter;
Sue MacLatchie, Vice-Chair, Board.
Leeds, Grenville and Lanark District Health Unit:

Dianne Oickle, Registered Dietician and Public Health
Nutritionist.

United Way of Leeds and Grenville:
Judy Baril, Executive Director.

Perth Connections, Lanark Health and Community Services:

Sandy Prentice, Home Visitor and Playgroup Organizer,
Community Action Program for Children.

Salvation Army — Brockville:

Randy Gatza, Community and Family Services Officer.
Ontario Federation of Agriculture:

Geri Kamenz, President and Chairman of the Board;

Adrian Wynands, President, Grenville Federation of
Agriculture, and Regional Director, Ontario Federation
of Agriculture;

Bill French, President, Leeds Federation of Agriculture.
As individuals:
Yuergen Beck;

Jane Monaghan.

PROCES-VERBAUX

ATHENS, ONTARIO, le vendredi 30 mars 2007
(58)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de I’agriculture et des foréts se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 heures, au 2° étage du centre Joshua Bates,
a Athens, en Ontario, sous la présidence de ’honorable Joyce
Fairbairn, C.P. (présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Callbeck, Fairbairn, C.P., Losier-Cool, Mercer et Segal (5).

Egalement présents : Marc Leblanc et Marc-André Pigeon,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mardi 16 mai 2006, le comité poursuit son étude sur la pauvreté
rurale au Canada. (Le texte complet de l'ordre de renvoi figure au

fascicule n° 6 des délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Loaves and Fishes :
Irene Selkirk, administratrice.
Centre de santé communautaire de Country Roads :
Jen Bergman, promotrice de la santé;
Sue MacLatchie, vice-présidente du conseil.
Circonscription sanitaire du district de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark :

Dianne Oickle, diététiste et hygiéniste alimentaire publique.

Centraide de Leeds et Grenville :
Judy Baril, directrice administrative.

Programme Perth Connections, Services communautaires et de
santé de Lanark :

Sandy Prentice, ménagére visiteuse et organisatrice d’ateliers de
jeu, Programme d’action communautaire pour les enfants.

Armée du Salut — Brockville :

Randy Gatza, agent des services communautaires et familiaux.
Fédération de l'agriculture de I'Ontario :

Geri Kamenz, président et président du conseil;

Adrian Wynands, président, Fédération de I’agriculture
de Grenville et directeur régional de la Fédération de
l’agriculture de 1'Ontario;

Bill French, président, Fédération de 1’agriculture de Leeds.
A titre personnel :
Yuergen Beck;

Jane Monaghan.
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The Chair made an opening statement.

Ms. MacLatchie, Ms. Bergman, Ms. Selkirk and Ms. Oickle
each made a statement and, together, answered questions.

At 10 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 10:04 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Gatza, Ms. Baril and Ms. Prentice each made a statement
and, together, answered questions.

At 11:04 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 11:17 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Kamenz, Mr. Beck and Ms. Monaghan each made a
statement and, together with Mr. Wynands and Mr. French,
answered questions.

At 12:08 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

ATHENS, ONTARIO, Friday, March 30, 2007
(59)
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry
met at 1 p.m., this day, in the Joshua Bates Centre, 2nd Floor,
in Athens, Ontario, the Chair, the Honourable Joyce Fairbairn,
P.C., presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Callbeck, Fairbairn, P.C., Losier-Cool, Mercer and Segal (5).

In attendance: Marc Leblanc and Marc-André Pigeon,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Services,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate
on Tuesday, May 16, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of rural poverty in Canada. (For complete text of
Order of Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 6.)

WITNESSES:

Township of Athens:
John Conley, Mayor.

As an individual:
Sandra Lawn.

Seeley’s Bay/Lindhurst and Area Non-Profit Seniors Residence
Corporation:

Peggy Sweet-McCumber, Chair.
Leeds and Grenville Landowners Association:
Jacqueline Fennell, President;

Shawn Carmichael, Director.

La présidente fait une déclaration.

Mmes MacLatchie, Bergman, Selkirk et Oickle font chacune
un exposé et répondent ensuite aux questions.

A 10 heures, la séance est suspendue.
A 10 h 4, la séance reprend.

M. Gatza, Mme Baril et Mme Prentice font chacun un exposé
puis répondent aux questions.

A 11 h 4, la séance est suspendue.
A 11 h 17, la séance reprend.

M. Kamenz, M. Beck et Mme Monaghan font chacun un
exposé et, avec I'aide de MM. Wynands et French, répondent aux
questions.

A 12 h 8, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

ATHENS, ONTARIO, le vendredi 30 mars 2007
(59)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de 1’agriculture et des foréts
se réunit aujourd’hui, a 13 heures, au 2° étage du centre Joshua
Bates, a Athens, en Ontario, sous la présidence de I’honorable
Joyce Fairbairn, C.P. (présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Callbeck, Fairbairn, C.P., Losier-Cool, Mercer et Segal (5).

Egalement présents : Marc Leblanc et Marc-André Pigeon,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
16 mai 2006, le comité poursuit son étude sur la pauvreté rurale
au Canada. (Le texte complet de l'ordre de renvoi figure au

fascicule n° 6 des délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :

Canton d’Athens :
John Conley, maire.

A titre personnel :
Sandra Lawn.

Seeley’s Bay/Lindhurst and Area Non-Profit Seniors Residence
Corporation :

Peggy Sweet-McCumber, présidente.
Leeds and Grenville Landowners Association :
Jacqueline Fennell, présidente;

Shawn Carmichael, directeur.
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Lanark Landowners Association:
Bill Duncan, President.
As an individual:
Merle Bowes.
LINKS:
Deborah Heintzman, Member.
As individuals:
David Campbell;
Dr. Denise Bowes;
Laurie Wight;
Rosemary Kralik.

Mayor Conley welcomed the committee to Athens.

The Chair made an opening statement.

Mr. Carmichael, Ms. Fennell, Ms. Lawn and Ms. Sweet-
McCumber each made a statement and, together, answered
questions.

At 1:52 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 2:02 p.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Duncan, Mr. Bowes, Ms. Heintzman, Mr. Campbell,
Dr. Dowes, Ms. Wight and Ms. Kralik each made a statement
and, together, answered questions.

At 2:58 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

Lanark Landowners Association :
Bill Duncan, président.
A titre personnel :
Merle Bowes.
LINKS :
Deborah Heintzman, membre.
A titre personnel :
David Campbell;
Dre Denise Bowes;
Laurie Wight;
Rosemary Kralik.

Le maire Conley souhaite la bienvenue a Athens aux membres
du comité.

La présidente fait une déclaration.

M. Carmichael, Mme Fennell, Mme Lawn et Mme Sweet-
McCumber font chacun un exposé et répondent ensuite aux
questions.

A 13 h 52, la séance est suspendue.
A 14 h 2, la séance reprend.

M. Duncan, M. Bowes, Mme Heintzman, M. Campbell,
Mme Dowes, Mme Wight et Mme Kralik font chacun un
exposé et répondent ensuite aux questions.

A 14 h 38, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

La greffiere du comité,

Jessica Richardson

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
ATHENS, ONTARIO, Friday, March 30, 2007

The Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry
met this day at 9 a.m. to examine and report on rural poverty
in Canada.

Senator Joyce Fairbairn (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Good morning and welcome to our witnesses
and audience. Committee members are pleased to be here in your
community this morning.

Last May, the committee was authorized to examine and
report on rural poverty in Canada. Last fall, we heard from a
number of expert witnesses who gave the committee an overview
of rural poverty in Canada. On the basis of that testimony, we
wrote an interim report, which we released in December 2006.
We thought the report might drop off the sidelines and no
one would take note of it but it truly struck a nerve. Senators
heard from people in their regions who were surprised that
anyone cared enough to undertake such a study.

We are in the midst of our second phase of the study,
whereby we meet with rural Canadians across rural Canada.
To date, we have travelled to all the provinces in Atlantic
Canada. We are not sure how we got in and out in the wonderful
blizzard but folks came out and the effort was terrific. We
also travelled to the four western provinces. Along the way,
we have met a wonderful and diverse group of rural Canadians,
who welcomed us with open arms into their communities
and sometimes even into their homes.

On that note, we are pleased to be welcomed in Athens,
Ontario. This morning’s witnesses are Sue MacLatchie,
Vice-Chair of the Board of Country Roads Community Health
Centre; Jen Bergman, Health Promoter, Country Roads
Community Health Centre; Irene Selkirk, Administrator of
Loaves and Fishes; and Dianne Oickle, Registered Dietician
and Public Health Nutritionist, Leeds, Grenville and Lanark
District Health Unit. Following presentations by the witnesses,
we will open the discussion with senators.

I am Senator Fairbairn, Chair of the Committee, from
Lethbridge, Alberta. Other members of the committee here
today are Senator Catherine Callbeck from Prince Edward
Island; Senator Terry Mercer from Nova Scotia; Senator Hugh
Segal from Ontario; and Senator Rose-Marie Losier-Cool,
Speaker pro tempore of the Senate, from New Brunswick.

Ms. MacLatchie, please proceed.

Sue MacLatchie, Vice-Chair, Board, Country Roads Community
Health Centre: I will follow the notes that we handed out, although
I might digress. As you might know, there are 52 health centres in

TEMOIGNAGES
ATHENS, ONTARIO, le vendredi 30 mars 2007

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de I’agriculture et des foréts se
réunit aujourd’hui a 9 heures pour examiner, en vue d’en faire
rapport, la pauvreté rurale au Canada.

Le sénateur Joyce Fairbairn (présidente) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

La présidente : Bonjour. Je souhaite la bienvenue a nos témoins
et a l'auditoire. Les membres du comité sont heureux d’étre dans
votre collectivité ce matin.

En mai dernier, le comité a été autorisé a examiner, en vue d’en
faire rapport, la pauvreté rurale au Canada. L’automne dernier,
nous avons entendu un certain nombre de témoins experts qui
nous ont brossé un tableau global de la pauvreté au Canada.
A partir de ces témoignages, nous avons rédigé un rapport
intérimaire qui a été publié en décembre 2006. Nous pensions que
le rapport serait relégué a larriére-plan et qu’il passerait inapergu,
mais il a véritablement touché une corde sensible. Les sénateurs
se sont fait dire par des gens de leur région qu’ils étaient étonnés
de voir que quelquun se préoccupait suffisamment de cette
question pour entreprendre une telle étude.

Nous sommes dans la deuxiéme étape de 1’étude, celle ou nous
rencontrons des Canadiennes et des Canadiens qui vivent en
milieu rural partout au Canada. Jusqu’a présent, nous avons
visité toutes les provinces de I’Atlantique. Nous ne savons pas
vraiment comment nous avons fait pour nous y rendre et en
repartir pendant un merveilleux blizzard, mais les gens sont
venus et I’effort a été admirable. Nous avons également visité les
quatre provinces de ’Ouest. Au cours de ce voyage, nous avons
rencontré des groupes variés et merveilleux de Canadiens qui nous
ont accueillis a bras ouverts dans leur collectivité et, parfois
méme, dans leur foyer.

Sur ce, nous sommes heureux d’étre accueillis a Athens, Ontario.
Ce matin, nos témoins sont Mme Sue MacLatchie,
vice-présidente du conseil du Centre de santé communautaire
Country Roads; Mme Jen Bergman, promotrice de la santé, Centre
de santé communautaire Country Roads; Mme Irene Selkirk,
administratrice de Loaves and Fishes; et Mme Dianne Oickle,
diététiste et hygiéniste alimentaire publique, Circonscription
sanitaire du district de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark.

Je suis le sénateur Fairbairn, présidente du comité, et je
viens de Lethbridge, Alberta. Les autres membres du comité
présents ici aujourd’hui sont le sénateur Catherine Callbeck,
de I'lle-du-Prince-Edouard; le sénateur Terry Mercer, de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse; le sénateur Hugh Segal, de I’Ontario; et le
sénateur Rose-Marie Losier-Cool, Présidente intérimaire du
Sénat, du Nouveau-Brunswick.

Madame MacLatchie, vous avez la parole.

Sue MacLatchie, vice-présidente du conseil, Centre de santé
communautaire Country Roads : Je vais suivre les notes que nous
vous avons distribuées, bien que je puisse faire des digressions.
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Ontario. The Ontario government recently agreed that another 22
be established this year. It is one of our ways of delivering services
in the communities. Community health centres are usually put into
areas where there is a barrier to health. In rural areas, it is
necessary because of the problems those people have. I will speak
to those problems today.

I glanced through the interim report and I agree that a true
sense of poverty is well reflected in it. The report is a good start.
I worked as a social worker in a community health centre in
Ottawa on poverty issues. In particular, I was on the Task Force
on Poverty for the City of Ottawa. Ms. Bergman is a health
promoter with Country Roads Community Health Centre,
CRCHC, and holds a BA in Social Work from the University
of Calgary. She has worked with people living on low income.
Between the two of us, we have much experience.

The CRCHC serves 3500 residents of Rideau Lakes and
part of North Leeds. We have doctors, nurses, social workers,
practitioners, health promoters and a registered dietician.
Many people living on low income find it difficult to come to
our centre because of lack of transportation and affordable
child care. Often, they do not have enough money to pay for
prescriptions and other devices. I have seen staff dig in their
pockets to find money for prescriptions for people.

We believe employment, isolation, income and education
affect a person’s health. For these reasons, a community health
centre is about working with a community about the root
causes of ill health. In other words, we do not confine ourselves
to the doctors and nurses in primary care. In rural areas,
poor people face more stigmas than they do in urban areas.
There is a huge difference between the two. I have worked
with people in poverty in Ottawa, and poverty is deeper in
the rural areas. As people live farther away from each other,
isolation is increased. The lack of social contact decreases one’s
self-esteem and, when neighbours realize someone is living in
poverty, they look down on them. For instance, there is no place
where they can be anonymous and everyone knows when they
visit the local food bank. That adds to the problems. In an urban
centre, such as Ottawa, they can hide so people do not know
who they are.

Our centre has community programs to address poverty
but more needs to be done. We have facilitated the Good
Food Box Program, which provides fresh vegetables and fruit
at a low cost. Our registered dietician works with the local
community to set up and enhance the food banks in the area,
and facilitates communities working together on food issues.

Comme vous le savez, il y a 52 centres de santé communautaire en
Ontario. Le gouvernement de I’Ontario a récemment convenu que
22 autres centres seront créés cette année. C’est une des fagons que
nous avons d’offrir des services dans les collectivités. Les centres
de santé communautaire sont habituellement implantés dans les
endroits ou il y a un obstacle a la santé. Dans les régions rurales,
ils sont nécessaires en raison des problémes que les gens
éprouvent. Je vais parler de ces problémes aujourd’hui.

Jai jeté un coup d’oeil sur le rapport intérimaire et je suis
d’accord pour dire qu’il refléte un sens véritable de pauvreté. Le
rapport est un bon début. J’ai travaillé sur des questions liées a la
pauvreté comme travailleuse sociale dans un centre de santé
communautaire a Ottawa. Plus particuliérement, je faisais partie
du Groupe de travail sur la pauvreté de la ville d’Ottawa.
Mme Bergman est promotrice de la santé auprés du Centre de
santé communautaire de Country Roads, CSCCR, et posseéde un
diplome de baccalauréat en travail social de I’Université de
Calgary. Elle a travaillé avec les gens qui vivent avec un faible
revenu. A nous deux, nous avons beaucoup d’expérience.

Le CSCCR dessert 3 500 résidents de Rideau Lakes et d’une
partie de Leeds Nord. Nous avons des médecins, des infirmiéres,
des travailleurs sociaux, des praticiens, des promoteurs de la santé
et une diététiste. De nombreuses personnes qui vivent avec un
faible revenu trouvent difficile de venir a notre centre a cause de
I’absence de services de transport et de garde d’enfants
abordables. Souvent, ils n’ont pas suffisamment d’argent pour
payer leurs médicaments d’ordonnance et autres matériels
médicaux. J’ai vu des membres du personnel payer de leur
poche des médicaments d’ordonnance a des gens.

Nous croyons que I’emploi, I'isolement, le revenu et ’éducation
influent sur la santé d’une personne. Pour ces raisons, un centre
de santé communautaire a pour mission de travailler sur les
causes premieres des problemes de santé dans une communauté.
En d’autres mots, nous ne nous limitons pas a des médecins et a
des infirmiéres de soins primaires. Dans les régions rurales, les
gens pauvres sont davantage stigmatisés que dans les régions
urbaines. Il y a une énorme différence entre les deux. J’ai travaillé
avec des gens vivant dans la pauvreté a Ottawa et la pauvreté est
plus profonde dans les régions rurales. Etant donné que les gens
vivent plus loin les uns des autres, 1’isolement s’en trouve accru.
L’absence de contacts sociaux diminue 1’estime de soi et, lorsque
les voisins constatent que quelqu’un vit dans la pauvreté, ils les
regardent de haut. Par exemple, il n’y a aucun endroit ou ils
peuvent se rendre de maniére anonyme et tout le monde le sait
lorsqu’ils se rendent a la banque alimentaire locale. Cela aggrave
les problémes. Dans un centre urbain comme Ottawa, ils peuvent
se cacher de maniére que les gens ne savent pas qui ils sont.

Notre centre offre des programmes communautaires pour
lutter contre la pauvreté, mais il faut en faire davantage. Nous
avons animé le Programme de la boite verte qui offre des fruits
et légumes frais a bas prix. Notre diététiste travaille avec la
collectivité locale pour mettre sur pied et améliorer les banques
alimentaires de la région et amener les collectivités a travailler
ensemble sur les questions alimentaires.
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The CRCHC works with local schools and parents to explore
setting up a before-and-after-school program because a parent’s
working day includes extra time to drive the long distances to
work beyond the school time. No other resources are available
for these parents.

To reduce people’s isolation, Low Income Networking
and Communications LINC, projects were formed. Local
women, many living on low incomes, meet to explore ways to
help themselves find employment, perhaps in small business,
and to bust the myths around poverty because the stigma makes
their lives that much more difficult. We will address some of
the key issues that reduce opportunity in this community. Our
material comes from our discussions with members of LINCs
and; other members of the community. The first issue [ will
address is employment.

Many people are highly skilled, creative and looking for
employment opportunities. The biggest problem is the lack of
stable, year-round jobs that pay reasonable incomes. Seasonal
jobs are available in tourism and services to cottagers. People do
not work long enough to qualify for Employment Insurance.
Changes need to be made to the EI policy to shorten the number
of qualifying weeks. In rural areas, there is no work in the winter
and people must apply for assistance.

Employment is hard to find so people accept work at less
than minimum wage. Small businesses might collapse if they
had to pay as much as minimum wage. This dilemma in rural
communities worsens the health of the community. We do
not know what to do about this issue. We recommend more
federal funding be made available to local groups to establish
community economic development businesses such as small
restaurants, which has been talked about by LINCs; taxi
service; ecotourism; hot house gardens, such as the one near
Glenburnie; and shops, where people can sell local crafts.

I ask Ms. Bergman to start the second half of our presentation
and speak to the second issue, transportation.

Jen Bergman, Health Promoter, Country Roads Community
Health Centre: 1 will begin by pointing out something that
is important. In my experience working in the city, I see that
people in poverty are the largest marginalized group in our
rural area. Although there are other marginalized groups, those
in poverty compose the largest group.

Le CSCCR travaille avec les écoles locales et les parents
pour explorer la possibilité de créer un programme de garde
parascolaire parce que la journée de travail d’un parent comprend
du temps additionnel pour franchir les longues distances entre
la maison et le lieu de travail en dehors des heures d’ouverture
des écoles. Il n’y a pas d’autres ressources a la disposition de ces
parents.

Pour réduire I’isolement des gens, des projets de
communication et de réseautage pour personnes a faible revenu,
CRPFR, ont été créés. Des femmes de 1’endroit, dont un grand
nombre vivent avec un faible revenu, se rencontrent pour trouver
des fagons de s’aider a trouver un emploi, peut-étre dans une
petite entreprise, et pour faire éclater les mythes autour de la
pauvreté parce que les stigmates rendent leur vie d’autant plus
difficile. Nous allons aborder certains des problémes clés qui
réduisent les occasions d’emploi dans cette collectivité. Notre
matériel provient des discussions que nous avons eues avec
les membres des projets CRPFR et d’autres membres de la
collectivité. Le premier probléme que je vais aborder, c’est celui
de I'’emploi.

De nombreuses personnes sont hautement spécialisées,
créatives et a la recherche d’un emploi. Le plus gros probléme,
c’est I'absence d’emplois stables a ’année longue qui assurent
une rémunération raisonnable. Des emplois saisonniers sont
accessibles dans le domaine du tourisme et des services aux
propriétaires de chalets. Les gens ne travaillent pas suffisamment
longtemps pour étre admissibles a 1’assurance-emploi. Il faut
apporter des changements a la politique d’assurance-emploi pour
réduire le nombre de semaines de travail nécessaire pour avoir
droit a des prestations. Dans les régions rurales, il n’y a pas de
travail I’hiver et les gens doivent faire une demande d’aide.

Les emplois étant difficiles & trouver, les gens acceptent de
travailler a un salaire inférieur au salaire minimum. Les petites
entreprises risqueraient de s’effondrer si elles devaient payer un
salaire méme égal au salaire minimum. Ce dilemme qui touche les
collectivités rurales aggrave la situation de la collectivité en
matiére de santé. Nous ne savons pas que faire a propos de cette
question. Nous recommandons que davantage de fonds fédéraux
soient mis a la disposition des groupes locaux pour la création
d’entreprises communautaires de développement économique
comme des petits restaurants, dont il a été question dans les
projets CRPFR; un service de taxi; I’écotourisme; des jardins de
serre comme celui que 'on retrouve prés de Glenburnie et des
boutiques ou les gens peuvent vendre des objets d’artisanat local.

Je vais demander a Mme Bergman de commencer la deuxiéme
partiec de notre exposé et de parler du deuxiéme probléme, le
transport.

Jen Bergman, promotrice de la santé, Centre de santé
communautaire de Country Roads: Je vais commencer par
signaler un fait important. Du fait de mon expérience de travail
dans la ville, je peux constater que les gens qui vivent dans la
pauvreté constituent le plus important groupe marginalisé dans
notre région rurale. Bien qu’il y ait d’autres groupes marginalisés,
les gens qui vivent dans la pauvreté constituent le plus grand de
ces groupes.
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The second key issue is transportation. In our rural area,
people must drive everywhere to access services for anything.
We have no taxis or buses. We recommend that the federal
government assist local organizations and health provider services
to acquire vans and buses to increase mobility in the community.
For example, vans would be used for medical appointments,
grocery shopping, children’s programs, adult education and
health courses.

The third key issue is child care. The lack of affordable/
subsidized child care deters women from working outside the
home or going back to school to continue their education. When
people are working, they often need a program for their children
before and after school. We recommend that more subsidized
child care be made available. The fourth issue is that student loan
repayment needs to be restructured. People often live in poverty
or on low income for extended periods of time based on the
amount of money they are required to pay each month on their
student loan debt, and I can speak to that from personal
experience. I am a single parent and still paying off a huge
debt, which I do not mind paying because I have a great
education. However, I have no money and that will continue
for many years. There is a need to look at not only the
expenditures but also the income in determining the repayment
schedule.

When there are no well-paying jobs in the rural area,
people who graduate probably will not return to the community
because there are no suitable jobs. Therefore, we lose our
highly skilled and educated people to the cities. We recommend
more bursaries and lower interest rates on student loans.

The fifth key issue is human services. A lack of importance is
placed on providing human services such as counselling in the
schools, which can help to prevent social problems such as
violence in the home, addictions and unaddressed mental health
issues, which can lead people into poverty if they are not already
there. They have difficulty rising out of poverty if they are
struggling with these issues. We recommend that more social
services be located in rural communities and not in the closest,
biggest town one hour away.

The sixth issue is dental services. Visiting a dentist can
become expensive, not only for basic dental needs but also
beyond that. For example, if they do not have teeth, how can
they get a job? It does not matter how educated they are,
people will not hire them. Although social services and other
programs will pay to have teeth extracted, there is no money
for new teeth.

Le deuxiéme probléme clé, c’est le transport. Dans notre
région rurale, pour avoir acceés a n’'importe quel service, les gens
doivent utiliser la voiture. Nous n’avons ni taxi ni autobus. Nous
recommandons que le gouvernement fédéral aide les organismes
locaux et les services de fournisseurs de soins de santé a faire
l’acquisition de mini-fourgonnettes et d’autobus pour accroitre la
mobilité dans la collectivité. Par exemple, les mini-fourgonnettes
pourraient servir au transport pour les rendez-vous médicaux,
I’épicerie, les programmes pour enfants, I’éducation des adultes et
les cours de santé.

Le troisieme grand probléme, c’est la garde des enfants.
L’absence d’un systéme de garde des enfants abordable ou
subventionné décourage les femmes de travailler a I’extérieur du
foyer ou de retourner aux études. Lorsque les gens travaillent, ils
ont souvent besoin d'un programme de garde des enfants en
dehors des heures d’ouverture des écoles. Nous recommandons
que 'on offre davantage de services de garde subventionnés. Le
quatriéme probléme, c’est que le programme de remboursement
des préts étudiants doit étre modifié. Les gens vivent souvent dans
la pauvreté ou avec un faible revenu pendant des périodes de
temps prolongées a cause de I'argent qu’ils doivent consacrer
chaque mois au remboursement de leur prét étudiant et je peux en
parler en toute connaissance de cause. Je suis chef de famille
monoparentale et je suis encore en train de rembourser une
dette énorme, que j'accepte de rembourser parce que j’ai eu une
excellente éducation. Toutefois, je n’ai pas d’argent et ce sera le
cas pendant de nombreuses années. Lorsque 1'on établit le
calendrier de remboursement d’un prét, il faut prendre en
considération non seulement les dépenses, mais également le
revenu.

Lorsqu’il n’y a pas d’emplois bien rémunérés dans une
région rurale, les gens qui obtiennent un diplome ne reviendront
probablement pas dans la collectivité faute d’emplois appropriés.
Par conséquent, nous perdons nos gens hautement spécialisés et
éduqués au profit des villes. Nous recommandons qu’il y ait plus
de bourses et que les taux d’intérét soient plus faibles dans le cas
des préts étudiants.

Le cinquiéme grand probléme, les services sociaux. On
n’accorde pas suffisamment d’importance a la prestation de
services sociaux comme les consultations dans les écoles, qui
peuvent aider a prévenir des problémes sociaux comme la violence
au foyer, les toxicomanies et les questions de santé mentale non
traitées, qui peuvent conduire a la pauvreté, si les gens n’y sont
pas déja. Les gens ont de la difficulté a se sortir de la pauvreté s’ils
sont aux prises avec ces problémes. Nous recommandons que
davantage de services sociaux soient offerts dans les collectivités
rurales et non pas dans la grande ville la plus proche située a une
heure de route.

Le sixiéme probléeme, les services dentaires. Consulter un
dentiste peut devenir trés colteux, non seulement pour les
besoins dentaires de base, mais pour des services plus poussés.
Par exemple, si les gens n’ont pas de dents, comment peuvent-ils
obtenir un emploi? Peu importe leur degré d’éducation, on ne
les embauchera pas. Bien que les services sociaux et d’autres
programmes payent pour lextraction des dents, il n’y a pas
d’argent pour les dents de remplacement.
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We recommend that the federal government work with the
provinces to make dental services available, especially in rural
areas. Cliff Gazee, reporting to the City of Ottawa Council in
2005, said: “Teeth are the only bone in our bodies which are
not covered by provincial medical insurance.”

The seventh and last key issue is food security. As we
mentioned at the outset, food is a big problem in our
community. The CRCHC is working with the community
volunteer and church groups to operate food cupboard
initiatives in local villages but people can visit them only once
per month. Even some of the programs that we offer are
accessible on a monthly basis.

We recommend the federal government encourage partnerships
with local growers, farmers and food cupboards to enhance the
quality of food and the local market. We can encourage people to
eat locally grown foods.

Irene Selkirk, Administrator, Loaves and Fishes: Good morning
and thank you for the opportunity to speak this morning.
Loaves and Fishes is a non-profit restaurant in Brockville,
Ontario. I studied food and nutrition management at Kemptville
College of Agriculture and Technology and I have extensive
food experience.

After reading the interim report of the Standing Senate
Committee on Agriculture and Forestry, there is no doubt that
poverty exists in rural Canada. What will we do about it and
how can we help? Loaves and Fishes started as a dream of
two people who saw a need simply to feed the needy. We opened
our doors in April 1999 and started serving dinner three days a
week, feeding 20 to 30 people each day. Three years ago, we
opened five days a week, Monday to Friday, 4 p.m. to 6:30 p.m.
and we serve 80 to 90 people on average per day, which equates
to more than 70,000 meals last year.

We have two paid staff, an administrator, a cook, a volunteer
base of approximately 300 people and a board of directors. The
concept of the restaurant is to provide nutritious meals to low
income individuals and families at a cost of $1 per person, and
children under age 10 eat free. No one is turned away.

At Loaves and Fishes, we realize that without the benefit of a
well-balanced diet, chronic disease and poor health will occur. We
strive to provide our patrons with nutritious balanced meals,
making sure that all food groups are covered. Meals consist of
soup, salad, a main course, dessert, juice, milk and coffee or tea.

Our clients come from many social groups, such as families,
single parents, unemployed, those with addictions, widows,
widowers, senior citizens, students, the mentally challenged and

Nous recommandons que le gouvernement fédéral travaille
avec les provinces pour offrir des services dentaires, surtout dans
les régions rurales. Dans un rapport au conseil de ville d’Ottawa
présenté en 2005, Cliff Gazee a dit : « Les dents sont le seul os
de notre corps qui n’est pas couvert par I’assurance-maladie
provinciale. »

Le septieme et dernier grand probléme, c’est la
sécurité alimentaire. Comme nous I’avons dit au tout début,
I’alimentation est un probléme important dans notre collectivité.
Le CSCCR travaille avec des bénévoles de la communauté et
des groupes religieux pour faire fonctionner des initiatives de
comptoirs alimentaires dans les villages locaux, mais les gens ne
peuvent s’y rendre qu’une seule fois par mois. Méme certains
programmes que nous offrons ne sont accessibles que sur une
base mensuelle.

Nous recommandons que le gouvernement fédéral encourage
les partenariats avec les producteurs locaux, les agriculteurs et les
comptoirs alimentaires pour accroitre la qualité des aliments et du
marché local. Nous pouvons encourager des gens a consommer
des aliments produits localement.

Iréne Selkirk, administratrice, Loaves and Fishes : Bonjour et
merci de cette occasion de prendre la parole ce matin. Loaves and
Fishes est un restaurant sans but lucratif de Brockville, en
Ontario. J’ai étudié la gestion de ’alimentation et de la nutrition
au Collége de technologie agricole de Kemptville et j’ai une
expérience étendue dans le domaine de I’alimentation.

Aprés avoir lu le rapport intérimaire du Comité sénatorial
permanent de ’agriculture et des foréts, il ne fait aucun doute
que la pauvreté existe dans les régions rurales du Canada.
Qu’allons-nous faire a ce sujet et comment pouvons-nous aider?
Loaves and Fishes a débuté comme le réve de deux personnes qui
voyaient la nécessité de simplement nourrir les gens dans le
besoin. Nous avons ouvert nos portes en avril 1999 et avons
commencé a servir un souper trois jours par semaine, pour
nourrir 20 a 30 personnes par jour. Il y a trois ans, nous avons
commencé a ouvrir nos portes cing jours par semaine, du lundi
au vendredi, de 16 heures a 18 h 30, et nous offrons le repas a
quelque 80 a 90 personnes en moyenne par jour, ce qui équivaut
a plus de 70 000 repas par année.

Nous avons deux employés rémunérés, un administrateur, un
cuisinier, une base de bénévoles d’environ 300 personnes et un
conseil d’administration. Le but du restaurant est d’offrir des
repas nutritifs aux personnes et aux familles a faible revenu au
colt de 1 § par personne, et gratuitement pour les enfants de
moins de 10 ans. Personne n’est refusé.

Chez Loaves and Fishes, nous sommes conscients que sans les
bienfaits d’un régime alimentaire bien équilibré, la maladie
chronique et la mauvaise santé guettent les gens. Nous nous
efforgons de fournir a nos clients des repas nutritifs équilibrés, en
nous assurant que tous les groupes alimentaires sont représentés.
Les repas comprennent une soupe, une salade, un mets principal,
un dessert, un jus, du lait et du thé ou du café.

Nos clients appartiennent a de nombreux groupes sociaux, par
exemple, des familles, des chefs de famille monoparentale, des
sans-emploi, des personnes ayant une toxicomanie, des veuves,
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the working poor. Families with one or both parents working
for minimum wage or with more than one part-time job, those
lacking the knowledge to follow basic cooking instructions and
seniors living alone all find it hard to cook a nutritious meal.
Some might not have the facility to cook because, for example,
they live in a boarding house. The meal at Loaves and Fishes
might be the only one that some people have in a day.

Over the past six years, we have noticed that more families
with children are eating at Loaves and Fishes. It is not unusual
for children to come on their own. At first, we found this
situation strange but quickly realized that these children might
have been home alone until mom or dad arrive home from
work. I was a single parent with four children and I wonder
today if I might have used such a facility when they were
younger. Some regular clients join us for dinner every evening
and stay to socialize with guests. Loaves and Fishes is not
only about feeding people in need but also about developing
a social network for people who have little contact with the
outside world.

Many schools in Brockville have joined with Loaves and
Fishes to raise money and have food drives. They have toured
the restaurant and enjoyed a meal. Some children have come
back with their parents for dinner in the evening. Loaves and
Fishes is not only a place to eat but also a caring and social
environment. Loaves and Fishes is founded on the belief that
in the sharing of bread, a community is built where barriers
between people vanish, where dignity and respect flourish,
where service and acceptance unite and where warmth and
understanding prevail. We do not receive any government
funding, and depend on the community to help us with our
mission. The community does not failed us. Thank you for the
privilege of speaking to the committee.

Dianne Oickle, Registered Dietician and Public Health
Nutritionist, Leeds, Grenville and Lanark District Health Unit:
I want to take this opportunity to thank the Standing Senate
Committee on Agriculture and Forestry for holding these
hearings. It is fantastic that you have come to a small town
such as Athens, Ontario, to hear firsthand what happens in a
local area.

I am privileged to work with both agencies sitting with me at
the table. With CRCHC, I too commend the committee on its
interim report released in December 2006. It is fantastic and
accurately reflects the health concerns of rural poverty. I will find
it useful in much of my work.

des veufs, des personnes agées, des étudiants, des personnes aux
prises avec la maladie mentale et des travailleurs a faible revenu.
Les familles comptant un ou deux parents qui travaillent au
salaire minimum ou ayant plus d’un emploi a temps partiel, les
personnes qui n’ont pas les connaissances nécessaires pour suivre
les instructions culinaires de base et les personnes agées qui vivent
seules et trouvent difficile de préparer un repas nutritif. Certaines
personnes n’ont peut-étre pas ce qu’il faut pour préparer un repas
parce que, par exemple, elles vivent dans une maison de pension.
Le repas pris chez Loaves and Fishes peut étre le seul repas que
certaines personnes ont eu au cours de la journée.

Au cours des six derniéres années, nous avons constaté que de
plus en plus de familles ayant des enfants viennent manger chez
Loaves and Fishes. Il n’est pas rare que des enfants viennent seuls.
Au début, nous trouvions cette situation étrange, mais nous
n’avons pas tardé a comprendre que ces enfants étaient peut-étre
seuls a la maison jusqu’au retour de leur mére ou de leur pére
apres le travail. J°étais chef de famille monoparentale et j’avais
quatre enfants; je me demande aujourd’hui si j’aurais pu utiliser
un tel endroit lorsque mes enfants étaient plus jeunes. Certains
clients réguliers se joignent & nous pour souper tous les soirs et
restent pour socialiser avec les invités. Loaves and Fishes ne sert
pas uniquement a nourrir les gens dans le besoin, mais sert
également a développer un réseau social pour les gens qui ont peu
de contacts avec le monde extérieur.

De nombreuses écoles de Brockville ont joint leurs efforts a
ceux de Loaves and Fishes pour recueillir des fonds et participer a
des campagnes de collecte d’aliments. Les éleves ont visité le
restaurant et pris un repas. Certains enfants sont revenus avec
leurs parents pour le souper dans la soirée. Loaves and Fishes
n’est pas seulement un endroit pour manger, mais c’est également
un milieu social et compatissant. Loaves and Fishes est fondé sur
la conviction qu’en partageant le pain, on batit une communauté
ou les barriéres entre les gens s’estompent, ou la dignité et le
respect fleurissent, ou le service et I’acceptation créent I'unité et ou
la chaleur et la compréhension régnent en maitres. Nous ne
recevons pas un sou du gouvernement et dépendons de la
collectivité pour nous aider dans notre mission. La communauté
ne nous laisse pas tomber. Merci du privilége de pouvoir parler au
comité.

Dianne Oickle, diététiste et hygiéniste alimentaire publique,
Circonscription sanitaire du district de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark :
Je veux saisir cette occasion pour remercier le Comité sénatorial
permanent de I’agriculture et des foréts de tenir ces audiences. Il
est merveilleux que vous soyez venus dans une petite ville comme
Athens, en Ontario, pour savoir directement ce qui se passe dans
une région locale.

Jai le privilege de travailler avec les deux organismes qui
siegent avec moi a cette table. Tout comme le CSCCR, je tiens,
moi aussi, a féliciter le comité de son rapport intérimaire paru
en décembre 2006. Il est merveilleux et refléte fidélement les
préoccupations en matiére de santé soulevées par la pauvreté
rurale. Il me sera trés utile dans mon travail.
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I am proud to be here representing the Leeds, Grenville and
Lanark District Health Unit. We are the public health agency
responsible for public health programming for the three counties
of Leeds, Grenville and Lanark. The geographical area is huge.
To drive from our northern-most point to our eastern-most point
takes upwards of three hours. The population is more than
156,000. There are massive concerns in terms of the distribution
of services in such a large rural area.

I am a registered dietician and much of my work is in the area
of food security and social determinants of health. I want to build
on some of the points in the interim report and discuss how they
apply locally, to provide a picture of our local health. We all
know that living in poverty directly increases an individual’s risk
of chronic disease and poor health.

When it comes to socio-economic status, a community’s
economic well-being, the share of people living below the
poverty line, in particular, greatly influences the health
and related concerns of all residents. Within this tri-county
area of Leeds, Grenville and Lanark, we have five distinct
communities with a poverty level higher than the provincial
average of 14.4 per cent. These communities are small, with a
population of less than 10,000, fitting within the definition of
“rural community.”

In addition, a number of pockets of population suffer crippling
poverty. Some smaller communities have upwards of 25 per cent
of their population living below the low income level — fully one
quarter of the people. In some pockets, it is spread out, so it is
often hard to have a true picture. Food insecurity is defined as
when an individual or a family has limited access to sufficient
foods to maintain their health. Within Leeds, Grenville and
Lanark counties, we have families at risk of food insecurity and
lack of access to health services. There are high levels of low
education and unemployment and a high proportion of lone-
parent families — almost 13 per cent of the population. Of these
families, 44 per cent live in a low income situation, as opposed to
a small percentage of the two-parent families. That fact speaks to
the adequacy of income.

Specific to the issue of food insecurity, almost 14 per cent
of the entire population do not eat the quality or variety of
foods that they would like to eat because of the lack of money.
In this area, many people simply do not have enough food
to eat on a daily basis. As the level of food insecurity worsens,
dietary intakes worsen. For example, fruit and vegetable
consumption is lowest among men and women who live on a
low income. Compromises are made in dietary intakes in terms
of nutrient quality, which can greatly increase an individual’s

Je suis fiére d’étre ici pour représenter la Circonscription
sanitaire du district de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark. Nous sommes
I'organisme de santé publique responsable des programmes de
santé publique des trois comtés de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark.
Sur le plan géographique, la région est trés étendue. Pour se
rendre du point le plus au nord jusqu’au point le plus a ’est, il
faut faire plus de trois heures de route. La population est de plus
de 156 000 habitants. Il y a des préoccupations trés importantes
concernant la distribution des services dans une région rurale
aussi étendue.

Je suis diététiste et une grande partie de mon travail porte sur le
domaine de la sécurité alimentaire et des déterminants sociaux de
la santé. Je veux traiter de certains points qui ont été soulevés
dans le rapport intérimaire et indiquer comment ils s’appliquent
localement, pour donner un portrait de notre santé locale. Nous
savons tous que le fait de vivre dans la pauvreté augmente
directement la probabilité d’avoir une maladie chronique et une
mauvaise santé.

Lorsqu’il s’agit de la situation socioéconomique, le bien-étre
économique d’une collectivité, la proportion des gens qui vivent
sous le seuil de la pauvreté, en particulier, influe grandement sur
la santé et les préoccupations connexes de tous les résidents. Dans
notre région des trois comtés de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark, nous
avons cinq collectivités distinctes ayant un niveau de pauvreté
plus élevé que la moyenne provinciale de 14,4 p. 100. Ces
collectivités sont de petite taille, ayant une population inférieure
a 10 000 habitants, ce qui correspond a la définition de
« collectivité rurale ».

De plus, un certain nombre de groupes de populations sont
affligés d’une pauvreté extréme. Certaines petites collectivités
comptent plus de 25 p. 100 de leur population vivant sous le seuil
du revenu faible — c’est le quart de la population. Dans certains
groupes, la pauvreté est étalée, alors il est souvent difficile d’avoir
une image exacte de la situation. L’insécurité alimentaire est
définie comme le fait qu'une personne ou une famille a un acces
limité a une alimentation suffisante pour se garder en santé. Dans
les comtés de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark, nous avons des familles
a risque d’insécurité alimentaire et qui risquent de ne pas avoir
acces a des services de santé. On constate des taux élevés de faible
scolarité et de chomage et une proportion élevée de familles
monoparentales — prés de 13 p. 100 de la population. De ces
familles, 44 p. 100 vivent dans une situation de faible revenu,
comparativement a un faible pourcentage pour les familles
biparentales. Cela démontre I'importance d’avoir un revenu
approprié.

Concernant précisément la question de I'insécurité alimentaire,
prés de 14 p. 100 de la population totale ne consomme pas la
qualité ou la variété d’aliments qu’elle aimerait consommer a
cause du manque d’argent. Dans ce domaine, de nombreuses
personnes n’ont tout simplement pas suffisamment a manger
quotidiennement. Au fur et a mesure que le degré d’insécurité
alimentaire augmente, les apports alimentaires souffrent de plus
en plus. Par exemple, la consommation des fruits et légumes est
la plus faible chez les hommes et les femmes qui vivent avec
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risk of chronic disease as well as the day-to-day health to
avoid colds and viruses, and to maintain sufficient energy to
get through a day. Those things are affected each day by
nutritional intake.

Cost of living contributes to the level of food insecurity
that a family experiences. Housing is considered unaffordable
when the cost of housing exceeds 30 per cent of the family’s
budget. Within the tri-county area, 80 per cent of our low income
families spend more than 30 per cent on housing due to the lack
of affordable housing in rural areas. This situation translates
into less money being available to pay for basic health needs
and to pay for food.

The cost of food is on the rise. Nutritious food basket data
that we collect on a yearly basis reflects a 19-per-cent increase
in the local cost of food over the past nine years. While much of
this increase can be attributed to normal economic fluctuations
such as inflation, it is interesting to note that other costs of
living have also increased such as gasoline, home heating and
electricity. However, people’s incomes have not increased
proportionately. This situation translates into less money for
food and health needs. A rural family’s ability to obtain enough
food to eat can be affected by low income, poor health, disability,
lack of transportation, access to an affordable grocery store
and lack of stable employment and security, to which the
CRCHC alluded.

Leeds, Grenville and Lanark have higher rates of several
chronic diseases, such as cancer, heart disease and obesity.
Contributing to this problem is low consumption of fruits and
vegetables among the local population. Fewer than 38 per cent of
our adults consume a minimum of five servings of vegetables
and fruits each day. Research shows us that low consumption
of fruits and vegetables increases the risk of cancer. Along with
this risk, those that consume fewer fruits and vegetables are
more likely to have health problems, a higher body mass index
and to lead a less healthy lifestyle.

Children compose the group that is most at risk due to the
health effects of rural poverty. In Leeds, Grenville and Lanark
counties, almost 12 per cent of our children live in a low income
situation, which equates to 4200 children. We know that when
children have enough food to eat, it reduces their risk of
developing mental health problems and social and emotional
problems. However, children are the fastest growing users of
local food banks in Canada, which is a well-known issue for
our local emergency food providers.

un faible revenu. Des compromis sont faits dans les apports
alimentaires en termes de qualité nutritive, ce qui peut accroitre
grandement la probabilit¢ de maladie chronique chez une
personne et compromettre la santé quotidienne pour lutter
contre les rhumes et les virus et maintenir une énergie suffisante
pour passer a travers une journée. Toutes ces choses sont affectées
quotidiennement par I’apport alimentaire.

Le cotit de la vie contribue au degré d’insécurité alimentaire
d’une famille. Le logement est considéré comme non abordable
lorsque le cott du logement est supérieur a 30 p. 100 du budget
familial. Dans la région des trois comtés, 80 p. 100 des familles a
faible revenu consacrent plus de 30 p. 100 de leur budget au
logement en raison de I’absence de logements abordables dans les
régions rurales. Il s’ensuit qu’il reste moins d’argent pour
s’occuper des besoins de santé¢ fondamentaux et pour payer les
aliments.

Le coiit de la vie est a hausse. Les données sur le panier a
provisions nutritif que nous recueillons annuellement reflétent
une augmentation de 19 p. 100 des cofits des aliments au niveau
local au cours des neuf derniéres années. Bien qu’une bonne partie
de cette augmentation puisse étre attribuée aux fluctuations
économiques normales comme [inflation, il est intéressant
de noter que d’autres facteurs qui participent au cott de la vie
ont également augmenté, comme I’essence, le chauffage et
I’électricité. Cependant, le revenu des gens n’a pas augmenté
proportionnellement. Cette situation se traduit par le fait qu’il y a
moins d’argent pour les aliments et les besoins de santé.
La capacité d’une famille vivant en milieu rural d’obtenir
suffisamment d’aliments pour manger peut étre affectée par un
faible revenu, une mauvaise santé, une invalidité, ’absence de
transport, 'accés a une épicerie abordable et I'absence d’un
emploi stable et ’absence de sécurité, toutes des questions traitées
par le CSCCR.

Les comtés de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark présentent des taux
plus élevés de maladies chroniques graves, comme le cancer, les
maladies cardiaques et I'obésité. La faible consommation de fruits
et légumes par la population locale contribue a ce probléme.
Moins de 38 p. 100 de nos adultes consomment un minimum de
cinq portions de fruits et légumes par jour. La recherche montre
qu'une faible consommation de fruits et légumes augmente
le risque de cancer. En plus de ce risque, les personnes qui
consomment moins de fruits et légumes ont plus de chances
d’avoir des problémes de santé, un indice de masse corporelle plus
élevé et un mode de vie qui est moins sain.

Les enfants constituent le groupe le plus a risque en raison des
effets de la pauvreté rurale sur la santé. Dans les comtés de Leeds,
Grenville et Lanark, prés de 12 p. 100 de nos enfants vivent dans
une situation de faible revenu, ce qui correspond a 4 200 enfants.
Nous savons que lorsque les enfants ont suffisamment a manger,
cela réduit la probabilité qu’ils aient des problémes de santé
mentale, des problémes sociaux et des problémes émotifs.
Toutefois, les enfants constituent le groupe d’utilisateurs des
banques d’aliments locales qui augmente le plus rapidement au
Canada, ce qui est un fait bien connu de nos fournisseurs locaux
d’aliments d’urgence.
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It is well known that healthy eating and activity go
hand-in-hand when it comes to healthy childhood weights. In
rural areas such as ours, there are many barriers to families
accessing recreation for the adults or the children, such as lack
of transportation, high fees for participation, equipment costs
and lack of awareness.

Children living in low income situations are more likely to
experience illnesses such as colds and ear infections, and they are
less likely to go to the emergency room for treatment because of
lack of transportation.

A family’s income level determines what they can afford
and, consequently, the options they have about how to raise
their children. Families living in rural areas spend a higher
proportion of their income on goods and services such as
transportation, leaving little money available at the end of the
month for food.

In conclusion, I want to refer senators to two items that
I have left with them: a report that is the executive summary of a
food security assessment prepared by our health unit in 2006.
As well, T have left everyone with a bookmark because literacy
is so important, and mostly because it also has a reference to
the website address of our health unit. On the site, you can find
copies of our community health status report and more specific
statistics on high risk groups in this area, should you choose to
follow up on that.

Thank you for the privilege of being here today.

The Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Oickle. I am glad to hear you
mention literacy because it seems to weave its way through all
these issues, and it has been an issue for me.

Ms. Oickle: It is one of the determinants of health.

The Chairman: Literacy has been at the centre of my life as a
senator.

Senator Segal: I express my thanks to our witnesses for
taking time from their important work to be here today to
give us their sense of reality. I am sure I express the view of all
committee members, without regard to political affiliation,
when I say thanks for the work that you do each day to make
life better for people who face difficult times. The purpose of
the reference given to the committee was to do a detailed study
of rural poverty, understand what the determinants are and
develop solid recommendations as to what government can do
relatively quickly to make a difference in ways that count.

I will focus on two parts of the testimony we have heard this
morning. The first one was the nutritional side, which was
referenced by a few of you. We sit and listen to the notion that
fellow Ontarians and fellow Canadians do not have enough food
to eat. We listen to it as if we are listening to a weather report.
However, the reality is that we are sitting in the middle of some of

Il est bien connu qu’une saine alimentation et qu’une
saine activité vont de pair lorsqu’on parle de poids sain pendant
I’enfance. Dans les régions rurales comme la noétre, il y a de
nombreux obstacles qui empéchent les familles d’avoir acces a
des activités récréatives, que ce soit pour les adultes ou pour les
enfants, comme I’absence de transport, les frais de participation
¢levés, le cotlit de ’équipement et le manque de sensibilisation.

Les enfants qui vivent en situation de faible revenu ont plus de
chances d’avoir des maladies comme le rhume et les otites, et il est
moins probable qu’ils se rendent a l'urgence pour recevoir un
traitement a cause de I’absence de transport.

Le niveau de revenu des familles détermine ce qu’elles peuvent
s’offrir et, en conséquence, les choix qu’elles peuvent faire
concernant la fagon d’élever leurs enfants. Les familles qui
vivent dans les régions rurales dépensent une proportion plus
élevée de leur revenu sur des biens et services comme le transport,
ce qui leur laisse moins d’argent a la fin du mois pour les aliments.

En terminant, j’aimerais attirer I’attention des sénateurs sur
deux éléments que je leur ai distribués : un rapport qui est un
résumé administratif d’une évaluation de la sécurité alimentaire
préparée par notre circonscription sanitaire en 2006. De plus, j’ai
laissé a tout le monde un signet parce que I’alphabétisation est
tellement importante et surtout, parce qu’il porte ’adresse du site
web de notre circonscription sanitaire. Sur ce site, vous pourrez
trouver nos rapports de situation en santé communautaire et des
données statistiques plus précises sur les groupes a haut risque
dans cette région, si jamais vous décidiez d’en savoir davantage
sur cette question.

Merci du privilége que j’ai eu de pouvoir étre ici aujourd’hui.

La présidente : Merci, madame Oickle. Je suis heureuse que
vous parliez d’alphabétisation parce que cette question semble
étre présente dans tous les problémes et c’est une question qui me
préoccupe beaucoup.

Mme Oickle : C’est un des déterminants de la santé.

La présidente : L’alphabétisation a été au centre de ma vie a
titre de sénateur.

Le sénateur Segal : Je tiens a remercier nos témoins d’avoir
accepté de délaisser leur travail si important pour venir ici
aujourd’hui nous brosser un tableau de leur réalité. Je suis certain
que j’exprime le point de vue de tous les membres du comité, sans
égard a laffiliation politique, lorsque je vous remercie du travail
que vous faites tous les jours pour améliorer la vie des gens qui
passent des moments difficiles. Le but de I'ordre de renvoi qui a
été confié au comité était de faire une étude détaillée de la
pauvreté rurale, de comprendre quels sont les déterminants et
d’¢laborer des recommandations solides sur ce que peut faire le
gouvernement pour faire une différence relativement rapidement
d’une maniére qui compte.

Je vais me concentrer sur deux parties des témoignages
que nous avons entendus ce matin. Le premier était le coté
nutritionnel, auquel quelques-unes d’entre vous avez fait allusion.
Nous sommes ici & entendre que des concitoyens ontariens et
des concitoyens canadiens n’ont pas suffisamment a manger. Nos
écoutons cela comme s’il s’agissait d un bulletin météo. Pourtant,
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the richest and best farm and grazing land and dairy country in
the world. Clearly, we have a distribution problem and a fairness
problem.

Ms. Oickle, what one significant change could the government
make that would have the most measurable and rapid impact
upon the client base that you serve? I am putting you in the
position of a politician who must make choices at times.

Ms. Oickle: We all have many ideas but I am not sure how
feasible mine is to do in a hurry, and I am not sure how you would
get there.

When I work with families who live in poverty and struggle to
have enough food to eat, the thing I hear from them most often
is how the less healthy foods are the cheapest foods, and the
healthiest foods are the more expensive foods. Whether it is
locally grown produce, which we most certainly want to support,
or whether it is produce or foods brought in from other places,
those foods that have lots of calories but not a whole lot of
nutrient value cost less money. Out of necessity, these families are
eating lots of those foods, and fewer of the fruits and vegetables
that I talked about.

My dream, or my one thing, would be to somehow make
the cost of those healthier choices more feasible for families
regardless of income. I am not sure of the best way to do that:
if it is to subsidize those foods, to give families more money,
or if it is a matter of policies in terms of distribution whereby
more local foods are made available to the local communities
at a lower cost. I am not sure of the best way, but the reality is
that those healthier foods need to be less costly, or at least more
feasible for people to buy, than those foods that do not have
high nutrient value.

Ms. MacLatchie: Speaking to some of the women in the
community, employment is extremely hard to find in this area
and that is one of the things that many of them are struggling
with. They are working at small jobs and being paid less than
minimum wage, which does not cover expenses. It hardly pays
for the gas to go to the job but they are desperate enough to
go to work.

I like partnerships, perhaps between farmers and organizations
such as health centres. Some seed funding could be made
available for community economic development. If the expertise
is not there with the group of women who are looking for
work, maybe the expertise is there within a community health
centre. We have social workers, administrators and people who
do accounting. There are small business people around who
understand how to do a business plan. Maybe through a
community effort, in that sense, something like that could
work. I understand that community economic development
sometimes falls because of the lack of expertise within the

people applying.

I was trying to help out with saying that there might be other
organizations that could work in the partnership with them.

la vérité, c’est que nous sommes au centre de certaines des
meilleures et des plus riches fermes, grands paturages et
installations laitiéres du monde. Il est clair que nous avons
un probléme de distribution et un probléme d’équité.

Madame Oickle, quel changement important unique le
gouvernement pourrait-il apporter qui aurait les répercussions
les plus visibles et les plus rapides sur les clients que vous
desservez? Je vous mets dans la situation d’un politicien qui doit
faire des choix a I’occasion.

Mme Oickle : Nous avons tous de nombreuses idées, mais je ne
suis pas certaine dans quelle mesure la mienne peut étre faisable
rapidement, et je ne suis pas certaine comment vous y arriveriez.

Ce que j’entends le plus souvent quand je travaille avec les
familles qui vivent dans la pauvreté et se battent pour avoir de
quoi manger, c’est que les aliments les moins sains sont aussi
les moins chers et que les aliments les plus sains sont les plus
chers. Qu’il s’agisse des produits locaux, que nous voulons
indéniablement privilégier, ou de produits et d’aliments qui nous
viennent d’ailleurs, les aliments riches en calories, mais pauvres
en valeur nutritive sont ceux qui coltent le moins cher. Par
nécessité, ces familles consomment beaucoup de ces produits et
moins de fruits et de 1égumes, comme je ’ai mentionné.

Mon grand réve serait de rendre ces choix plus sains
abordables pour les familles quel que soit leur revenu. Je ne
sais pas trop quelle est la meilleure fagon d’y arriver : faut-il
subventionner ces aliments, donner plus d’argent aux familles ou
revoir nos politiques sur la distribution pour que les produits
locaux cotitent moins cher aux collectivités locales? Je ne sais pas
quelle est la meilleure solution, mais il faut rendre les aliments
sains moins coliteux ou a tout le moins plus abordables pour que
les gens puissent les acheter, plutot que des aliments a faible
valeur nutritive.

Mme MacLatchie : D’aprés ce que me disent les femmes de la
collectivité, il est extrémement difficile de trouver un emploi dans
la région, et c’est I'une des grandes batailles de bon nombre
d’entre elles. Elles occupent de petits emplois, pour lesquels elles
recoivent moins que le salaire minimum, ce qui ne couvre pas
leurs dépenses. C’est a peine suffisant afin de payer ’essence pour
se rendre au travail, mais elles sont assez désespérées pour aller
travailler.

J’aime les partenariats, entre les agriculteurs et des organismes
comme les centres de santé, entre autres. On pourrait offrir des
fonds de démarrage pour favoriser le développement économique
de la collectivité. Si les femmes qui se cherchent du travail n’ont
pas les compétences nécessaires, peut-€tre pourraient-elles les
trouver dans un centre de santé communautaire. Nous avons des
travailleurs sociaux, des administrateurs et des comptables. Il y a
de petits entrepreneurs aux alentours qui comprennent comment
élaborer un plan d’entreprise. Peut-étre que ’on pourrait obtenir
des résultats si I'on faisait un petit effort communautaire en ce
sens. Je pense que le développement économique de la collectivité
fait parfois défaut en raison du manque de compétences chez les
personnes qui veulent ces emplois.

Jai essayé de les aider en leur disant qu’il pourrait y avoir
d’autres organismes pouvant travailler en partenariat avec eux.
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Senator Segal: Are there regular connections between your
organizations and the local welfare administrations and social
services?

Ms. MacLatchie: Not that I am aware of. I sit on the board
but I am sure that people working at the front line who are
doing this would be in touch with that department. It is at
the municipal level, in Brockville. I hear about the impact
of welfare on the women’s lives, but I do not know about the
links.

Ms. Oickle: Certainly, at a public health level, mostly at
the front line, we have regular working relationships with
Ontario Works social services and social workers. We share
clients. Our public health nurses work closely with social workers
to help individual families and, as well, with child and family
services in various parts of Ontario. It is mostly at the front
line.

Senator Segal: Ms. Bergman and Ms. Selkirk, how many of the
client base that you serve come from homes where a classic farm
income is still an important part of the base. Is it a much broader
mix beyond the agricultural sector to people who might be there
because they worked in a factory when there was a factory, or
they are there as a bedroom suburb for Brockville? What is your
sense of the mix, to the extent that you can figure it out?

Ms. Selkirk: With Loaves and Fishes, the issue is mainly
unemployment. We do not have as much of the rural farm
industry. We have mostly people within the city.

Ms. Bergman: We have a mix, but from the year and a half that
I have worked in this rural community, I have seen that many of
our clients are generational. Their families have been here for
generations. You see the same names over and over again. They
might not be directly related, but they go back far enough.
Without giving percentages, a large portion of our client base
are generational, probably farmers that are not farming now
but started that way.

Senator Segal: I am interested in how your organizations are
funded. I assume that the health unit is funded by government at
some level.

Ms. Oickle: There is municipal and provincial funding.

Senator Segal: Are there donations?

Ms. Selkirk: We have monetary and food donations.

Senator Segal: Are local churches involved?

Ms. Selkirk: Yes, all churches are involved in giving money
and food. Our local grocery stores supply us with food and we
have individual donations. It is run totally on donations.

Le sénateur Segal : Votre organisme entretient-il des liens
constants avec les administrations locales du bien-étre social et les
services sociaux?

Mme MacLatchie : Pas a ce que je sache. Je siége au conseil
d’administration, mais je suis certaine que les intervenants de
premiére ligne sont en contact avec le ministére. Cela se fait au
niveau municipal, a Brockville. J’entends parler de I'incidence du
bien-étre social sur la vie des femmes, mais je n’en sais pas
beaucoup sur les liens qui existent.

Mme Oickle : I est bien certain que sur le plan de la santé
publique, surtout en premiere ligne, nous avons des relations de
travail constantes avec les services sociaux et les travailleurs
sociaux d’Ontario au travail. Nous partageons les mémes
clients. Nos infirmiéres en santé publique travaillent en étroite
collaboration avec les travailleurs sociaux afin d’aider les familles
et d’offrir des services aux enfants et aux familles dans les diverses
parties de I’Ontario. Cela se fait surtout en premiere ligne.

Le sénateur Segal : Madame Bergman et madame Selkirk,
parmi vos clients, combien y en a-t-il qui viennent de foyers ou le
revenu agricole classique est encore primordial? Votre clientéele
va-t-elle bien au-dela de lagriculture et se compose-t-elle de
personnes qui sont la parce qu’elles travaillaient dans une
usine jusqu’a ce qu’elle ferme ou qu’elles vivent dans les
banlieues-dortoirs de Brockville? Comment se compose votre
clientéle, d’aprés ce que vous voyez?

Mme Selkirk : Le probléme des clients de Loaves and Fishes
est surtout le chémage. Nous n’avons pas tellement de clients qui
vivent de ’agriculture rurale. Nos clients viennent surtout de la
ville.

Mme Bergman : Notre clientéle est diversifiée, mais depuis
que je travaille dans cette collectivité rurale, soit depuis un an et
demi, je vois que bon nombre de nos clients sont la depuis des
générations. Leurs familles sont la depuis des générations. On
voit toujours les mémes noms revenir. Ils ne sont pas toujours
directement liés, mais ils sont la depuis assez longtemps. Sans
donner de pourcentage, une grande partie de notre clientéle est 1a
depuis des générations et se compose probablement d’agriculteurs
qui ne font plus d’agriculture, mais qui ont commencé de cette
fagon.

Le sénateur Segal : J’aimerais savoir comment vos organismes
sont financés. Je présume que 'unité de santé est financée par un
quelconque gouvernement.

Mme Oickle: Il y a du financement municipal et du
financement provincial.

Le sénateur Segal : Recevez-vous des dons?

Mme Selkirk : Nous recevons des dons en argent et en
nourriture.

Le sénateur Segal : Les églises du coin participent-elles aussi?

Mme Selkirk : Oui, toutes les églises participent en donnant de
I’argent et de la nourriture. Nos épiceries locales nous fournissent
de la nourriture, et nous recevons des dons personnels. Nous
dépendons totalement des dons.
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Ms. MacLatchie: The community health centres are funded
through the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, and there
is the new system. As of April 1, our funding will come to the
local level.

Senator Mercer: This is interesting. A number of words and
phrases keep popping up as we travel across the country:
Child care, transportation, literacy and employment have been
heard in most communities we visited.

With respect to child care, the current government has a
program whereby $100 per month per child is paid to qualifying
families. Has this money had an effect in the community?
Has it created any more daycare spaces in the community, to
your knowledge?

Ms. Bergman: At the moment, I would argue that it has not
changed anything. There is a lack of professional child care
services in the area that are subsidized by the government.
Although there might be day homes, et cetera, that people utilize,
they are not necessarily qualified to meet the subsidy standards.
I would argue that money has not changed anything that I can see
as a worker in the communities.

Senator Mercer: You recommended changes to the
Employment Insurance program by shortening the number of
qualifying weeks. This issue exists in Atlantic Canada as well
because of the seasonal nature of fishing and tourism. When you
say shorten the number of weeks, do you have a number in mind?
How many weeks do you think are realistic for someone to
qualify for EI?

Ms. MacLatchie: I am not sure about that. I can see the effects
of no jobs, no work and people trying to live 12 months of the
year on what they earn over the summer. [ am sorry, I do not have
any idea of the number of weeks.

Senator Mercer: That is fine. As I have always said about this
committee, we are not having trouble finding the problems, rather
we are struggling with the solutions to the problems.

Ms. Bergman: Adding to that, in our area, many seasonal
jobs come from tourism or businesses related to cottagers. That
work does not mean six months of employment at 40 hours per
week. Often, it is part-time employment or for only four months.
It is difficult to say how many weeks to qualify. I know that
you need suggestions but the qualifying period needs to reflect
the reality, perhaps a system for rural communities only. I do not
want to go down that road necessarily but it certainly affects
us in that way.

Senator Mercer: One word bureaucrats do not like is “flexible,”
but that is what is needed to make EI work in rural areas.

Mme MacLatchie : Les centres de santé communautaire sont
financés par le ministére de la Santé et des Soins de longue
durée, et il y a le nouveau systéme. A partir du 1°" avril, notre
financement ira aux administrations locales.

Le sénateur Mercer : C’est intéressant. Il y a des mots et des
phrases qui reviennent constamment dans nos audiences partout
au pays : la garde des enfants, le transport, I’alphabétisation et
I’emploi sont des thémes communs a la plupart des collectivités
que nous avons visitées.

Pour la garde des enfants, le gouvernement actuel a mis en
place un programme par lequel il donne 100 $ par mois par enfant
aux familles admissibles. Cet argent a-t-il un effet dans Ila
collectivité? A-t-il fait augmenter le nombre de places en
garderie dans la collectivité, a votre connaissance?

Mme Bergman : Pour 'instant, je dirais qu’il ne change rien. Il
manque de services de garderie professionnels subventionnés par
le gouvernement dans la région. Les gens utilisent les services de
gardiennes a la maison, entre autres, mais elles ne répondent pas
nécessairement aux critéres exigés pour étre subventionnées. Je
dirais que cet argent n’a rien changé d’aprés ce que je peux voir
comme travailleuse dans ces collectivités.

Le sénateur Mercer : Vous recommandez qu’on modifie le
régime de I’assurance-emploi en diminuant le nombre de semaines
nécessaire pour étre admissible. La méme question se pose au
Canada atlantique en raison de la nature saisonniére de la péche
et du tourisme. Vous parlez donc de diminuer le nombre de
semaines exigé, mais avez-vous un chiffre en téte? A votre avis,
combien de semaines seraient réalistes pour qu’une personne soit
admissible a I’AE?

Mme MacLatchie : Je n’en suis pas certaine. Je peux constater
les effets de la pénurie d’emplois et ce qu’il advient des gens qui
essaient de vivre 12 mois par année de ce qu’ils gagnent pendant
I’été. Je suis désolée, mais je n’ai aucune idée du nombre de
semaines qu’on devrait exiger.

Le sénateur Mercer : Comme je le dis toujours en ce qui
concerne ce comité, nous n’avons pas de difficulté a trouver les
problémes, mais les solutions a ces problémes nous donnent bien
du fil a retordre.

Mme Bergman : J’ajouterais que dans notre région, beaucoup
d’emplois saisonniers viennent du tourisme et des affaires que
font les propriétaires de chalets. Ce travail ne représente pas six
mois d’emploi a 40 heures par semaine. Bien souvent, il ne s’agit
que d’un emploi a temps partiel qui ne dure que quatre mois.
11 est difficile de dire combien de semaines il faudrait pour étre
admissible. Je sais que vous avez besoin qu’on vous fasse des
propositions, mais la période d’admissibilité doit tenir compte de
la réalité; il faudrait peut-étre concevoir un systéme pour les
collectivités rurales seulement. Je ne voudrais pas nécessairement
favoriser cette solution, mais c’est certainement la fagon dont
nous sommes touchés.

Le sénateur Mercer : S’il y a un mot que les bureaucrates
n’aiment pas, c’est bien le mot « souple », mais c’est ce qu’il faut
pour que ’AE fonctionne en région rurale.
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I have a question about Loaves and Fishes. First, the work you
do is absolutely fabulous. It is so important to have such a service
in a community. You said that you serve 80 to 90 people per
day. That is a high number and I commend you for the
accomplishment. It is important, for the record, to note that
no government dollars go into this service, and that is a credit
to the community.

Can you give me a bit of an age breakdown? I think Ms. Oickle
mentioned that children are the fastest growing group using food
banks. What is the age breakdown for Loaves and Fishes? I am
particularly interested in knowing how many seniors and how
many children use the service.

Ms. Selkirk: In an average evening, we have about 10 to
15 children under the age of 10. That does not include children
over age 10 and into the early teens, some of whom come by
themselves and bring their siblings. We usually have about 15 to
20 seniors come in each evening. They might be widows or
widowers and some are couples.

Senator Mercer: Loaves and Fishes is located —

Ms. Selkirk: It is located in Brockville opposite the VIA Rail
station.

Senator Mercer: Where do your clients come from? Ms. Oickle
said that the size of this rural community is significant.

Ms. Selkirk: We have a client who drives in from Athens.
I think he is a widower. He comes more for the social time.
Some of our clients also make donations. They will pay more
than $1 for their meal, if they are able. We also have clients who
do not even have $1, and we do not turn them away.

Most people are able to walk to our facility, so they have a room
in a local boarding house. We have low-income families in
subsidized housing and they can walk to Loaves and Fishes as well.

Senator Mercer: Later this morning we will hear from people
from the United Way and from the Salvation Army. As we have
travelled, we discovered churches have always pitched in to
do what they can do. The United Way in rural communities
sometimes seems to be invisible. The campaigns to raise money
are focused around the towns, for example, Brockville and
Gananoque in this region, and the services do not seem to spill
outside the towns. Is that the case here?

Ms. Selkirk: We have no funding from United Way. I am not
sure how to answer that question. We apply for grants from
different trusts or from the Brockville community association,
which has given us grants and such for equipment. I do not know
if that is what you are looking for.

Senator Mercer: Have you seen evidence of the United Way in
the two larger towns?

Ms. Bergman: Our rural community is under-serviced in every
way. People have to travel for everything. There is some local
recreation but recreational activities for children involves travel.

Jai une question sur Loaves and Fishes. D’abord, vous
faites un travail absolument fabuleux. Il est si important d’offrir
un tel service dans une collectivité. Vous avez dit servir entre 80 et
90 personnes par jour. C’est beaucoup, et je vous félicite de cet
accomplissement. Il est important de souligner, pour le compte
rendu, qu’il n’y a aucun sou du gouvernement qui finance ce
service et que tout le crédit en revient a la collectivité.

Pouvez-vous me donner une idée de I’dge de vos clients? Je
pense que Mme Oickle a mentionné que les enfants constituaient
le groupe de clients des banques alimentaires qui grossit le plus
rapidement. Décrivez-moi la clientéle de Loaves and Fishes par
tranche d’age. J’aimerais tout particuliérement savoir combien de
personnes agées et d’enfants utilisent ce service.

Mme Selkirk : Un soir moyen, nous recevons de 10 a
15 enfants de moins de 10 ans. Cela ne comprend pas les
enfants de plus de 10 ans ni les jeunes adolescents, qui
viennent parfois seuls avec leurs fréres et sceurs. Nous recevons
de 15 a 20 personnes agées par soir, environ. Il y a des veuves et
des veufs, ainsi que des couples.

Le sénateur Mercer : Loaves and Fishes est situé...

Mme Selkirk : Le service est situé¢ a Brockville, devant la gare
de VIA Rail.

Le sénateur Mercer : D’ou viennent vos clients? Mme Oickle a
dit que la taille de cette collectivité rurale était importante.

Mme Selkirk : Nous avons un client qui vient d’Athens. Je pense
que c’est un veuf. Il vient surtout pour I'aspect social. Certains de
nos clients font aussi des dons. Ils paieront plus d’un dollar pour
leur repas, s’ils le peuvent. Nous avons également des clients qui
n’ont méme pas un dollar, mais nous ne les refusons pas.

La plupart des gens peuvent venir chez nous a pied, donc
ils ont une chambre dans une pension du coin. Nous avons
des familles a faible revenu qui vivent dans des logements
subventionnés, et elles peuvent venir chez Loaves and Fishes a
pied elles aussi.

Le sénateur Mercer : En fin de matinée, nous allons entendre
des témoins de Centraide et de ’Armée du Salut. Dans nos
voyages, nous avons découvert que les églises font toujours ce
qu’elles peuvent. Dans les collectivités rurales, Centraide semble
parfois invisible. Les campagnes de levées de fonds se concentrent
autour des villes, comme Brockville et Gananoque dans la région,
et les services ne semblent pas sortir des limites des villes. Est-ce le
cas ici?

Mme Selkirk : Nous ne recevons pas de financement de
Centraide. Je ne sais pas vraiment comment répondre a cette
question. Nous demandons des subventions de différentes fiducies
ou de I’association communautaire de Brockville, qui nous donne
des subventions pour nous acheter du matériel. Je ne sais pas si
c’est ce que vous vouliez savoir.

Le sénateur Mercer : Pouvez-vous constater la présence de
Centraide dans les deux villes les plus grandes?

Mme Bergman : Notre collectivité rurale manque de services
a tous les égards. Les gens doivent se déplacer pour tout. Il y a
quelques activités récréatives chez nous, mais la plupart des
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As well, they need to travel to see their social service worker.
Some services are in the community doing outreach, perhaps in an
office a couple of times a week. Typically, we are under-serviced
or there is no local service.

Senator Callbeck: Thank you for the work that you do.

Ms. MacLatchie, I will ask you about one of the
recommendations you made for more funding for economic
development. You spoke about the group of women that is
exploring a way to set up small businesses.

In 2003, I was involved in a task force on how to involve more
women in business and how to help women entrepreneurs that are
in business. One recommendation that we heard from time to time
was that micro-credit should be available, whether it was from the
Business Development Bank of Canada or other responsible
agency. There are so many situations where women need a small
amount of money to get a business up and running.

In my province of Prince Edward Island over the last couple of
years, the Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency, ACOA, has
made money available in each of the four Atlantic Provinces to
business women’s organizations in the form of program delivery
and small amounts of money. The number of women who are
successful entrepreneurs has increased dramatically. Women are
good at small business.

Do you see a need for some kind of micro-credit for women?

Ms. MacLatchie: That would be one solution for the small
group of women that I was talking about. Many of them do crafts
and one lady is a good baker. There are skills that could be built
upon in a small business. The barrier to that is having enough
money to start it.

Senator Callbeck: That is right. In many cases it takes only
$1,000 or $2,000 but they have no access to that kind of money.

Ms. MacLatchie: Not that they have found to date.

Senator Callbeck: Ms. Selkirk, I want to ask you about
your project. I believe the literature says there are eight churches
within the area. You said that the churches are very much
involved. The committee has been hearing right across the
country that there is a decline in church attendance and some
churches are closing. Is that happening in Leeds, Grenville and
Lanark counties? If so, is that having an effect on you? In other
words, is it getting harder every year to keep going?

Ms. Selkirk: It is always hard to keep going. We always find
that we are down to our last penny before something happens
to keep us going. It is the same with food. Our refrigerators

activités pour les enfants exigent des déplacements. Ils doivent
également se déplacer pour voir leur travailleur social. Certains
services essayent de se faire connaitre dans la collectivité, dans un
bureau quelques heures par semaine, par exemple. En général,
nous souffrons d’un manque de services ou il n’y a aucun service
local du tout.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Je vous remercie du travail que vous faites.

Madame MacLatchie, j’aimerais vous interroger sur I'une des
recommandations que vous avez faites afin qu’on augmente le
financement pour le développement économique. Vous avez parlé
du groupe de femmes qui cherche un moyen d’établir de petites
entreprises.

En 2003, j’ai participé a un groupe de travail sur la fagon de
faire participer davantage les femmes aux entreprises et d’aider les
entrepreneures en affaires. Nous avons entendu a quelques
reprises qu’il faudrait offrir du microcrédit, soit par la Banque
de développement du Canada, soit par un autre organisme
responsable. Il y a tellement de cas ou des femmes ont besoin
d’une petite somme pour faire démarrer une entreprise et
I’exploiter.

Dans ma province, & I’fle-du-Prince-Edouard, comme dans
chacune des quatre provinces de I’Atlantique, I’Agence
de promotion économique du Canada atlantique, 'APECA,
met du financement a la disposition des organisations
d’entrepreneures sous la forme de programmes et de petites
sommes depuis quelques années. Le nombre d’entrepreneures qui
réussissent en affaires a augmenté radicalement. Les femmes sont
bonnes pour diriger de petites entreprises.

Croyez-vous nécessaire d’offrir une forme quelconque de
microcrédit a I'intention des femmes?

Mme MacLatchie : Ce serait une solution pour le petit groupe
de femmes dont je vous parlais. Plusieurs font de l’artisanat et
I'une d’entre elles est une excellente patissiére. Elles pourraient
miser sur ces compétences pour créer une petite entreprise. Elles
ne disposent toutefois pas des fonds nécessaires a cette fin.

Le sénateur Callbeck : C’est exact. Dans bien des cas, il suffit
de 1 000 § ou 2 000 $, mais ces femmes n’ont tout simplement pas
acces a de telles sommes.

Mme MacLatchie : En tout cas, pas jusqu’a maintenant.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Madame Selkirk, j’ai quelques questions
au sujet de votre projet. Selon la documentation, il y aurait huit
églises dans la région. Vous avez indiqué que les églises jouent un
grand réle dans votre projet. Dans les différentes régions du pays,
notre comité a entendu parler d’une baisse de la fréquentation des
églises et de la fermeture de certaines d’entre elles. Est-ce que la
méme chose se produit dans les comtés de Leeds, Grenville et
Lanark? Dans l’affirmative, est-ce que cela a des répercussions sur
vos activités? Autrement dit, devient-il de plus en plus difficile au
fil des ans de poursuivre le travail?

Mme Selkirk : Il est toujours difficile de continuer. Chaque fois
que nous nous retrouvons au bout de nos ressources, il se produit
quelque chose pour nous permettre de poursuivre. C’est la méme
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will almost empty when we might need an onion and, suddenly,
someone comes in with a bag of onions. We are fortunate in
that way.

The churches are great supporters and most of our
300 volunteers come from those local churches. I cannot talk
about attendance in the different churches. My church that
I attend has about 900 in attendance every Sunday and it is in
rural Brockville.

They are a great support to us in every aspect of our operation.
Without the churches and the volunteers, it would be difficult to
keep going.

Senator Callbeck: Is it any harder to keep going now than it
was five years ago?

Ms. Selkirk: I have been with Loaves and Fishes for only a
short time but I have seen the statistics and the paperwork
indicating its growth. We need more money today than when we
started because our location needs to grow. I do not know where
the money comes from and it truly is a miracle to see it happen.

Senator Callbeck: Ms. Oickle, you mentioned the statistics. I do
not recall the percentages of low income people that spend a
certain percentage on housing. Could you repeat that?

Ms. Oickle: The figures are that 80 per cent of our low income
families spend more than 30 per cent of that income on
housing costs. Housing is considered unaffordable when more
than 30 per cent of income is spent on it. I wanted to make the
point that the majority of our low-income families have to exceed
that affordable housing portion of their income to have a place to
live.

Senator Losier-Cool: This is my first experience with this
committee and I must say that I am enthused. I congratulate
you for your great work. I come from a region of Northeastern
New Brunswick where we have all the same problems that
you talked about today — EI, nutrition, health, et cetera.
I taught in a high school for a long time and saw many of the
problems.

I would like information on women and their health. The
Senate made a thorough study one or two years ago on mental
health. The committee travelled across the country to hear from
many witnesses on mental health issues, including those that
pertain to women.

Is the mental health of women in rural areas more fragile?
I would ask the same question on breast cancer. What about
teenage pregnancy? I have a list of many but I will stop there.

Ms. Oickle: 1 do not have any statistics with me but I can
speak to the large number of clients in our public health unit.
I work with many teenage and young moms, women living
in poverty and single moms in various family structures.
Anecdotally from the clients that I have had, I can tell you that

chose avec la nourriture. Nous en sommes a chercher le dernier
oignon dans nos réfrigérateurs presque vides lorsque, soudain,
quelqu’un nous arrive avec un sac rempli d’oignons. Nous avons
la chance de nous en tirer de cette fagon.

Les églises nous soutiennent beaucoup et la plupart de
nos 300 bénévoles viennent des églises locales. Je ne pourrais
pas vous dire ou se situe la fréquentation dans les différentes
églises. La mienne accueille environ 900 personnes chaque
dimanche dans le secteur rural de Brockville.

Les églises nous soutiennent grandement dans tous les aspects
de nos activités. Sans les églises et les bénévoles, il serait trés
difficile pour nous de continuer notre travail.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Est-ce plus difficile maintenant que ce ne
Iétait il y a cinq ans?

Mme Selkirk : Je suis avec Loaves and Fishes depuis peu, mais
jai vu des statistiques et des documents faisant état de sa
croissance. Nous avons besoin de plus d’argent aujourd’hui qu’au
départ, parce que nous devons prendre de I’expansion. Je ne sais
pas d’ou vient notre argent, mais c’est un véritable miracle de le
voir arriver.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Madame Oickle, vous avez cité certaines
statistiques. Je ne me souviens pas du pourcentage de gens a faible
revenu qui utilisent une certaine proportion de ce revenu pour se
loger. Pourriez-vous répéter ces chiffres?

Mme Oickle : Les chiffres indiquent que 80 p. 100 des familles
a faible revenu dépensent plus de 30 p. 100 de ce revenu pour le
logement. On considére que le logement n’est plus abordable
lorsqu’on doit y consacrer plus de 30 p. 100 de son revenu. Je
voulais faire valoir que la majorité des familles pauvres doivent
dépenser une trop forte proportion de leur revenu pour se loger.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : C’est ma premiére expérience de
travail au sein de ce comité et je dois avouer que je trouve cela trés
intéressant. Je vous félicite pour votre travail extraordinaire.
Je viens d’une région du nord-est du Nouveau-Brunswick ou
sévissent tous ces problémes dont vous nous avez parlé :
assurance-emploi, alimentation, santé, et autres. J’ai enseigné
pendant de nombreuses années dans une école secondaire et
j’ai été a méme de constater bon nombre de ces problémes.

J’aimerais obtenir des précisions quant a la santé des femmes. 11
y a un an ou deux, le Sénat a effectué une étude approfondie sur la
santé mentale. Le comité a visité toutes les régions du pays pour
entendre de nombreux témoins parler de questions liées a la santé
mentale, y compris celles touchant particuliérement les femmes.

Est-ce que la santé mentale des femmes vivant en région rurale
est plus fragile? Je vous pose la méme question relativement au
cancer du sein. Qu’en est-il de la grossesse chez les adolescentes?
Jai une liste de plusieurs sujets, mais je vais m’arréter 1a.

Mme Oickle : Je n’ai pas de statistiques avec moi, mais je peux
vous dire que notre service de santé publique recoit de trés
nombreuses clientes. Je travaille auprés de nombreuses meres
adolescentes, jeunes meres, femmes vivant dans la pauvreté et
meéres célibataires évoluant au sein de structures familiales variées.
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a large proportion of those moms, whether teens or adults,
live rurally with limited transportation. “Rurally,” for some of
our clients means down a dirt road in between the gas station
and the town that is 20 kilometres down the road. It is very
rural. Beyond the typical physical health risks that they face,
they are at increased risk of becoming caught in a violent
family situation, for instance, because they do not have the
transportation to escape it. They face an increased risk of
violence. A large proportion of my clients suffer depression
of varying degrees and other mental health issues. In rural
areas, it is difficult to access mental health services.

I also have had a number of clients with eating disorders in
combination with a number of other mental health issues, for
whom there is limited access to services. A large proportion of
those people live rurally and with low incomes. Some clients live
in a room in a house or building somewhere. I once had a client
who was 15 years old and pregnant. She lived in a room with no
running water, no refrigeration and no cooking facilities. There
was one toilet available down the hall but it had no running
water. There are varying degrees but, certainly, mental health is
an issue across the board.

Senator Losier-Cool: You mentioned teenage moms. Do more
teenage girls make the choice to keep their babies?

Ms. Oickle: Sometimes they do and sometimes they do not. It
is individual. There are services for them. I often work with those
moms when they are pregnant, and we refer to them as moms
when they are pregnant. What happens when they have the baby,
varies.

Senator Losier-Cool: Would you say that teenage pregnancy
has increased from 10 years ago?

Ms. Oickle: I have been in this community for eight years
but I do not know the statistics. There are more supports for
those young women who choose to keep their babies but I am
unsure of the statistics. There are many more reasons than
unprotected sex that teenage girls become pregnant. There are
societal issues.

Senator Losier-Cool: I ask that question because five years ago
I had a study in New Brunswick that showed a decrease in teenage
pregnancy. Today, the statistics and the information from the
advisory council indicate that the numbers are on the rise.
Perhaps it is a trend.

Do you have information on the incidence of breast cancer?

Ms. Bergman: I do not have those statistics with me. We know
that social determinants of health — income, education, social
isolation and lack of social support — will determine health.
Social isolation is an issue in our area. If we have an increase in

Si je me fie aux clientes que je vois, je peux vous dire qu’une
grande proportion de ces meéres, qu’elles soient adolescentes ou
adultes, vivent en milieu rural avec trés peu de possibilités de
transport. Quand je parle de milieu rural, il s’agit pour certaines
de nos clientes d’une route de terre entre la station d’essence et la
ville située a une vingtaine de kilométres. C’est tout ce qu’il y a de
plus rural. En plus des risques auxquels elles sont exposées du
point de vue de la santé physique, elles risquent davantage d’étre
victimes d’une situation de violence familiale, par exemple, étant
donné qu’elles ne disposent d’aucun moyen de transport pour
fuir. Elles sont donc davantage exposées a la violence. Une grande
proportion de mes clientes souffrent de dépression a différents
degrés et d’autres problémes de santé mentale. En région rurale, il
est difficile d’avoir accés a des services de santé mentale.

Nous avons également un certain nombre de clients souffrant
de troubles de I’alimentation qui s’ajoutent a différents problémes
de santé mentale; il leur est aussi difficile d’avoir accés a des
services. Une forte proportion de ces gens habitent en milieu rural
et ont un revenu faible. Certains occupent une chambre dans une
maison ou un édifice quelconque. Je me souviens d’une cliente
de 15 ans qui était enceinte. Elle habitait une chambre sans eau
courante, sans réfrigérateur ni équipement pour faire la cuisine. Il
y avait une toilette au bout du couloir, mais pas d’eau courante.
L’ampleur des difficultés peut varier, mais il ne fait aucun doute
que la santé mentale est un probléme généralisé.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : Vous avez parlé des meéres
adolescentes. Est-ce que les adolescentes sont plus nombreuses a
choisir de garder leurs bébés?

Mme Oickle : Parfois oui, parfois non. Cela demeure un choix
personnel. Il existe des services a leur intention. Je travaille
souvent auprés de ces mamans, car c¢’est comme ¢a que nous les
appelons lorsqu’elles sont enceintes. Quant a savoir ce qu’il
advient du bébé, c’est plutot variable.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : Diriez-vous que la grossesse chez les
adolescentes est plus fréquente qu’il y a dix ans?

Mme Oickle : Je suis ici depuis huit ans, mais je ne connais pas
les statistiques. Il y a davantage de mesures de soutien pour les
jeunes qui choisissent de garder leur enfant, mais je n’ai pas les
chiffres exacts. La grossesse chez les adolescentes n’est pas
uniquement attribuable a des relations sexuelles non protégées. Il
existe de nombreuses autres raisons, y compris des questions
sociétales.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : Si je pose la question, c’est parce
qu'une étude menée au Nouveau-Brunswick il y a cinq ans
indiquait une diminution des cas de grossesse chez les
adolescentes. Aujourd’hui, les statistiques et les renseignements
fournis par le conseil consultatif révélent que ces chiffres sont a la
hausse. Peut-étre s’agit-il d’une tendance.

Avez-vous de I'information sur I'incidence du cancer du sein?

Mme Bergman : Je n’ai pas ces statistiques en main. Nous
savons que des déterminants sociaux comme le revenu,
I'instruction, l'isolement social et le manque de soutien social
peuvent influer sur la santé. L’isolement social est un probléme
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social issues, I would argue that over the long run we would see
increased numbers. That comment is based on my experience and
knowledge only.

The women at the health centre and those involved in our
programs and our anti-poverty coalition are accessing services
and are involved in social supports through those programs so it
is difficult to know. Are these groups huge in comparison to our
client base? Absolutely they are not.

We have a depression group. We know there are mental health
issues. Most of our groups are populated by women, although
there are men in some of our groups. The reason is employment,
for example. I see a greater need to have people come out of their
isolation and become more involved.

Senator Losier-Cool: I have a last detail on dental services.
I appreciate that recommendation because it is so important
for teenage girls. We know how much it costs and I will use that
information. I will check to learn what is happening in my
province in that area.

Ms. Oickle: If you are looking for specific statistic on rates of
breast cancer and teen pregnancy, our website might well have
that information available.

The Chairman: Thank you for being such a great panel to start
off this day. These issues are difficult. We have learned from you
and we appreciate your work.

We will move to our next panel of witnesses: Judy Baril,
Executive Director, United Way of Leeds and Grenville counties;
Sandy Prentice, Home Visitor and Playgroup Organizer,
Community Action Program for Children, Perth Connections,
Lanark Health and Community Services; Randy Gatza,
Community and Family Services Officer, Salvation Army —
Brockville.

Mr. Gatza, please proceed with your presentation.

Randy Gatza, Community and Family Services Officer,
Salvation Army — Brockville: I have had various experiences
when dealing with people that come to us for assistance.
In my 14 years as a Salvation Army officer, I have lived in five
communities, Brockville being the most recent. We were
appointed to North Sydney, Nova Scotia, for three years;
Ambherst, Nova Scotia, for three years; Dauphin, Manitoba, for
five years; and Winnipeg, Manitoba, for two years. Last summer,
we moved to Brockville. The five appointments varied in terms of
population, with North Sydney being under 7,000 and Winnipeg
being under 700,000. I have been in a variety of settings,
atmospheres and demographics.

dans notre région. Si nous notions un accroissement des
problémes sociaux, je dirais qu’a long terme nous verrions ces
chiffres augmenter. Je fonde cette estimation uniquement sur mon
expérience et mes connaissances personnelles.

Les femmes qui fréquentent le centre de santé ont accés a des
services et a des soutiens sociaux par le truchement de nos
programmes et de notre coalition antipauvreté, ce qui fait qu’il est
difficile de cerner exactement la situation. Est-ce que ces groupes
forment une grande proportion de notre base de clientéle?
Absolument pas.

Nous avons une unité s’occupant de dépression. Nous savons
qu’il existe des problémes de santé mentale. La plupart de nos
groupes sont formés de femmes, mais certains comptent
également des hommes. Je pourrais citer par exemple les
problémes d’emploi. Il est de plus en plus nécessaire que les
gens sortent de leur isolement et apportent une contribution plus
active.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : J’ai une derniére question concernant
les programmes de soins dentaires. Je me réjouis de cette
recommandation en raison de la grande importance de ces soins
pour les adolescentes. Nous savons a quel point ces soins sont
coliteux et je vais me servir de ces renseignements. Je vais vérifier
pour connaitre la situation dans ma province a ce chapitre.

Mme Oickle : Si vous voulez des statistiques précises sur
I'incidence du cancer du sein et de la grossesse chez les
adolescentes, il est fort possible que vous puissiez trouver ces
renseignements sur notre site web.

La présidente : Merci pour votre contribution fort intéressante
a I’'amorce de cette journée. Il s’agit 1a de questions trés délicates.
Vous nous avez appris plusieurs choses et nous vous sommes trés
reconnaissants pour votre travail.

La présidente : Nous passons maintenant a notre prochain
groupe de témoins : Judy Baril, directrice administrative,
Centraide de Leeds et Grenville; Sandy Prentice, ménagére
visiteuse et organisatrice d’ateliers de jeu, Programme d’action
communautaire pour les enfants, programme Perth Connections,
Services communautaires et de santé de Lanark; Randy Gatza,
agent des services communautaires et familiaux, Armée du Salut,
Brockville.

Monsieur Gatza, nous écoutons votre exposé.

Randy Gatza, agent des services communautaires et familiaux,
Armée du Salut — Brockville : J’ai connu des expériences
diverses auprés de gens qui s’adressent a nous pour obtenir
de I'aide. Je suis agent de ’Armée du Salut depuis 14 ans et j’ai
vécu dans cinq collectivités bien différentes. J’ai été assigné
a North Sydney, en Nouvelle-Ecosse pendant trois ans; a
Ambherst, en Nouvelle-Ecosse pendant trois autres années; a
Dauphin, au Manitoba pendant cinq ans; et 8 Winnipeg pendant
deux ans. L’été dernier, nous avons déménagé a Brockville.
Ces cinq collectivités ont des populations qui varient de
moins de 7 000 personnes dans le cas de North Sydney jusqu’a
quelque 700 000 pour Winnipeg. J’ai donc connu différents
environnements, contextes et cadres démographiques.
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Throughout those years, I was hands-on in helping clientele
who came to us for practical assistance from within the
geographic region. On occasion, people come to us from rural
communities for assistance. I would say more than 95 per cent of
our clientele that come to us for practical assistance come from
the immediate area or the community in which we operate.

From that small group in the rural community, I have heard
about some of the issues. Transportation is always an issue.
Recently, someone came to us from the community in an old
beat-up pickup truck, which is expensive to run.

I find that people that should come to us from the rural
community do not do so, and pride is part of the reason. They
probably grew up in the rural community and lived off the land,
so to speak, if they had a farm, and they want to retain their
independence. However, things have changed over the years.

Some people come to us not for the usual things that we
provide, such as food assistance, but for requests that are
out of the ordinary. For example, I recently saw a gentleman
from Delta, Ontario. His pipes were freezing up and breaking.
He was on a limited income. He had to go to the hospital for
a certain reason. I could see he was emotionally disturbed
when he came to us. I offered him direction for the particular
assistance I assumed he needed. He was upset and threw the
paper on the floor. He was becoming more vocal and using
profanities. I decided to listen to him for awhile to determine
the real issue. He was looking for very little, a couple of electric
heaters to heat his house. A restriction prevented him from
putting a wood stove into his house that he was renting from a
relative. Everything was going against him. I could see that
if something were not done to help this gentleman, a crisis
would come to fruition, either suicide or harm to someone
else. He was becoming that aggressive. I managed to talk to
him for a while until he calmed down.

Once we arrived at the nuts and bolts of his situation, we
bought some heaters and I gave him some food from the food
bank, which he did not request. I offered it to him. That help
got him by and I never saw that gentleman again. This kind of
situation arises at times when we see people from the rural
community. We might see them once or twice and that is it.
They normally do not come to us, although it is not because
there is no need. There is a definite need but, as I said, there is
that pride of independence.

I grew up in a rural community in Cape Breton so I can relate
somewhat. My family situation was such that we never did
without. Provision was always made through the head of the
household, my dad, given that he was a coal miner. In rural
communities today, more people are living in poverty. In my
opinion, they come far and few between. I conclude that
eventually, the generations coming up will move out of the
rural community into more populated communities where

Tout au long de ces années, j’ai aidé directement des clients de
ces régions qui souhaitaient obtenir un soutien concret. Il est
arrivé que des gens nous viennent des collectivités rurales
avoisinantes pour demander de I’assistance. Je dirais toutefois
que plus de 95 p. 100 de nos clients proviennent du voisinage
immédiat de la ville que nous desservons.

J’ai eu connaissance de certains des problémes qui se posent en
milieu rural grace aux quelques clients provenant de ces régions.
Le transport est toujours problématique. Récemment, quelqu’un
est venu nous voir au volant d’une vieille camionnette fort mal en
point, un véhicule trés cotteux a garder sur la route.

Je constate que les gens des milieux ruraux qui devraient
s’adresser a nous ne le font pas, ce qui est principalement
attribuable a une question de fierté. Ces gens ont sans doute
grandi dans une collectivité rurale ou ils vivaient de la terre, pour
ainsi dire, dans le cas des agriculteurs, et ils souhaitent conserver
leur indépendance. Cependant, les choses ont changé au fil des ans.

Certains ne s’adressent pas a nous pour les services que nous
offrons habituellement, comme I’aide alimentaire, mais ont des
demandes qui sortent de I'ordinaire. Par exemple, j’ai accueilli
récemment un homme de Delta, en Ontario. Sous ’effet du gel,
les tuyaux de sa résidence se brisaient. Il n’avait qu'un revenu
trés limité. 11 devait se rendre a I’hopital pour un probléme
quelconque. J’ai pu constater a quel point il était perturbé
lorsqu’il s’est adressé a nous. Je lui ai indiqué comment il pouvait
obtenir 1’aide dont je croyais qu’il avait besoin. Il s’est mis en
colére et a jeté par terre la feuille que je lui tendais. Il a commencé
a hausser le ton et a blasphémer. J’ai décidé de I’écouter un
moment pour cerner son véritable probléme. Il ne demandait pas
grand-chose : quelques chaufferettes électriques pour sa maison.
Une restriction I'empéchait de placer un poéle a bois dans cette
résidence qu’il louait d’un parent. Rien ne jouait en sa faveur. Je
comprenais bien que si rien n’était fait pour aider cet homme, la
crise allait éclater : il pouvait se suicider ou causer des torts a
quelqu’un d’autre. Il était devenu agressif a ce point. J’ai réussi a
lui parler un peu jusqu’a ce qu’il se calme.

Aprés avoir tiré ses besoins au clair, nous avons acheté
quelques chaufferettes et je lui ai donné des denrées de notre
banque alimentaire, méme s’il n’en avait pas fait la demande.
C’est moi qui lui ai offert ces aliments. Cette aide lui a permis de
s’en tirer et je n’ai jamais revu cet homme. C’est le genre de
situation qui peut survenir lorsque nous accueillons des personnes
des milieux ruraux. On peut les voir une fois ou deux, puis plus
jamais. En général, ces personnes ne s’adressent pas a nous, et ce
n’est pas parce qu’elles n’en n’ont pas besoin. Le besoin existe de
toute évidence mais, comme je 1’ai indiqué, il y a la fierté de
demeurer indépendant.

Jai grandi dans une communauté rurale du Cap-Breton, ce qui
me permet de mieux comprendre le contexte. Dans ma famille,
nous n’avons jamais manqué de rien. C’est le chef de famille, mon
pére, qui subvenait & nos besoins grace a son travail dans les
mines de charbon. Dans les collectivités rurales d’aujourd’hui, les
gens sont de plus en plus nombreux a vivre dans la pauvreté. A
mon avis, ces gens sont aussi de plus en plus éparpillés. J’en
conclus que les générations futures en viendront a déménager
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more assistance is available and the social network is more
pronounced to provide assistance. I sense and fear that many
rural communities, years down the road, will become nothing
more than ghost villages. People will congregate in the populated
areas to have that social network where support is available
practically, fiscally and probably emotionally as time goes on.

The Chairman: That is a new direction that we have not heard
before. When you put it on top of other things across the country,
it is probably similar among the regions.

Judy Baril, Executive Director, United Way of Leeds and
Grenville: Thank you for inviting the United Way of Leeds and
Grenville to attend this session to talk about poverty in Leeds and
Grenville. Our United Way has been participating in a project
called Community Matters for the past 26 months. This project,
funded in part by the Ontario Trillium Foundation, has funded
the work of 17 small United Ways across the province of Ontario,
with our United Way in the lead position. The opportunity that
funding has provided us across the province has been
phenomenal. Each of the 17 United Ways serves the rural
population, and the exercise over the past 26 months has
uncovered some like trends across the province. It was no
surprise to many of us who have served our communities over
many years that we would find challenges with a call to action.

The Community Matters project has been structured with four
phases. The first three phases involved community conversations,
community-wide surveys and town hall meetings in all
sub-regions across the united counties. We asked hundreds of
residents that attended our sessions what made their communities
special, what challenges they have within their communities, what
would make a difference in their communities if change could be
effected, and what their vision was for their communities for the
next three to five years. Our conversations led us to people from
all walks of life: young and old, employed and unemployed,
wealthy and poor. The results we uncovered were both expected
and unexpected.

We learned that there were eight core issues that people living
in Leeds and Grenville are concerned about. In order of ranking,
they are children and youth, transportation, poverty, economic
development, employment, communication, access to health care
and seniors. Issues identified across the 17 United Ways that
represent rural communities have been similar to our United Way
results. There have been some regional idiosyncrasies where a
region would be expected to differ from ours. For example, in the
northern United Ways, significant poverty was identified within
the First Nations communities.

The rural poor face a large number of socio-economic
restrictions including lack of assets such as affordable or
satisfactory housing, lack of access to services, non-existent or
sporadically available technologies and markets, and lack of skills

dans des collectivités plus peuplées ou ils auront acces a
davantage d’aide et a un réseau social mieux établi. Je crains
fort que bon nombre de collectivités rurales ne deviennent ainsi
rien d’autre que des villages fantomes. Les gens en viendront a se
regrouper dans des villes plus peuplées ou ce réseau social leur
permettra d’avoir accés a un soutien a la fois pratique, financier
et, sans doute, affectif.

La présidente : C’est une perspective nouvelle que I’on ne nous
a pas présentée auparavant. Quand on pense aux ¢éléments qui
nous ont été signalés dans les différentes régions du pays, la
situation est probablement semblable un peu partout.

Judy Baril, directrice administrative, Centraide de Leeds et
Grenville : Je vous remercie d’avoir invité Centraide de Leeds et
Grenville a participer a cette séance pour parler de la pauvreté
dans notre secteur. Depuis 26 mois, nous participons a un projet
intitulé Community Matters. Grace notamment a la Fondation
Trillium de I’Ontario, ce projet a permis de financer les activités
de 17 petits groupes Centraide de la province, le notre agissant
comme chef de file. Ce financement nous a permis de réaliser des
choses exceptionnelles. L’aide apportée par chacun des 17 groupes
Centraide aupres de sa population rurale au cours des 26 derniers
mois a permis de dégager certaines tendances dans la province.
Ceux parmi nous qui desservons nos collectivités depuis de
nombreuses années n’ont pas été surpris de constater les
problémes exigeant une intervention qui ont été mis au jour.

Le projet Community Matters a été structuré en quatre phases.
Au cours des trois premieres, on a tenu des échanges avec les
communautés, on a effectué des sondages et on a organisé des
séances de discussion ouverte dans toutes les sous-régions des
comtés unis. Nous avons demandé a des centaines de résidants qui
ont assisté a nos réunions quelles étaient les particularités de leur
communauté respective, quels défis se posaient a elle, quel
changement serait bénéfique dans leur communauté et quelle
était leur vision pour les trois a cinq prochaines années. Nos
échanges nous ont amenés a cotoyer des personnes de tous les
milieux : jeunes et vieux, employés et sans emploi, riches et
pauvres. Ce que nous avons constaté était a la fois prévisible et
surprenant.

Nous avons appris que les habitants de Leeds et Grenville
avaient huit grandes préoccupations. Ce sont, dans I’ordre,
les enfants et les jeunes, les transports, la pauvreté, le
développement économique, I’emploi, les communications,
laccés aux soins de santé et les personnes agées. Les enjeux
cernés par les 17 organismes Centraide-United Way qui
représentent les collectivités rurales sont les mémes que ceux
définis par notre organisme. On s’attendait a ce qu'une région
différe de la notre en raison de certaines particularités régionales.
Par exemple, dans le nord, une importante pauvreté a été décelée
chez les communautés de Premiéres nations.

Les pauvres en milieu rural font face a bon nombre de
contraintes socioéconomiques, dont le manque de biens comme
des logements abordables ou satisfaisants, le manque d’accés aux
services, ’absence ou la disponibilité sporadique des technologies
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and organizations. Many issues that have been identified have
their roots in poverty. The poverty issue that rose to number three
after our consultations is multi-faceted.

Within this issue rests a lack of affordable or satisfactory
housing, which was identified across all regions. Families,
single-parent families and individuals identified to us a serious
problem finding housing that affords people the ability to live in a
community of their choice, while allowing them to have the
necessary resources to provide other necessities for their families,
such as food, hydro, heat, personal care provisions and
recreational opportunities. These individuals find themselves
trapped. They live where they cannot afford to live, which on a
daily basis plunges them deeper into debt, and they live in homes
that would not be acceptable to any of us. Lack of affordable
housing traps people in poverty and, if not addressed, keeps them
there.

Housing quality and the cost of housing in larger centres has
been greatly improved, but housing affordability is a critical issue
for many rural dwellers because wages and salaries, even for those
who work full time or more, are insufficient.

Everywhere we went, we heard the need for better jobs,
higher paying jobs and jobs that paid more than minimum wage.
Many adults that we spoke to, who were earning minimum
wage, were forced to have second or even third jobs to make
ends meet.

Probably the most difficult conversations have been with
children and youth. Through our work, we have gone
into 21 schools throughout the area, both secondary and
elementary, to have conversations with over 1,200 children
between the ages of 12 and 19. While their requests and needs
were different from those included in our adult conversations,
many of their issues stemmed directly from poverty issues.
Students were concerned with the lack of affordable, healthy
food choices available in the school cafeterias. They asked for
the driving age to be lowered or for buses and taxis to be
available in the rural areas. Rural students mentioned that
food banks were often too far away to access.

There was a demand for jobs from kids as young as 12 and 13.
Children and youth are concerned that activities and entertainment
are too expensive to participate in. Hockey and fitness programs
were named as too expensive. Senior members in high school have
a heightened concern for tuition costs and living costs associated
with post-secondary education. Gas prices were mentioned by a
majority of students discussing transportation as an issue. Even if
they are interested in programs, they are unable to attend, given the
additional cost of transportation. Students mentioned that the cost
of student cards in high schools is rising, causing them to be unable
to participate in extracurricular activities and programs.

et des marchés, et I’absence de compétences et d’organisations.
Bon nombre des problémes sont attribuables a la pauvreté. La
question de la pauvreté, qui est passée au troisiéme rang aprés nos
consultations, comporte de multiples facettes.

Il y a notamment le manque de logements abordables ou
satisfaisants, probléme relevé dans toutes les régions. Les familles,
les familles monoparentales et les individus nous ont confié qu’ils
avaient beaucoup de difficultés a trouver un logement qui leur
permette de vivre dans la communauté de leur choix tout en ayant
les ressources nécessaires pour subvenir aux autres nécessités de
leur famille, comme 1’alimentation, 1’électricité, le chauffage, les
soins personnels et les possibilités de loisirs. Ces gens se trouvent
pris au piége. Ils vivent 1a ou ils ne peuvent se permettre de vivre,
ce qui, jour aprés jour, les enfonce encore plus profondément dans
I’endettement, et ils vivent dans des maisons que personne d’entre
nous ne jugerait acceptables. Le manque de logements abordables
enferme les gens dans la pauvreté et, si rien n’est fait, ils vont y
rester.

La qualité et le colt du logement dans les grands centres ont
connu une nette amélioration, mais 'accés a des logements
abordables est un probléme important pour bon nombre de
résidants en milieu rural parce que les salaires, méme pour ceux
qui travaillent a temps plein ou plus, sont insuffisants.

Partout ou nous sommes allés, on nous a parlé de la nécessité
d’avoir de meilleurs emplois, des emplois mieux rémunérés et des
emplois au-dessus du salaire minimum. Bon nombre d’adultes,
qui travaillent au salaire minimum, sont forcés d’avoir un
deuxiéme ou méme un troisieme emploi pour joindre les deux
bouts.

Les échanges les plus difficiles ont probablement été avec les
enfants et les jeunes. Nos travaux nous ont amenés dans 21 écoles,
secondaires et primaires, dans I’ensemble du secteur, ou nous
avons eu des échanges avec plus de 1 200 jeunes de 12 a 19 ans.
Leurs demandes et leurs besoins étaient différents de ceux
exprimés par les adultes, mais bon nombre étaient directement
liés a la pauvreté. Les étudiants déploraient le manque d’aliments
abordables et bons pour la santé offerts dans les cafétérias des
écoles. Ils ont demandé que l'on abaisse I’dge requis pour
conduire ou que des autobus et des taxis soient disponibles dans
les secteurs ruraux. Les éleves en milieu rural ont mentionné que
les banques alimentaires étaient souvent trop loin pour qu’on y ait
acces.

Des jeunes d’a peine 12 et 13 ans souhaitent avoir un emploi.
Les enfants et les jeunes déplorent que les activités et les
divertissements soient trop cofiteux. C’est le cas notamment du
hockey et des programmes de conditionnement physique. Les
¢éleves plus agés des écoles secondaires se préoccupent davantage
des frais de scolarité et des frais de subsistance liés aux études
postsecondaires. Une majorité d’éleves ont parlé du prix de
I’essence lorsqu’ils ont abordé le probléme de transport. Méme
s’ils s’intéressent a des programmes, ils ne peuvent y participer,
compte tenu du cotit supplémentaire du transport. Les éléves ont
mentionné que le colt de la carte d’étudiant dans les écoles
secondaires augmentait, ce qui les empéchait de participer a des
activités et des programmes parascolaires.
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Education has improved but without meaningful job
opportunities in their communities, many of the better educated
youth leave for the cities to achieve lifestyles that are impossible at
home. United Way is concerned about the brain drain that exists
throughout the community. Young people expressed that they did
not feel there was anything to come home to. They are looking for
more than they are seeing here.

When we spoke to young single parents living in rural
communities, they spoke about feelings of isolation and about
feeling trapped. Many wanted to better their lives for their
children but were unable to go to larger communities to continue
their education because of poverty-based issues. Many have no
means of transportation, no available bus service, no access to
day care in their community and no jobs in their respective
communities where they could stay and earn a living.

In order to make it, their only educational opportunities are in
the city, along with better paying jobs, and affordable and
subsidized daycares, but they cannot get there. To move is not
seen as an option because rents are much higher than where they
currently live, and so those feelings of being trapped and isolated
emerge.

Seniors living in rural areas are more likely to have limited
access to transportation. Seniors whose mobility was limited, and
particularly those who do not have access either to a household
vehicle or public transportation in any form, are less likely to
leave their homes for social experiences or to volunteer. Many
seniors told us that the lack of transportation clearly affected their
lives in many respects. For example, many found it difficult to
get to medical appointments, to visit family and friends, to
participate in social activities and so on.

Transportation provides improved access to regional cities and
shopping malls but further drains local economies of retail dollars
and empties the vitality out of the downtowns of small towns.
People with the least income find it hard to reach shopping
opportunities or jobs that would help them out because limited
mass transportation is available. Traditional rural development
policies do not address the powerlessness and lack of hope that
are handed down from one generation to the next and do not
touch the root causes, instead tackling limited issues that are
symptoms and consequences of the underlying disease of poverty.
Even then, these policies address symptoms and consequences in
an incomplete way.

While traditional rural development programs meet worthy
and pressing needs, and enhance the lives of the impoverished, the
programs frequently contribute little or nothing to alleviating the
causes of poverty. As a result, they leave the impoverished
vulnerable to a continued existence on the margin of safety. A
growing consensus is that resources aimed at poverty reduction
must focus more on agricultural and rural development.

L’éducation s’est améliorée mais, comme ils n’ont pas de
possibilités d’emplois intéressants dans leur localité, un grand
nombre de jeunes parmi les plus éduqués partent pour la ville ou
ils souhaitent avoir un style de vie impossible a trouver chez eux.
Centraide-United Way s’inquiéte de 1’exode des cerveaux qui
touche ’ensemble de la communauté. Les jeunes ont I'impression
qu’il n’y a rien chez eux. Ils veulent plus que ce qu’ils voient ici.

Les jeunes chefs de famille monoparentale en milieu rural nous
ont dit qu’ils se sentaient isolés et pris dans un piége. Bon nombre
voulaient améliorer leur sort pour leurs enfants, mais leur
situation précaire les empéchait de déménager dans une plus
grande localité pour continuer leurs études. Bon nombre n’avaient
aucun moyen de transport, aucun service d’autobus disponible,
aucun accés a des garderies et aucun emploi dans leur
communauté respective ou ils pourraient rester et gagner leur vie.

Seule la ville leur permet de poursuivre des études, d’obtenir
des emplois mieux rémunérés et d’avoir acceés a des garderies
abordables et subventionnées, mais ces personnes ne peuvent pas
y aller. Déménager n’est pas une option parce que les loyers sont
beaucoup plus élevés que ce qu’elles paient présentement, d’ou le
sentiment d’étre prises au piége et isolées.

Les personnes agées vivant en milieu rural sont plus
susceptibles d’avoir un acces limité au transport. Celles a
mobilité réduite, en particulier celles qui n’ont pas accés a un
véhicule privé ou a un transport public quelconque, sont moins
portées a quitter leur maison pour vivre des expériences sociales
ou faire du bénévolat. Bon nombre nous ont dit que le manque de
transport affectait leur vie a bien des égards. Par exemple, un
grand nombre ont de la difficulté a se rendre a leurs rendez-vous
médicaux, a visiter leur famille et leurs amis, a participer a des
activités sociales, et ainsi de suite.

Les moyens de transport permettent d’accéder plus facilement
aux villes des régions et aux centres commerciaux, mais privent
davantage les économies locales et nuisent a la vitalité des centres
des petites villes. En raison du peu de transport en commun, les
gens ayant les revenus les moins élevés trouvent difficile de
profiter des occasions d’achat ou d’obtenir des emplois qui les
aideraient a se tirer d’affaire. Les politiques traditionnelles de
développement rural font fi du sentiment d’impuissance et du
manque d’espoir qui sont transmis d’une génération a I’autre et ne
touchent pas aux causes profondes; elles s’attaquent a des
problémes limités qui ne sont que des symptomes et des
conséquences de la maladie sous-jacente qu’est la pauvreté. Et
encore, ces politiques touchent aux symptdomes et aux
conséquences de maniére incompléte.

Bien que les programmes traditionnels de développement rural
répondent a des besoins valables et pressants et permettent
d’améliorer le sort des plus démunis, bien souvent ils contribuent
peu ou aucunement a atténuer les causes de la pauvreté. Par
conséquent, les plus démunis restent susceptibles de vivre encore
en marge de la sécurité. On s’entend de plus en plus pour dire que
les ressources consacrées a la réduction de la pauvreté doivent
cibler davantage le développement agricole et rural.
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What is missing in rural policy is a concerted effort to
engage individuals and communities living in poverty in their
own economic and social enhancement. What is missing is the
willingness to face up to the root causes of poverty, which are
often an outgrowth of historic and contemporary social divisions
that cut the poor out of opportunities to share power, equal
opportunities and, in the end, hope. Poverty is still largely a rural
phenomenon. The poorest people we spoke to live mainly in rural
areas. Rural poverty must be addressed in Leeds and Grenville by
those in service delivery in the united counties.

What can we, the United Way, do about these issues? We are
trying to address the issues that have been identified by our youth
and work is progressing in many areas surrounding poverty.
As well, we are actively working on a model to resolve many
transportation issues that have been identified across Leeds
and Grenville. We are actively pursuing partnerships and
collaborative opportunities to address bringing services to
people in remote communities, especially educational and
recreational opportunities. We have engaged a resource team
in our community conversations and some of the issues such as
lack of daycare have begun to be addressed.

This is our fiftieth year of service to our community. It will
likely be the most important year of action because of the current
information that we now have about our communities. It will take
a great deal of time, effort and, most likely, a lot of money and
collaborative action, but we are committed and prepared to invest
in all.

Sandy Prentice, Home Visitor and Playgroup Organizer,
Community Action Program for Children, Perth Connections,
Lanark Health and Community Services: Thank you for inviting
me to appear today. This forum is an excellent opportunity to
discuss what is happening in our counties. I live in the Leeds
and Grenville area and I work in Lanark County. My office is
in Perth, Ontario, and I work in Perth and in areas north of the
islands.

By way of background, I have 13 years’ experience in working
with young families in the rural population around Perth.
My co-workers work in all of Lanark County. I have 20 years’
experience living in three different rural communities. My
experience is personal and professional.

The families I work with want me to be here today. They think
it is absolutely wonderful that people are looking at this situation
and taking it seriously. They do not feel that they can come
because they do not acknowledge that they have a voice; they
have asked me to be that voice. That speaks volumes as I can hear
them say: I cannot go; I do not belong; I cannot fit in; and what
would I wear?

What does poverty look like? I work with families that are
young, for the most part, aged 15 and over. The current families
are mostly in their 20s and 30s. They all have young children

Ce qui manque dans les politiques rurales, c’est un effort
concerté pour amener les individus et les communautés qui vivent
dans la pauvreté a prendre part a leur propre développement
économique et social. Ce qui manque, c’est la volonté d’affronter
les causes profondes de la pauvreté, qui sont bien souvent issues
des divisions sociales passées et présentes qui écartent les pauvres
du pouvoir, de I’égalité des chances et, finalement, de ’espoir. La
pauvreté est encore largement un phénoméne rural. Les gens les
plus pauvres a qui nous avons parlé vivent principalement dans
des secteurs ruraux. Les responsables de la prestation des services
dans les comtés unis doivent s’attaquer a la pauvreté rurale a
Leeds et Grenville.

Que peut faire Centraide-United Way pour régler ces
problémes? Nous essayons de nous attaquer aux problémes que
nos jeunes ont cernés, et des progrés sont faits dans de nombreux
domaines. De plus, nous travaillons activement a un modé¢le en
vue de régler les nombreux problémes de transport qui ont été
relevés dans Leeds et Grenville. Nous cherchons activement a
conclure des partenariats et des ententes de collaboration pour
offrir des services aux gens des communautés éloignées, tout
particulierement au chapitre de I’éducation et des loisirs. Nous
avons engagé une équipe de ressources dans nos échanges
communautaires et nous avons commencé a régler certains
problémes, comme 1’absence de services de garde.

Nous en sommes a notre 50° année de service dans notre
communauté. Ce sera vraisemblablement I’année la plus
importante a cause de I'information que nous avons maintenant
sur nos collectivités. Il faudra beaucoup de temps, d’effort et, trés
probablement, d’argent et de collaboration, mais nous tenons et
nous sommes préts a investir sur tous les plans.

Sandy Prentice, ménagére visiteuse et organisatrice d’ateliers de
jeux, Programme d’action communautaire pour les enfants,
programme Perth Connections, Services communautaires et
de santé de Lanark : Je vous remercie de m’avoir invitée a
comparaitre aujourd’hui. Cette tribune nous donne une excellente
occasion de discuter de ce qui se passe dans nos comtés. Je vis
dans la région de Leeds et Grenville et je travaille dans le comté de
Lanark. Mon bureau se trouve a Perth, en Ontario, et je travaille
a Perth et dans les secteurs au nord des iles.

Je travaille depuis 13 ans auprés des jeunes familles de la
population rurale de la région de Perth. Mes collégues travaillent
partout dans le comté de Lanark. J’ai vécu pendant 20 ans dans
trois communautés rurales différentes. Mon expérience est a la
fois personnelle et professionnelle.

Les familles avec lesquelles je travaille veulent que je sois ici
aujourd’hui. Elles croient que c’est merveilleux que des gens se
penchent sur cette situation et la prennent au séricux. Elles ne
croient pas pouvoir venir ici parce qu’elles ne reconnaissent pas
qu’elles peuvent s’exprimer; elles m’ont donc demandé d’étre leur
porte-parole. Voila qui en dit long, et je les entends dire : Je ne
peux pas y aller; ce n’est pas ma place; je ne cadre pas dans cet
endroit, qu’est-ce que je porterais?

A quoi ressemble la pauvreté? Je travaille avec des familles
jeunes, pour la plupart agées de 15 ans et plus. Les familles se
trouvent surtout dans la vingtaine et dans la trentaine. Elles ont
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under the age of six. Most women I work with are overweight,
overstressed and suffering from mental health disorders. Many
of them are on anti-depressants and lithium, they have anxiety,
they have extremely low self-esteem and they feel that they
have little control over their lives.

I have single parents, double-parent families, working families
and families on Ontario Works. In almost every family, someone
is on continual medication of some kind, whether Prozac, lithium
or asthma puffers. To me, poverty affects health, and T see it
everyday.

In our area, we have a shortage of doctors. I will speak more
anecdotally and present individual stories. They will be
representative and not specific to an individual. A young family
has a two-year-old who does not have a doctor. The doctor that
delivered the baby said that he would take the mother as a patient
but then the doctor moved 50 kilometres away. The mother and
child cannot find a doctor in their own area because, technically,
they have one.

Fortunately, our community health centre in North Lanark
recently hired a nurse practitioner to fill long-time vacant
position. Now, that mom can see the nurse practitioner with
her child until the child reaches the age of six. The mom has three
and a half years to find a doctor in her area. This family lacks
transportation. The nurse practitioner is only 15 to 20 kilometres
away, rather than 50 kilometres.

I have listened to much of what has been said and I have read
the report of the committee. I think we are talking to the
converted here and I truly appreciate the work that is being done.

We live rurally and yet the families that I deal with always
lack healthy food. Most of them use the food bank regularly.
Often, I call the food bank to see if the family can come a second
time because their time is not up. When they go to the food bank,
they receive about three days’ worth of food. When they must
wait two weeks to receive some money, three days will not take
them far.

People do not have much control over what they receive from
the food bank and often it is something they cannot use so they
take it back so someone else might use it.

Transportation is an issue so I will drive people to food banks.
We live in an area such that if anyone has access to food, it should
be the rural populations. I will say that in some families, the rural
aspect is positive because they have access to meat when someone
in the family has cows or chickens. At times, they hunt squirrels as
a food supply. Even when they live in the city or in the town of
Perth, they might use that skill of shooting and skinning squirrels,

toutes de jeunes enfants de moins de six ans. La plupart des
femmes avec qui je travaille ont un surplus de poids, sont stressées
et souffrent de troubles mentaux. Bon nombre prennent des
antidépresseurs et du lithium, souffrent d’anxiété, ont une trés
faible estime de soi et ont le sentiment d’avoir peu de contréle sur
leur vie.

Je travaille avec des parents seuls, des familles ou il y a deux
parents, des familles qui travaillent et des familles qui font partie
du programme Ontario au travail. Dans presque toutes les
familles, quelqu’un est sous médication continue, que ce soit du
Prozac, du lithium ou des pompes pour I'asthme. Selon moi, la
pauvreté affecte la santé et je le vois tous les jours.

Dans notre région, nous connaissons une pénurie de
médecins. Je vais vous raconter quelques histoires personnelles.
Elles sont représentatives et ne sont pas le fait de quelques
personnes seulement. Il y a une jeune famille avec une enfant de
deux ans qui n’a pas de médecin. Le médecin qui a mis le bébé au
monde a dit qu’il continuerait a suivre la mére, mais il a ensuite
déménagé a 50 kilométres de distance. La mére et I’enfant ne
peuvent pas trouver un médecin dans leur propre région parce
que, techniquement, elles en ont un.

Heureusement, le centre de santé communautaire de North
Lanark a récemment embauché une infirmiére praticienne
pour combler un poste vacant depuis longtemps. Aujourd’hui,
cette mére peut consulter I'infirmiére avec son enfant jusqu’a
ce que cette derniére ait six ans. La mere a donc trois ans et
demi pour trouver un médecin dans sa région. Cette famille n’a
pas de moyen de transport. L’infirmiére praticienne n’est qu’a
environ 15 a 20 kilométres de distance, plutét qu’a 50 kilométres.

J’ai écouté beaucoup de choses qui ont été dites et j’ai lu le
rapport du comité. Je crois que nous parlons a des gens déja
convertis et j’apprécie vraiment le travail qui est fait.

Nous vivons en milieu rural et pourtant, les familles dont je
m’occupe manquent souvent de bons aliments. La plupart ont
réguliérement recours a la banque alimentaire. J’appelle souvent
la banque alimentaire pour voir si une famille peut venir une
deuxieéme fois méme si son délai n’est pas écoulé. Lorsqu’elles
s’adressent a la banque alimentaire, les familles regoivent de la
nourriture pour environ trois jours. Lorsqu’elles doivent attendre
deux semaines avant de recevoir un peu d’argent, ces trois jours ne
les ameénent pas bien loin.

Les gens ont peu a dire sur ce qu’ils recoivent de la banque
alimentaire, et ce sont souvent des choses qu’ils ne peuvent
utiliser, alors ils les ramenent pour que d’autres puissent en
profiter.

Le transport est problématique, alors je vais conduire les gens
aux banques alimentaires. Pourtant, ce sont les populations
rurales qui devraient avoir accés a la nourriture. Je dirai que dans
certaines familles, la ruralité a ses avantages, parce qu’elles
peuvent obtenir de la viande lorsqu’un membre de la famille a des
vaches ou des poules. A I'occasion, les gens vont chasser des
écureuils pour se nourrir. Méme lorsqu’ils vivent dans la ville ou
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much to the chagrin of the police. The children will proudly
declare, “That is my daddy. He is a little different from city folk.”
However, it is meat that they can eat.

Living conditions are atrocious. Many rural people live in old
houses that can be mouldy. I have had families who have moved.
I have had families who ask, “What can I do? I have complained
and the landlord will not do anything about it. I can’t move
because where can I move to? Anything else I can find for this
amount of rent will be the same.”

In deep rural areas, some live in two-bedroom trailers that
house two families, which would be extended family. There might
be the parents, their children and their grandchildren. Two sisters
and a couple of children might share one bedroom.

There are few occupations and jobs. Of the families that
I work with, those who are working find employment at the local
Mac’s Milk or Tim Hortons. They work shifts, including
weekends and midnights, when no child care is available. For
families trying to find subsidized daycare, it does not exist.
We can obtain subsidies for families when there are spaces,
but there are no spaces for people who work odd hours. The
daycares work from 6 a.m. to 6 p.m., which is long, but not
long enough.

I work with families that are in the cycle of poverty.
A three-year-old in one of my families has been on the wait list
for some time for two days of daycare to meet their needs. He will
start school in September and he is so far behind. He has in-home
support from my program and some support from the infant
development program, which is providing speech and language.
Due to the mother’s lack of ability, she is unable to do more.
This child does not qualify as high risk, so he has not been
apprehended by the children and family services because his
basic needs are being met. The child needs support for his own
brain development and we are waiting to get him into a daycare
space.

The families with the greatest needs access services the least.
Mr. Gatza mentioned that when he talked about the real rural
populations. They are independent and proud and they want to
do it alone. Within that cycle of poverty, they might have some
family supports but they are not sufficient to take them out of the
cycle of poverty. More supports are needed, and the families that
have moved closer to town often find it easier because they might
have only a four-kilometre walk into town. Before, they could not
even consider walking because they were too far away. Isolation
has diminished.

There is no money for recreation or anything that aids stress
reduction. I am also a yoga teacher and have been conducting a
group with some of my moms. They have found it totally amazing
that they can learn some skills that can help to reduce their stress

dans le village de Perth, ils peuvent utiliser a profit ce savoir-faire,
au grand dam de la police. Les enfants vont déclarer fiérement :
« Voila mon pére. Il est un peu différent des gens de la ville. »
Toutefois, c’est de la viande qu’ils peuvent manger.

Les conditions de vie sont atroces. Un grand nombre de
personnes en milieu rural vivent dans de vieilles maisons aux
prises avec des problémes de moisissure. Certaines familles ont
déménagé. D’autres me disent : « Que puis-je faire? Je me suis
plaint et le propriétaire ne fera rien. Je ne peux pas déménager;
ou irais-je? Je ne pourrais trouver rien de mieux a un loyer
équivalent. »

Dans les régions rurales éloignées, on voit des familles élargies
s’entasser dans des roulottes de deux chambres. Ce sont les
parents, leurs enfants et leurs petits-enfants. Deux sceurs et
quelques enfants peuvent partager la méme chambre.

Les emplois sont rares. Les gens qui ont un emploi travaillent
au Mac’s Milk ou au Tim Horton de la localité. Ils font des
quarts de travail, y compris les fins de semaine et la nuit,
lorsqu’aucun service de garde n’est disponible. Les garderies
subventionnées n’existent pas pour ces familles. Nous pouvons
obtenir des subventions pour les familles lorsqu’il y a des
places, mais il n’y a aucune place pour les gens qui travaillent
durant des heures inhabituelles. Les garderies sont ouvertes
de 6 heures a 18 heures, ce qui est beaucoup, mais pas assez.

Je travaille aupres des familles qui se trouvent dans le cycle de
la pauvreté. L'une d’elles a un enfant de trois ans qui est inscrit
sur une liste d’attente depuis un certain temps pour pouvoir
fréquenter la garderie deux jours par semaine. Il va commencer
I’école en septembre et il a beaucoup de retard. Il regoit de ’aide
a la maison grace a mon programme, et un peu d’aide du
programme de développement de la petite enfance, au niveau du
langage. En raison des lacunes de la mére, celle-ci ne peut en faire
plus. Cet enfant n’est pas considéré comme étant a risque, alors il
n’a pas été pris en charge par les services a I’enfance et a la famille,
parce que ses besoins de base sont satisfaits. L’enfant a besoin
d’aide pour son propre développement intellectuel et nous
attendons d’avoir une place pour lui en garderie.

Ce sont les familles ayant les plus grands besoins qui ont le
moins acces aux services. M. Gatza I’a mentionné lorsqu’il a parlé
des populations en milieu rural. Ce sont des gens indépendants et
fiers, qui veulent faire les choses seuls. Dans ce cycle de pauvreté,
ils peuvent recevoir un peu d’aide de la famille, mais ce n’est pas
suffisant pour sortir de ce cycle. Ils ont besoin de plus de soutien,
et les familles qui se sont rapprochées de la ville trouvent souvent
la situation plus facile parce qu’elles n’ont que quatre kilométres a
marcher pour se rendre a la ville. Auparavant, elles ne pouvaient
méme pas y songer parce qu’elles étaient trop loin. L’isolement a
diminué.

Il n’y a pas d’argent pour les loisirs ou d’autres activités qui
contribuent a réduire du stress. Je suis également professeure de
yoga et je dirige un groupe composé de méres avec lesquelles je
travaille. Celles-ci sont fascinées d’apprendre certaines habiletés
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on a daily basis — to take only a few minutes to breathe. Finding
a bit of quiet time for themselves is totally new to them because
their needs are always the last ones considered.

I see the income gap growing. Our families that live in poverty
might have enough food to keep from starving, although not the
best and most nutritious. They might have a house, be warm most
of the time and so they are not doing too badly on a global scale
of poverty. However, we live in Canada and when we look at
where they are compared to the rest of the population, the stress
becomes visible. They want the same things that other people
have, such as a vacation or even a movie? To go to a movie, they
need to think about not only money to pay for the movie but also
to pay for a way to get there.

The economic system that we live in creates the situation.
We need that low-income poverty group to work at Mac’s Milk
and Tim Hortons. Certainly, the economic structure needs to be
addressed.

On behalf of the families I work with, I thank the committee
for doing this work. It is absolutely amazing and I handed out a
paper with their direct quotes.

The Chairman: Ms. Prentice, you mentioned that you are
talking to the converted. That is true. We are converted but we
still need to be more educated on these issues. The testimony we
heard today will help in that direction.

Senator Segal: Thank you for taking time from your important
work to give us your perspective, and for the work that you do on
behalf of people who need your support and who benefit
immensely in ways that I am sure you might not see yourself,
from a helping hand and a bit of advice and solace in difficult
times.

Is it only about the money? That is a core question. I am
always amazed by the fact that when people make more money
or earn extra money from a second job, Her Majesty takes
more in taxes because that is how our tax system works. The
more we earn, the more we pay. When for some reason we run
out of money — job loss, handicap or illness — then before Her
Majesty helps, either through welfare, Ontario Works or others,
she has, through her civil servants, many detailed questions.
Why do we not have the money? Is it because we cannot work?
Are we handicapped? Did the plant in our little town close?
Is the farm not viable? It has always struck me that the issue
is, in terms of sitting around the family table in Canada, which
should be large enough for everyone to have a seat, about the
money. For various reasons, often through no fault of their
own, people will end up with not enough money for proper
health, food or heating.

qui peuvent les aider a réduire leur stress de tous les jours — a
prendre quelques minutes seulement pour respirer. Se réserver
quelques moments de tranquillité est tout a fait nouveau pour
elles parce que leurs besoins ont toujours passé en dernier.

Je vois I’écart de revenu se creuser. Les familles qui vivent dans
la pauvreté peuvent avoir assez de nourriture pour ne pas mourir
de faim, bien que ce ne soient pas les aliments les meilleurs et les
plus nutritifs. Elles peuvent avoir une maison, étre au chaud la
plupart du temps et donc s’en tirer assez bien sur 1’échelle
mondiale de la pauvreté. Toutefois, nous vivons au Canada et
quand nous regardons leur situation par rapport a celle du reste
de la population, le stress devient visible. Ces gens veulent la
méme chose que les autres, partir en vacances ou aller au cinéma.
Or, ils doivent songer non seulement a payer leur entrée au
cinéma, mais aussi a payer pour s’y rendre.

Le systéme économique dans lequel nous vivons crée cette
situation. Nous avons besoin que ce groupe a faible revenu qui
travaille chez Mac’s Milk et Tim Horton. Il est clair que la
structure économique doit étre corrigée.

Au nom des familles avec lesquelles je travaille, je remercie le
comité de faire cette étude. C’est extraordinaire, et j’ai déposé un
document comportant les citations des personnes que je
représente.

La présidente : Madame Prentice, vous avez dit que vous vous
adressez a des gens déja convertis. C’est vrai. Nous sommes
convertis, mais nous devons en apprendre davantage sur ces
questions. Les témoignages que nous avons entendus aujourd’hui
nous aideront dans ce sens.

Le sénateur Segal : Merci de prendre le temps de nous donner
votre point de vue et de faire le travail que vous faites pour les
personnes qui ont besoin de votre aide et qui en bénéficient
énormément, et je suis certain que vous ne voyez pas tous les
bienfaits que vous apportez — que ce soit par une main
secourable, un conseil et un peu de réconfort durant les
périodes difficiles.

Est-ce seulement un probléme d’argent? Voila une question
essentielle. Je suis toujours étonné de voir que, lorsque les gens
font plus d’argent ou occupent un deuxiéme emploi pour gagner
un peu plus, Sa Majesté préleve plus d’impot parce que c’est la
fagon dont fonctionne notre systéme fiscal. Plus nous faisons
d’argent, plus nous payons. Quand, pour une raison quelconque,
nous n’avons plus d’argent — perte d’emploi, handicap ou
maladie — avant que Sa Majesté nous vienne en aide, que ce soit
par le bien-étre social, le programme Ontario au travail, et cetera,
elle pose bien des questions détaillées, par I'intermédiaire de ses
fonctionnaires. Pourquoi n’avons-nous pas d’argent? Parce que
nous ne pouvons pas travailler? Sommes-nous handicapés?
L’usine locale a-t-elle fermé ses portes? La ferme n’est-elle pas
rentable? Je suis toujours frappé de voir que la question, que I’on
aborde autour de la table familiale du Canada, qui devrait étre
assez grande pour que chacun y ait une place, porte toujours sur
I’argent. Pour diverses raisons, souvent sans que ce ne soit de leur
faute, les gens finissent par ne pas avoir assez d’argent pour se
soigner, se nourrir ou se chauffer convenablement.
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We have a Guaranteed Income Supplement for seniors. It does
not solve the entire problem but the situation is much better than
it was for seniors 20 or 30 years ago. We have a GST tax credit for
people who earn less than $30,000 per year that provides some
help. In your client base, you see, or come into contact with, the
people that your organizations serve every day. If they had the
necessary money to meet their own needs based on the real costs
of their community, would that go a long way to solve the
problem, or are some problems about things that are more
profound than not having enough money? I am interested in your
respective perspectives on that.

Mr. Gatza: Money is part of the issue but many other
dynamics are at play. We deal with so many different personalities
with a variety of coping skills. Coping skills is one issue that
I have come across in some people who have a dysfunction.
Sometimes it is obvious and sometimes it is not so obvious. Over
the years, as I have learned to study people, I have come to the
conclusion that at times coping skills are a hindrance.

Another frequent problem is the sense of self-worth and that is
critical in many areas. I do not think there are enough support
mechanisms in place, or at least made apparent to people. The
services might be available, but not apparent to those who
need them, to help people to develop the life skills to be able
to say, “Yes, I am important: Yes, I can do this.” A system such
as welfare, for example, is generational in that the reliance
passes from one generation to the next. I do not think the
recipients consider that in general but rather they simply adapt
to the lifestyle, and that is where they find themselves stuck.

In my experience, I have learned that people feel they cannot
do it. Even though they might have an average to above-average
intelligence, they think they are caught in a trap whereby they
sense an inadequacy or a lack of importance in their ability to
handle a task, a duty or a job that could help to lift them up out of
their situation.

I call it a “lift and redemption situation” whereby a father, for
example, might get out of that cycle of impoverishment. As a
result, he becomes a more productive citizen in society and his
family members become more productive citizens in society.
Maybe it is a combination of systemic supports, demographics
and their own support systems where they grew up over the
decades. A person’s sense of self-worth is so important.

When I was in training college on Bayview Avenue in
Toronto for two years, we had on-the-job-training with
Corrections Canada. Some of the initial steps we went through
included self worth and dealing with life development skills.
These things seem to come to the forefront. How they feel about
themselves becomes evident in how they treat others. It emanates
beyond themselves.

Nous avons un Supplément de revenu garanti pour les
personnes agées. Cette mesure ne régle pas tout le probléme,
mais la situation des personnes agées est bien meilleure qu’elle ne
I’était il y a 20 ou 30 ans. Nous avons un crédit pour la TPS a
I'intention des gens qui gagnent moins de 30 000 $ par année, ce
qui apporte un certain allégement. Parmi votre clientéle, vous
voyez ou cotoyez les gens que vos organismes desservent tous les
jours. S’ils avaient l’argent nécessaire pour répondre a leurs
propres besoins, selon les coits réels dans leur communauté,
est-ce que le probléme serait réglé, ou les malaises sont-ils plus
profonds que le simple manque d’argent? J’aimerais connaitre
votre point de vue respectif sur cette question.

M. Gatza : L’argent fait partie du probléme, mais de nombreux
autres facteurs entrent en jeu. Nous avons affaire a tellement de
personnalités différentes, chacune ayant diverses habiletés
d’adaptation. Il s’agit 1a d’un probléme que je rencontre chez
certaines personnes qui ont un dysfonctionnement. Le probléme
apparait parfois clairement, mais il est parfois plus insidieux. Au
fil des années, j’ai appris a étudier les gens et j’en suis venu a la
conclusion que les habiletés d’adaptation sont parfois un obstacle.

Le manque d’estime de soi est aussi un probléme fréquent, un
probléme critique a de nombreux égards. Je ne crois pas qu’il y ait
assez de mécanismes de soutien en place, ou du moins qu’on les
fait connaitre aux gens. Les services peuvent étre disponibles, mais
on ne les fait pas connaitre a ceux qui en ont besoin, pour aider les
gens a développer leurs habiletés fondamentales pour qu’ils
puissent dire : « Oui, je suis important. Oui, je peux faire cela ».
Un systéme comme celui du bien-étre social, par exemple, est
générationnel, en ce sens que la dépendance se transmet d’une
génération a I’autre. Je ne crois pas que les bénéficiaires y songent
de facon générale, mais ils s’adaptent plutét au mode de vie, et
c’est la ou ils se retrouvent coincés.

Par expérience, j’ai appris que les gens ont le sentiment de ne
pas étre capables. Méme lorsqu’ils ont une intelligence moyenne
ou supérieure a la moyenne, ils croient étre pris dans un piége ou
ils sentent une inaptitude ou un manque d’importance, ou ils se
sentent incapables de remplir une tache ou d’occuper un emploi
qui pourrait les sortir de leur situation.

Je vois 1a une situation de rédemption lorsqu’un pére, par
exemple, peut se sortir de ce cycle de pauvreté. Il devient alors un
citoyen plus productif dans la société, et les membres de sa famille
le deviennent aussi. C’est peut-&tre une combinaison de soutiens
systémiques, de facteurs démographiques ainsi que leurs propres
systémes de soutien dans lesquels ils ont grandi au fil des années.
L’estime de soi est si importante.

Lorsque j’étais au collége de I’avenue Bayview, a Toronto,
pendant deux ans, nous avions une formation en milieu de
travail avec le Service correctionnel du Canada. Les étapes
initiales que nous avons vues comportaient notamment 1’estime
de soi et les habiletés fondamentales. Ces choses semblent étre
a l’avant-plan. La maniére dont ils se percoivent se répercute
dans la maniére dont ils traitent les autres. Ce sentiment est
projeté au-dela d’eux-mémes.
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Ms. Baril: It is not always only about the money. If we threw
money at the problems of people who are trapped in poverty it
would not solve the problems. We have been looking at the root
causes of why individuals are where they are in their lives, and we
do not have all the answers. No one will have all the answers
surrounding poverty. We are looking seriously at the root causes
to see why people in different communities are where they are.
Throwing money at the problem will not solve many of the issues
that we are experiencing. If the golden nugget could solve
everyone’s problems, then we would have been able to do it a
long time ago.

We have much more work to do, particularly in the rural
environment. Leeds and Grenville is classified as 95 per cent
rural. We have a huge issue all across Leeds and Grenville
counties and with a population of 100,000, we find ourselves
dealing with some significant issues. It will take a great deal of
collaboration and teamwork to help lift some people out of the
situations they are in. They need a hand up, rather than a
handout.

Ms. Prentice: Money is not the total issue but I find that it
alleviates much of the stress. It is great when they know they can
pay their bills, buy groceries, pay the rent and even do the
laundry, which can add up to $40 per month if they use a coin
wash; and that is not calculated into expenses.

If we can reduce stress by providing enough money on
which to survive, then people will be able to work on the next
step, and self-worth is a huge part of that.

Senator Mercer: Thank you for the work that you do in the
communities. It is obviously important and vital.

Ms. Baril, the Community Matters program is funded partially
by the Ontario Trillium Foundation. Trillium funding, if I recall,
is limited to one year — or up to three years, depending on the
program. What happens to Community Matters when Trillium
funding stops?

Ms. Baril: We are hoping that Community Matters will
continue. The project is set to complete itself on June 30, 2007.
We have already started talking to the Ontario Trillium
Foundation about where we go from here.

My hope is that the next proposal will involve another three
years of funding. The grant we were fortunate enough to obtain
was a province-wide grant, based on the collaborative work we
had pulled together. The Ontario Trillium Foundation was not
sure we could accomplish a group of 17 United Ways working
together, but they are pleased with the results. They are looking
forward to the results we will provide for them.

The United Ways that are part of my collaborative work are in
all parts of the province, serving the rural environment. The
results we have been able to achieve will become important

Mme Baril : Ce n’est pas toujours une simple question
d’argent. Méme si on injectait de l’argent pour régler les
problémes des gens qui sont pris au piége de la pauvreté, on ne
réglerait pas tout. Nous nous sommes penchés sur les causes
profondes qui expliquent pourquoi les personnes se trouvent
la ou elles sont dans leur vie, et nous n’avons pas toutes les
réponses. Personne n’aura toutes les réponses a la pauvreté. Nous
examinons sérieusement les causes profondes pour voir pourquoi
les gens dans différentes communautés sont la ou ils sont. Il ne
suffira pas d’injecter de ’argent pour régler tous les problémes
que nous observons. Si ’argent pouvait régler les problemes de
tout le monde, nous aurions pu le faire il y a longtemps.

Il reste encore beaucoup de travail a faire, en particulier dans le
milieu rural. Leeds et Grenville est considérée comme une région
rurale a 95 p. 100. Nous avons un probléme énorme dans tous les
comtés et, avec une population de 100 000 habitants, nous devons
composer avec des enjeux importants. Il faudra des efforts de
collaboration et un travail d’équipe extraordinaire pour aider
certaines personnes a sortir de la situation dans laquelle elles se
trouvent. Elles ont besoin d’un coup de main plutét que d’un
coup d’argent.

Mme Prentice : L’argent n’est pas tout, mais je trouve qu’il
atténue le stress. C’est bon de savoir qu’on peut payer les factures,
faire I’épicerie, payer le loyer et méme faire le lavage, qui peut
représenter des frais de 40 § par mois si on utilise une buanderie;
et ce n’est pas calculé dans les dépenses.

Si nous pouvons réduire le stress en fournissant assez d’argent
pour assurer la subsistance, alors les gens pourront passer a
I’étape suivante, et I’estime de soi joue un réle important a cet
égard.

Le sénateur Mercer : Je vous remercie du travail que vous faites
dans les communautés. Il est certes important et vital.

Madame Baril, le programme Community Matters est financé
en partie par la Fondation Trillium de I’Ontario. Si ma mémoire
est bonne, le financement assuré par Trillium est limité a une
année — ou peut aller jusqu’a trois ans, selon le programme.
Qu’arrivera-t-il au programme Community Matters lorsque ce
financement cessera?

Mme Baril : Nous espérons que le programme sera maintenu.
Le projet devrait étre terminé le 30 juin 2007. Nous avons déja
entrepris des pourparlers avec la Fondation Trillium de ’Ontario
pour la suite des choses.

Jespére que la prochaine proposition comportera trois autres
années de financement. La subvention que nous avons cue la
chance d’obtenir était une subvention a I’échelle provinciale,
fondée sur le travail de collaboration que nous avons établi. La
Fondation Trillium de I’Ontario n’était pas certaine que nous
pouvions amener 17 organismes Centraide-United Way a
travailler ensemble, mais elle a été ravie des résultats obtenus.
Elle attend avec impatience les résultats que nous allons lui
fournir.

Les groupes de Centraide qui font partie de mon groupe
de coordination sont partout dans la province et desservent
le milieu rural. Les résultats que nous avons pu obtenir
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information for the Ontario Trillium Foundation when it comes
to future grants. The United Way of Canada is interested in our
process as well. We are seeing the Community Matters project
replicated across Canada in many of our provinces.

Senator Mercer: I have asked this question a number of times
of groups such as the United Way and the Salvation Army, as
well. You are located in towns. I appreciate that you must be
located physically somewhere; I have worked for United Way
agencies in my career, so I understand the process. However, it
seems to me that to reach out from the towns to rural areas is a
challenge for the United Way — and for all churches, but, in
particular, the Salvation Army.

How do you do that? You cannot have an office in every small
hamlet in Leeds and Grenville, or in Perth and Lanark counties.
How do you address this issue?

I am concerned that people see the United Way, Salvation
Army and other agencies as the solution, but the solution only
happens in the towns. That young woman with two children living
down that dirt road is not being serviced.

Ms. Baril: 1 appreciate those comments. Our United Way
funds 28 organizations all across Leeds and Grenville. I am proud
to say there is not one community across the two counties where
there is not some sort of program or service happening on a daily
basis that is funded by the United Way through the agencies that
we support.

Some of those services are quiet services. They may happen as a
result of someone perhaps working for the Canadian National
Institute for the Blind, CNIB, that helps counsel or teach
someone who is losing their sight in how they can achieve a
high standard of living through CNIB support. It could be
through Big Brothers or Big Sisters having one of their matches
in one of the communities. We are everywhere across Leeds
and Grenville, in every single community, and we are proud
of that.

Some of my agencies’ offices might be based in Brockuville,
but their outreach is amazing and they are doing a better job
each day. Last year, they served 29,000 clients. In a population
of 96,000 people in Leeds and Grenville, to have programs and
services offered through funding from United Way programs
and services to 29,000 people is truly amazing and they are
doing an amazing job. We are proud of the work they are
doing.

Mr. Gatza: If someone lives in a rural community and they
want help, they may be aware we are there. They contact us
directly and we make arrangements for them to come to us,
in this case, in Brockville. Frequently too, people will contact
other agencies who will say, we cannot help you with that
but we know the Salvation Army can, so they refer the people
looking for help to us. Working with the other agencies
works well.

comporteront d’importants renseignements pour la Fondation
Trillium de 1’Ontario, pour l'octroi de subventions futures.
Centraide Canada s’intéresse aussi a notre processus. Nous
voyons reproduire le projet Community Matters partout au
pays, dans une grande partie de nos provinces.

Le sénateur Mercer : J’ai posé cette question a plusieurs
reprises a des groupes comme Centraide et '’Armée du Salut.
Vous avez vos bureaux dans des villes. Je peux comprendre que
vous deviez avoir des bureaux quelque part; j’ai travaillé pour des
organismes de Centraide dans ma carriere, alors je sais comment
cela se passe. Il me semble que I'offre de services aux régions
rurales a partir des villes pose un défi a Centraide — et a toutes les
églises, mais en particulier a ’Armée du Salut.

Comment faites-vous? Vous ne pouvez avoir de bureaux dans
tous les petits villages des comtés de Leeds et Grenville, ou de
Perth et Lanark. Comment faites-vous?

Ce qui me préoccupe, c’est qu’'on a tendance a voir dans
Centraide, I’Armée du Salut et d’autres organismes une solution,
mais la solution n’existe que dans les villes. La jeune femme et ses
deux enfants qui vivent au bout de ce chemin de terre ne regoivent
pas de services.

Mme Baril : J’apprécie ces commentaires. Notre groupe de
Centraide finance 28 organisations dans les comtés de Leeds et
Grenville. Je suis heureuse de pouvoir dire qu’il n’y a pas une
seule communauté dans ces deux comtés qui n’a pas un
programme ou un service quelconque, fourni quotidiennement,
et financé par Centraide par le biais des organismes que nous
appuyons.

Certains de ces services sont discrets. Ils peuvent étre fournis
par quelqu’un qui, peut-étre, travaille pour I'Institut national
canadien pour les aveugles, 'INCA, qui conseille ou renseigne
quelqu’un qui perd la vue sur les moyens d’avoir un bon niveau de
vie, grace a 'appui de 'INCA. Ce peut étre par I'entremise des
services sociaux Grand fréres et Grandes sceurs qui auraient
des organismes correspondants dans I'une des communautés.
Nous sommes partout dans le comté de Leeds et Grenville, dans
chacune des communautés, et nous en sommes fiers.

Méme si certains bureaux de mes organismes sont situés a
Brockville, ils ont un rayonnement étonnant, et ils font plus
chaque jour. L’année derniére, ils ont desservi 29 000 clients.
Sur une population de 96 000 habitants des comtés de Leeds
et Grenville, il est absolument impressionnant d’offrir des
programmes et des services a 29 000 personnes, grace au
financement des programmes de Centraide, et ils font un travail
impressionnant. Nous sommes fiers de ce qu’ils font.

M. Gatza : Une personne qui vit dans une communauté rurale
qui a besoin d’aide connait peut-étre notre existence. Elle
communique directement avec nous, et nous prenons des
dispositions pour qu’elle puisse venir nous voir, dans ce cas-ci, a
Brockville. Il arrive souvent, aussi, que les gens communiquent
avec d’autres organismes qui leur diront nous ne pouvons vous
aider avec ceci, mais nous savons que ’Armée du Salut le peut,
alors on nous envoie les gens qui ont besoin d’aide. Il est bon aussi
de travailler avec d’autres organismes.
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An ongoing concern of mine is, how do we make ourselves
more available to those in the rural community so we are there for
them? It goes back to other issues I addressed in my opening
remarks about people wanting to be independent and to also
have that sense of pride.

The same concern goes as well for the working poor.
People who receive assistance, sometimes they are on social
assistance and so forth, seem to be better off than those who are
trying to work and are receiving the minimum wage. They have
trouble making ends meet. Those people almost fall in the same
category. They want to be independent and they are too proud to
come to us.

I have had people say, this is the first time I have ever had to do
this. They feel awkward and out of place. I say, do not worry, this
is why we are here, to help, and I am glad you came to us.

The question is how to get that message out more, and not only
at Christmastime. It gets out at Christmastime when people apply
for Christmas hampers and toys for the children. A fair number of
people come at that time of year. Then, throughout the year, a
minimum number of people come for help. We may average six to
10 people or families a week. It is a small number compared to
what we get at Christmastime, when they look for special help in
trying to meet the family’s needs for Christmas.

That is how it works for us. Hopefully, we can develop a way,
when I have spent more time in the area, to reach out to people.
At present, as I mentioned, it works through referrals and, if
people are already aware, they contact us directly.

Senator Mercer: Ms. Prentice, you mentioned nurse
practitioners. We have heard this service mentioned in several
communities. It is becoming so important in small, rural
communities.

They hired a new nurse practitioner in North Lanark. How
many patients can she handle? There is only so much one nurse
practitioner can do.

Ms. Prentice: I do not know if Ms. Bergman is still here from
the CRCHC in Portland, but she might be able to answer that
question better than I can.

I know that this nurse practitioner works three days a week for
families with children, because her funding comes from the Early
Years stream, which are families with children under six. Then she
works one day a week for the general North Lanark population:
That is only for people who live in the Lanark Highlands. I have
no idea how many people she would see.

Senator Mercer: Could you use more?

Une chose qui me préoccupe toujours, c’est comment nous
rendre plus accessibles aux habitants de communautés rurales,
pour que nous puissions les aider quand ils en ont besoin? C’est lié
aux autres problémes dont jai parlé dans mes observations
préliminaires, a propos des gens qui tiennent a leur indépendance
et qui ont aussi cet orgueil.

C’est pareil pour les pauvres qui travaillent. Les bénéficiaires
de l'aide, qui regoivent parfois de l'aide sociale et d’autres
prestations, semblent mieux vivre que ceux qui essaient de
travailler et sont payés le salaire minimum. Ils ont du mal a
joindre les deux bouts. Ces gens tombent presque dans la méme
catégorie. Ils veulent étre indépendants, et ils ont trop d’orgueil
pour faire appel a nous.

Il y en a qui me disent c’est la premiére fois que je suis obligé de
faire ¢a. Ils sont mal a laise, génés. Je dis ne vous inquiétez pas,
c’est pour ¢a que nous sommes ici, pour vous aider, et je suis
heureux que vous soyez venu nous Vvoir.

La question, c’est de savoir comment diffuser encore plus
largement le message, et pas seulement pendant le temps des
Fétes. Il est diffusé a Noél, quand on regoit des demandes de
paniers de Noél et de jouets pour les enfants. On voit pas mal de
gens a cette période de ’année. Et puis, tout le reste de I'année,
c’est un nombre minimal de personnes qui font appel a I’aide.
C’est en moyenne six a dix personnes ou familles par semaine.
C’est peu comparativement au nombre de demandes qu’on recoit
pendant les Fétes, quand les gens recherchent une aide spéciale,
pour essayer de répondre aux besoins de la famille a Noél.

C’est ainsi que cela se passe pour nous. Nous espérons pouvoir
trouver un moyen, quand j’aurai passé plus de temps dans le
secteur, d’atteindre les gens. Pour I'instant, comme je I’ai dit, c’est
par voie de référence, et ceux qui nous connaissent déja
communiquent avec nous directement.

Le sénateur Mercer : Madame Prentice, vous avez parlé
d’infirmiéres praticiennes. Nous avons entendu parler de ce
service qui est offert dans plusieurs communautés. Il revét une
importance de plus en plus grande dans les petites communautés
rurales.

Ils ont embauché une nouvelle infirmiére praticienne a North
Lanark. Combien de patients peut-elle traiter? Une personne ne
peut en traiter a elle seule quun nombre limité.

Mme Prentice : Je ne sais pas si Mme Bergman, du Centre de
santé communautaire Country Roads de Portland, est encore
ici mais elle pourrait peut-étre répondre mieux que moi a cette
question.

Je sais que cette infirmiére praticienne travaille trois jours par
semaine auprés des familles qui ont des enfants, parce que son
financement provient du volet de la petite enfance, axé sur les
familles qui ont des enfants de moins de six ans. Elle travaille
aussi un jour par semaine pour la population générale de North
Lanark : c’est-a-dire seulement pour les gens qui vivent dans la
région de Lanark Highlands. Je n’ai aucune idée du nombre de
personnes qu’elle peut voir.

Le sénateur Mercer : Est-ce qu’il vous en faudrait plus?
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Ms. Prentice: Yes, we are eagerly awaiting a satellite
community health centre that is opening in Smiths Falls,
because that nurse practitioner now also serves Smiths Falls.
When that centre opens, hopefully that will free her. It is the
same with our social workers attached to the community health
centres: All the supports are highly needed.

Senator Callbeck: Thank you for coming this morning.
I commend you on the great work that you do.

Mr. Gatza, you mentioned that you see few rural poor people.
Is it easier for a poor person to go to a government office for
social assistance than it is to go to the Salvation Army, or do they
not go there either?

Mr. Gatza: In some cases, | think people go to their caseworker
for social services. On occasion, people say they have gone to
them and presented their dilemma, and there is so much that the
caseworker can do for them as well. However, I do not find it is
prevalent. I find that is an exception to the norm.

In Brockville, people go to so many agencies and churches —
I am not sure what their statistics are — so they have that route
as well. People come not only to us for help, but to the other
churches and agencies. I do not think the majority of people
do, but that is available. Some go through that cycle as well.
I think they are more inclined to go that route than through
their caseworker or social worker.

Senator Callbeck: I come from P.E.I., and I think they would
feel much more comfortable going to the Salvation Army than to
the government.

You talked about self-worth. What do we do about that?

Mr. Gatza: 1 know there are different support groups. You
see them in the paper all the time — anxiety disorder groups
and those who may be going through other issues as well.
How we deal with that issue is a growing dilemma because people
do not always say, here I am, I need your help. That issue is
ongoing.

How do we reach people who should receive support and they
do not want it? It is a personal choice of the individual. How do
you get to those people?

The only off-the-cuff solution I can think of is perhaps
having more meetings in the community to address these issues:
brainstorming and opening it up to the general public. People
will come in and we will have the attention of some of them;
they will not go directly to us, but they will be curious and
will come to the group, the community or the town meeting
and listen to what is available. Through that process, people
will be more inclined to go to the agency or the support
group for the support they need. If the groups advertised
themselves more in the various communities, especially in

Mme Prentice : Oui, nous attendons avec impatience
l'ouverture a Smiths Falls d’un centre de santé communautaire
satellite, parce que cette infirmiére praticienne dessert aussi
maintenant la région de Smiths Falls. Nous espérons que
I'ouverture de ce centre la libérera un peu. Il en est de méme
avec nos travailleurs sociaux qui sont rattachés au centre de santé
communautaire : toute I’aide que nous recevons est indispensable.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Merci d’étre venus ce matin. Je vous
félicite pour 'excellent travail que vous faites.

Monsieur Gatza, vous avez dit voir peu de gens pauvres dans
les régions rurales. Est-il plus facile pour un pauvre d’aller a un
bureau du gouvernement pour obtenir de I'aide sociale que de
s’adresser a I'Armée du Salut, ou est-ce qu’ils ne vont ni a I'un ni a
lautre?

M. Gatza : Dans certains cas, je pense qu’ils s’adressent au
travailleur social chargé de leur dossier pour obtenir des services
sociaux. Il arrive que certains disent s’étre adressés a eux et leur
avoir présenté leur probléme, mais le travailleur social peut aussi
faire beaucoup pour eux. Cependant, je ne pense pas que ce soit
trés répandu. Je trouve que c’est plutdt 'exception que la norme.

A Brockville, il y a tellement d’organismes et d’églises auxquels
on peut faire appel — je ne connais pas exactement les statistiques
— alors il y a aussi cette possibilité. On ne s’adresse pas qu’a nous
pour obtenir de I’aide, mais aussi aux autres églises et organismes.
Je ne pense pas que la majorité des gens le fassent, mais c’est
possible. Il y en a qui passent par ce cycle aussi. Je pense qu’ils
sont plus portés a suivre cette voie qu’a s’adresser a leur

travailleur social.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Je viens de I’fle-du-Prince-Edouard, et je
pense qu’ils seraient plus a I’aise pour faire appel a ’Armée du
Salut qu’au gouvernement.

Vous avez parlé d’estime de soi. Que faisons-nous a ce sujet?

M. Gatza : Je sais qu’il existe divers groupes de soutien. Les
journaux en parlent tout le temps — des groupes pour les troubles
de P’anxiété et pour les personnes qui vivent d’autres types de
problémes. Il est de plus en plus difficile de faire face a ces
problémes, parce que ceux qui les ont ne disent pas toujours me
voici, j’ai besoin de votre aide. C’est un défi constant.

Comment pouvons-nous atteindre ceux qui devraient recevoir
de l'aide et qui n’en veulent pas? C’est un choix personnel de
chacun. Comment parvenir a atteindre ces gens-1a?

La seule solution a laquelle je puisse penser au pied levé est
peut-étre d’avoir plus de réunions dans la communauté pour
traiter de ces enjeux : une espece de remue-méninges ouvert au
grand public. Les membres de la population viendront et nous
retiendrons l’attention de certains; ils ne viendront pas
directement vers nous, mais leur curiosité sera piquée et ils
viendront a la réunion, au centre communautaire ou a la mairie,
et écouteront les possibilités offertes. Par ce moyen, la population
aura plus tendance a s’adresser a I'organisme ou au groupe
de soutien pour demander le soutien qui lui est nécessaire.
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smaller communities like this one, that advertising may open the
door for people to come for the support they need.

Senator Callbeck: Do you think government has a role to play
there?

Mr. Gatza: 1 would say so. I am not sure to what level or
scale, maybe all the levels — municipal, provincial and federal.
I think they do to a certain degree, at least to promote that
train of thought and to inspire people to be more involved in
that area. They need to advertise themselves and make themselves
more available to people rather than only putting a notice in
the paper or maybe a monthly bulletin that may go to certain
communities and not all of them.

Senator Callbeck: Do the other witnesses have anything
to add?

Ms. Prentice: We work with a hard-to-serve population that
does not want service. I work in their homes; they have to invite
me into their house.

We find it is a relationship-based approach. We run groups
and they do not come to our groups until they know us. I run a
yoga-based group and I phone them on the morning of the group
to remind them to come. I drive them and will even take their
child to the child care provider if they need that to come to the

group.

Putting an ad in the paper does not work for that population.
The more service they need, the less they will access. Those of us
who are already thinking that way will access those kinds of focus
groups.

I think the approach needs to be relationship-based — the
church member they are a friend of, for example. Someone brings
them to a service or lets them know about it or has used a service.
The more people in the community that know of services, the
better it is.

Ms. Baril: One thing we discovered during our community
consultations is that communication in the rural environment is a
huge issue. There are not a lot of opportunities. As Ms. Prentice
said, an ad in the paper talking about a program does not always
work. People living in poverty cannot afford to buy a paper.
There are issues surrounding that approach.

Communication is the biggest way to bring people into the
programs to help build self-esteem. One thing we have discovered,
even through our community conversations, is that we have
been enabling people to help talk about the things that would
make a difference in their lives. Then service providers that
are part of that process as well are realizing they have an
obligation to deliver some of those things back to those rural
communities.

Si les groupes faisaient plus leur propre publicité dans les
diverses communautés, particuliérement dans les plus petites
communautés comme celle-ci, cette publicité pourrait ouvrir la
porte et inciter ceux qui en ont besoin a venir demander de 'aide.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Pensez-vous que le gouvernement y ait
un réle a jouer?

M. Gatza : A mon avis, oui. Je ne suis pas sir dans quelle
mesure ou a quel niveau, peut-étre a tous les niveaux —
municipal, provincial et fédéral. Je pense qu’ils le font dans une
certaine mesure, au moins pour promouvoir ce mode de pensée,
et inspirer les groupes a plus s’engager dans ce domaine. Ils ont
besoin de faire leur propre publicité, et de se rendre plus
disponible pour la population, plutét que de seulement publier
un avis dans un journal ou peut-étre un bulletin mensuel qui peut
étre diffusé dans certaines communautés, mais pas d’autres.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Est-ce que les autres témoins ont
quelque chose a ajouter?

Mme Prentice : Nous travaillons avec une population difficile a
servir, qui ne veut pas de service. Je travaille dans leur foyer; ils
doivent m’y inviter.

Nous trouvons que c’est une approche fondée sur la relation.
Nous avons des groupes, et ils ne s’intéressent pas a nos groupes
tant qu’ils ne nous connaissent pas. J’ai un groupe de yoga, et je
téléphone le matin de la séance aux participantes, pour leur
rappeler de venir. Je les conduis, et il m’arrive méme de conduire
leur enfant chez la gardienne si c’est ce qu’il faut pour les faire
participer a la séance.

Une annonce dans le journal ne sert a rien pour cette
population. Plus le besoin de services est grand, moins il y a
d’accés. Ceux d’entre nous qui pensent déja ainsi passeront par
ce genre de groupes de réflexion.

Je pense que I'approche doit étre fondée sur la relation — le
membre d’une église qui est leur ami, par exemple. Quelqu'un les
ameéne a un service, ou les renseigne sur ce service, ou a eu recours
a ce service. Plus il y en a dans la communauté qui connaissent les
services, mieux c’est.

Mme Baril : Une chose que nous avons découverte, lors des
consultations communautaires, c’est que la communication dans
le milieu rural pose un énorme probléme. Il n’y a pas beaucoup de
possibilités. Comme le disait Mme Prentice, un entrefilet dans le
journal pour annoncer un programme n’est pas toujours efficace.
Les gens qui vivent dans la pauvreté n’ont pas les moyens
d’acheter le journal. Cette approche pose probléme.

La communication est le meilleur moyen d’encourager la
participation aux programmes, pour stimuler I’estime de soi. [y a
une chose que nous avons découverte, méme dans le cadre de nos
dialogues communautaires, c’est que nous avons habilité les gens
a parler de choses qui contribueraient a faire une différence dans
leur vie. Alors, les fournisseurs de services qui font partie de ce
processus aussi réalisent qu’ils ont une obligation de créer ce genre
d’occasions dans les communautés rurales.
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In the early 1990s, a lot of my agencies provided outreach to
communities and then pulled back due to lack of funding. They
are going back to rural communities now to provide that
outreach. That has a huge impact on helping people build their
self-esteem, coming out to programs designed and developed
specifically for their needs.

Senator Callbeck: Ms. Baril, I want to ask about volunteers
because United Way has a lot of volunteers. We hear about
some areas in rural Canada where volunteers are burning out,
one of the reasons being that the older people tend to stay in
rural areas and the youth leave for jobs, education, et cetera.

What do we do about this? How do we reverse that trend in
these areas where the volunteers are burnt out or feeling they have
had enough?

Ms. Baril: We mobilize the largest group of volunteers in
Leeds and Grenville to enable us to do our campaign on an
annual basis. We are happy with the work they do. They do a
phenomenal job. However, you are right. People have a tendency
to do the job over and over again and they burn out.

Going back to the root cause, why people do not volunteer
as much as they could, we have developed a program called
Caring for Others, where we go into the fourth grade and talk
to children about what they can do even at age 8, 9 and 10 to
make a difference in their community.

We try to sow the seeds of volunteerism in children that young
so when they reach high school, they can take part in the
wonderful programs that are there to help them volunteer and to
engage them in their community. We try to sow the seeds as early
as possible. It does not matter how old they are. They can make a
difference by helping someone next door, across the street or in
the classroom environment.

We hope those seeds of wanting to make a difference in their
community will grow. When they reach high school and those
agencies take over the responsibility of placing these young
people, we hope it will make a difference. We think it already has.

Senator Callbeck: I am sure it has. That is a great idea.

Ms. Prentice, how many families do you work with? You say
you must be invited in by the family. How does this come about?

Ms. Prentice: Our program has different aspects to it. Part
of it is a prenatal nutrition program. They go to a group with
a dietician, a public health nurse and those kinds of supports. They
are given a food voucher. When we started, they were
given a bag of milk, fresh vegetables and produce. We found
it easier to give them a gift certificate for their local grocery store.

Et au début des années 1990, un grand nombre de mes
organismes ont offert un service d’approche dans les
communautés, et y ont renoncé en raison du manque de
financement. Ils retournent maintenant dans les communautés
rurales pour fournir a nouveau ce service. Il a eu un effet énorme
en aidant les gens a accroitre leur estime de soi et en les poussant a
participer a des programmes congus et prévus spécifiquement
pour eux.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Madame Baril, j’aimerais vous
interroger au sujet des bénévoles, parce que Centraide en a
beaucoup. Nous entendons parler de certaines régions rurales du
Canada ou les bénévoles sont épuisés, et une des raisons a cela
serait que les personnes agées ont tendance a rester dans les
régions rurales, tandis que les jeunes partent a la recherche
d’emploi, pour faire des études, et ainsi de suite.

Que faisons-nous a ce sujet? Comment inverser cette tendance
dans ces régions ou les bénévoles sont épuisés ou ont I'impression
d’étre au bout de leur rouleau?

Mme Baril : Nous mobilisons le plus vaste groupe de bénévoles
dans les comtés de Leeds et Grenville pour nous permettre de
mener notre campagne sur une base annuelle. Nous apprécions
beaucoup leur apport. Ils font un travail phénoménal. Cependant,
vous avez raison. Ils tendent a devoir recommencer encore et
encore le méme travail, et ils finissent par étre épuisés.

Si on revient a la cause fondamentale, pourquoi les gens ne font
pas autant de bénévolat qu’ils le pourraient, nous avons congu un
programme appelé Aider les autres, par lequel nous allons dans
les classes de quatriéme année parler aux enfants de ce qu’ils
peuvent faire a 8, 9 et 10 ans pour faire une différence dans leur
communauté.

Nous essayons de semer le germe du bénévolat chez les enfants
de cet age pour que lorsqu’ils arrivent au secondaire, ils puissent
participer aux merveilleux programmes qui existent pour les
inciter a faire du bénévolat et a s’engager dans leur communauté.
Nous essayons de semer ce germe le plus tot possible dans leur vie.
Quel que soit leur age, ils peuvent faire une différence en aidant
un voisin d’a c6té ou d’en face, ou dans le milieu scolaire.

Nous espérons voir s’épanouir ces germes de volonté de faire
une différence dans leur communauté. Quand ils atteignent le
secondaire, et ces organismes se chargent de placer ces jeunes
gens, nous espérons que cela fera une différence. Nous pensons
que c’est déja fait.

Le sénateur Callbeck : J’en suis stre. C’est une excellente idée.

Madame Prentice, avec combien de familles travaillez-vous?
Vous dites devoir étre invitée dans les familles. Comment cela se
fait-i1?

Mme Prentice : Notre programme comporte divers aspects. Il y
a un élément de programme de nutrition prénatale. Les femmes
vont en groupe voir une diététicienne, une infirmiére de la santé
publique, et ce type de soutien. On leur donne un bon alimentaire.
Quand nous avons commencé, on leur donnait un sac de lait, des
légumes et des fruits frais. Nous avons trouvé plus facile de leur
donner un certificat pour acheter des aliments a leur épicerie locale.
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They have come under the program with support and some real
help. Then they hear about our other programs and choose to be
involved, or not.

We also work in conjunction with the public health nurses.
They have the Healthy Babies Healthy Children program.
In Lanark County, connections workers are the ones who do
the in-home support. We meet the families when they first come
home from the hospital that way.

We are not threatening and we are supportive. We look for
positives and try to support the families so they will continue
with services and then attend our groups. At the groups, they
meet other families in similar situations so it ends the isolation
a bit. They are not the only ones suffering this way or struggling
to pay the rent.

Senator Callbeck: Do most families invite you in?

Ms. Prentice: As I say, people with the highest needs do not.
There are people who like their privacy and do not want anyone in
their house. We always struggle to find ways to assist them more.
Hopefully, if nothing else, we can bring them into the prenatal
nutrition program so there is a positive outcome for the baby.

Senator Callbeck: You mentioned mental health problems. We
completed a report a year ago on mental health. What mental
health services are available to your clientele?

Ms. Prentice: I try to help them access our mental health
services. The community health centres have a social worker for
families with children under the age of six. Several of my families
access that counselling, and we have Lanark County Mental
Health. I have made referrals there as well, and some families
continue accessing that.

Senator Losier-Cool: 1 have a quick question, only to
Ms. Prentice. What is the average size of the families you see?

Ms. Prentice: For most families, the average size is two. The
families I work with, which are a small percentage of our whole
program, mostly have two children. I have had some families with
four and some with one. A lot of twins have been born in the last
year in Lanark County. I do not know what is going on with the
well water there, but there are a lot of twins.

Senator Losier-Cool: There is a larger population?
Ms. Prentice: There have been a lot of twins this past year.

Senator Losier-Cool: That is interesting because I am checking
on New Brunswick twins also.

The Chairman: We will now split and have a 10-minute health
break. We need to be quick, so we can do everything.

Elles ont été intégrées au programme avec du soutien et une
aide réelle. Ensuite, elles entendent parler d’autres programmes et
choisissent d’y participer ou pas.

Nous travaillons aussi en collaboration avec les infirmiéres
en santé publique. Elles ont un programme Bébés en santé,
enfants en santé. Dans le comté de Lanark, ce sont les agents de
communication qui offrent le soutien a domicile. C’est ainsi que
nous rencontrons les familles dés le retour de ’hopital.

Nous ne présentons aucune menace, et nous offrons un
soutien. Nous cherchons les aspects positifs et essayons
d’appuyer les familles pour qu’elles puissent continuer a
bénéficier des services et assister a nos activités de groupes.
Dans le cadre de ces activités, elles rencontrent d’autres familles
dont la situation est similaire a la leur, et cela met un peu fin a leur
isolement. Elles ne sont pas les seules a souffrir ainsi, ou a avoir
de la difficulté a payer le loyer.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Est-ce que la plupart des familles vous
invitent chez elles?

Mme Prentice : Comme je le disais, celles qui en ont le plus
grand besoin ne le font pas. Il y a des gens qui protégent leur vie
privée et ne veulent personne dans leur maison. Nous avons
toujours du mal a trouver des moyens de les aider un peu plus.
Nous espérons, méme si c’est la seule chose, pouvoir les intégrer
au programme de nutrition prénatale pour qu’il y ait des résultats
positifs pour le bébé.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Vous avez parlé de problemes de santé
mentale. Nous avons remis un rapport sur la santé mentale, il y a
un an. Quels services de santé mentale sont offerts a votre
clientele?

Mme Prentice : J’essaie de les aider & accéder a nos services de
santé mentale. Le centre de santé communautaire a un travailleur
social pour les familles qui ont des enfants de moins de six ans.
Plusieurs de mes familles ont accés a ce type de counselling, et
nous avons le Lanark County Mental Health. Je leur ai envoyé
plusieurs personnes, et certaines familles continuent de recourir a
leurs services.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : J’ai une question, rapidement,
seulement pour Mme Prentice. Quelle est la taille moyenne des
familles que vous voyez?

Mme Prentice : La plupart des familles ont en moyenne deux
enfants. Les familles avec lesquelles je travaille, qui ne sont qu’un
faible pourcentage de I’ensemble de notre programme ont, pour la
plupart, deux enfants. J’ai eu des familles de quatre enfants, et
d’autres avec un seul enfant. Beaucoup de jumeaux sont nés
I’année derniére dans le comté de Lanark. Je ne sais pas ce qu’il y
a dans I’eau du puits la-bas, mais il y a beaucoup de jumeaux.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : 11 y a une plus vaste population?
Mme Prentice : Beaucoup de jumeaux sont nés ’année derniére.

Le sénateur Losier-Cool : C’est intéressant, parce que je
constate qu’il y en a pas mal au Nouveau-Brunswick aussi.

La présidente : Nous allons faire une pause-santé de
10 minutes. Nous devrons nous dépécher, pour pouvoir tout faire.
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Our next panel is a formidable bunch. This panel is the third
one this morning. I apologize if I mispronounce a name or two.
We have Geri Kamenz, President and Chairman of the Board of
the Ontario Federation of Agriculture, OFA; Adrian Wynands,
Regional Director and President of the Grenville Federation of
Agriculture, OFA; Bill French, President of the Leeds Federation
of Agriculture, OFA; and Yuergen Beck and Jane Monaghan,
who are both here as individuals. Welcome, everyone.

Geri Kamenz, President and Chairman of the Board, Ontario
Federation of Agriculture: Good morning and thank you for
providing this opportunity.

Senator Fairbairn, like many of us in agriculture, I wear a
number of different hats. The last time I had the opportunity to
see you, it was in your area, Lethbridge, at the sugar beet annual a
year or so ago, and it was on environmental issues.

Senator Segal: I am glad you will not get the senator going on
sugar beets because we will be done. We do not have time.

Mr. Kamenz: We will say that sugar beets are a real success
story that we need to keep our eye on.

The Chairman: This is great. Keep it up. You are absolutely
right, though. It is a special industry in this country and it, too, is
under siege. There are people out there who are very much like
people here — on the edge.

Mr. Kamenz: Nonetheless, out there I was wearing my other
hat, which is chair of the environmental science committee of the
Canadian Federation of Agriculture.

My comments will be brief, and obviously through the lens of
those of us that are not only food providers anymore but are
positioning ourselves as the providers of food, energy and a
basket of ecological goods and services. I think part of the
solution lies in that basket of ecological goods and services.

I know it is easy to appear negative about the problem you
are trying to deal with. However, I reflect back on a meeting
I had with Premier McGuinty a week or so ago before the
budget. He said to me, it is not for us, with the responsibilities
we have, to despair but to provide hope. This problem is a
serious dilemma in rural Canada and rural Ontario, but
I will approach it because I do think we have the capacity,
the tools and the resources necessary to solve a great deal of
this problem.

I will throw out something right off the bat because I know
it is making its way through a number of discussion circles at
your level and other levels. It is simply this: I think a guaranteed
farm income is abject failure. It will do more to create a welfare
state than resolve the issue of rural poverty.

Notre groupe de témoins suivant est formidable. C’est le troisiéme
groupe ce matin. Vous me pardonnerez si j’écorche un ou deux
noms. Nous avons Geri Kamenz, président et président du Conseil
de la Fédération de lagriculture de 1'Ontario, la FAO; Adrian
Wynands, directeur régional de la FAO et président de la Fédération
de 'agriculture de Grenville; Bill French, président de la Fédération
de I'agriculture de Leeds; et Yuergen Beck et Jane Monaghan, qui
sont tous deux ici a titre personnel. Bienvenue a tous.

Geri Kamenz, président et président du Conseil, Fédération de
Pagriculture de ’Ontario : Bonjour et merci de nous donner cette
occasion de vous rencontrer.

Sénateur Fairbairn, comme beaucoup d’entre nous du monde
agricole, je porte plusieurs chapeaux. La derni¢re fois que j’ai eu
I’occasion de vous rencontrer, c’était dans votre région, a
Lethbridge, lors du festival annuel de la betterave, il y a environ
un an, et nous avons traité de questions environnementales.

Le sénateur Segal : J’aimerais bien que vous ne lanciez pas le
sénateur sur le sujet de la betterave, parce que c’en sera fait de
nous. Nous n’avons pas le temps.

M. Kamenz : Disons seulement que la betterave est une
véritable histoire de succes, et nous devons garder I’ceil dessus.

La présidente : Bravo. Continuez ainsi. Vous avez tout a fait
raison, tout de méme. C’est une industrie particuliére dans ce pays
qui, elle aussi, est assiégée. Il y a des gens la-bas qui sont
beaucoup comme ceux d’ici— a cran.

M. Kamenz : Néanmoins, je portais a ce moment-la un autre
chapeau, celui de président du Comité des sciences
environnementales de la Fédération canadienne de ’agriculture.

Mes commentaires seront brefs, et bien évidemment, passent
par le prisme de ceux d’entre nous qui ne sommes plus seulement
que des fournisseurs d’aliments, mais qui nous positionnons
comme les fournisseurs d’aliments, d’énergie, et d’un éventail de
biens et de services écologiques. Je pense qu'une partie de la
solution se trouve dans cette gamme de biens et services
écologiques.

Je sais qu’il est facile de paraitre négatif quand on parle du
probléme que vous essayez de circonscrire. Cependant, je pense a
I’entretien que j’ai eu avec le premier ministre McGuinty il y a une
semaine environ, avant le budget. Il m’a dit ce n’est pas a nous,
avec les responsabilités que nous assumons, de désespérer, mais
plutét d’insuffler I'espoir. Ce probléme pose un dilemme sérieux
dans les régions rurales du Canada et de ’Ontario, mais jen
parlerai parce que je pense vraiment que nous avons la capacité,
les outils et les ressources nécessaires pour le résoudre en grande
partie.

Iy a une chose dont je vais tout de suite parler parce que je sais
qu’il en est déja question dans bien des cercles de discussion a
votre niveau et a d’autres. C’est simplement ceci : je pense quun
revenu agricole garanti est voué a un échec fracassant. Cela serait
plus pour créer une nounoucratie que pour résoudre le probléme
de la pauvreté rurale.
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Having said that, yesterday afternoon when I sat with the new
deputy minister of Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, I think
we all concurred that the options program that the federal
government introduced in the budget of May 2006 was a
resounding success throughout Canada; 17,000 farm families
triggered payments under that program.

You must look it and say what a wonderful success story that
is. However, we should not confuse that program with a farm
income support program. It was an excellent social program but
we are trying to create opportunities for agriculture to provide
real services and real opportunities for profitability.

In the absence of that, there are many lessons to learn when we
look at other jurisdictions, namely the European Union, EU. In
Britain, 40 per cent of gross farm receipts come in the form of
payments that producers receive for a variety of ecological goods
and services.

The public agenda obviously is focused now on environmental
issues. People are looking at their water and saying, there is
tremendous value to having clean water. There is tremendous
value to having clean air. There is tremendous value to having
green space, biodiversity and the protection of endangered
species.

In Canada, it is most apparent to provinces such as Prince
Edward Island and Ontario, where a large part of the developed
landscape is managed by farmers. That value implies that farmers
are in the business of protecting these resources and providing
them to the greater public.

If we look at the issue of rural poverty, obviously we need
to change many of the things we are doing. There are some
tremendous success stories in Canadian agriculture and there
are successes yet to be found. However, it is difficult to pursue
new initiatives and new business opportunities — and I am sure
you have heard this many times before — when the country is
coming off its worst three years of net farm income.

In agriculture, we look at the situation and say, we do not
want and expect big bailouts for an indefinite period, but we
need strategic investments to be made. When we travel the
back roads and look at the resources not only in terms of
physical resources, but the ingenuity of farmers that are on the
landscape, they are prepared to generate new wealth, but they
need strategy investment to do that.

The other thing is all of these ecological goods and services,
as I said. All of us enjoy water equally. All of us benefit from
clean air equally. All these different environmental and ecological
goods and services, we enjoy equally. The challenge is to
spread those costs equally across the tax base, and not place
a disproportionate burden on my shoulders by virtue of the
fact that I happen to own 1,000 acres and you live on a lot in a
subdivision. The benefit is the same.

Cela étant dit, hier apreés-midi, quand j’étais assis au coté du
nouveau sous-ministre d’Agriculture et Agroalimentaire Canada,
je pense que nous nous sommes tous mis d’accord sur le fait que le
programme d’option que le gouvernement fédéral a proposé dans
le budget de mai 2006 a remporté un succes raisonnable dans tout
le Canada; 17 000 familles agricoles ont pu faire des demandes de
paiements par le biais de ce programme.

Probablement, quand vous y pensez, vous félicitez-vous du
succés que cela a été. Nous ne devons pas confondre toutefois ce
programme avec le programme de soutien du revenu agricole.
C’était un excellent programme social, mais nous essayons de
créer pour les agriculteurs des occasions de fournir des services
réels et de véritables possibilités de revenus.

Sans cela, nous avons de nombreuses legons a tirer
d’autres administrations, notamment de I’Union européenne.
En Grande-Bretagne, 40 p. 100 des revenus bruts sont sous forme
de paiements que regoivent les producteurs pour un éventail de
biens et services écologiques.

Le programme du gouvernement est, c’est évident, maintenant
axé sur les enjeux environnementaux. La population regarde son
eau et constate 1’énorme avantage que présente 1’eau propre.
L’air propre présente d’énormes avantages. Les espaces verts, la
biodiversité et la protection des espéces en péril présentent
d’énormes avantages.

Au Canada, c’est surtout apparent pour les provinces comme
I'Tle-du-Prince-Edouard et ’Ontario, dont une grande partie des
terres développées sont gérées par des agriculteurs. C’est donc que

le role des agriculteurs consiste a protéger ces ressources et en
faire profiter le grand public.

Si on regarde le probléme de la pauvreté rurale, il apparait
évident que nous devons changer bien des choses que nous faisons
maintenant. Il y a eu de fabuleuses histoires de succés dans le
milieu agricole, au Canada, et il y en aura d’autres. Cependant, il
est difficile de lancer de nouvelles initiatives et d’exploiter de
nouveaux filons— et je suis slir que vous I’avez entendu a maintes
reprises déja— quand le pays vient d’enregistrer les trois pires
années de revenu brut agricole.

En agriculture, nous regardons la situation et disons que nous
ne voulons pas et n’attendons pas de vastes opérations de
sauvetage pendant une période indéfinie, mais ce qu’il faut, ce
sont des investissements stratégiques. Quand nous longeons les
routes de campagne, nous voyons les ressources, non seulement en
termes de ressources physiques, mais 'ingénuité des agriculteurs
qu’illustrent ces terres, ils sont préts a générer de nouvelles
richesses, mais ils ont besoin, pour cela, d’investissements

stratégiques.

L’autre chose, c’est tous ces biens et services écologiques, dont
je parlais. Nous apprécions tous également 1’eau. Nous jouissons
tous également de la qualité de I’air. Tous ces biens et services
environnementaux et écologiques différents, nous en jouissons
également. Le défi, c’est de répartir les cotits équitablement sur
’assiette fiscale, sans m’imposer de fardeau disproportionné rien
que parce qu’il se trouve que je posséde 1 000 acres de terres alors
que vous vivez dans un lotissement. Nous jouissons des mémes
avantages.
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I will cut it off there. I think that point provides food for
thought and discussion, and I look forward to your questions.

Adrian Wynands, President, Grenville Federation of Agriculture
and Regional Director, Ontario Federation of Agriculture:
Mr. Kamenz made the presentation for the three of us in
agriculture.

Yuergen Beck, as an individual: Thank you for coming and
listening to us today. While many issues need to be addressed,
I am happy to bring one solution here.

First, I want to highlight what I think are two contributing
factors that create the rural poverty that we are faced with today:
unfair competition from big business and a lack of infrastructure
for small business.

I am here as a citizen. I am a home inspector and a licensed
carpenter. I am in the homes of many families every year, from
the very wealthy to the poor, and I have listened over the years
because a story needs to be told.

I am self-employed and I love the ability to get up in the
morning and make as much or as little money as I want to on a
particular day. I do so, however, with a focus on providing my
community with a good service while still making a living.

What I despise is how big business is drawing the lifeblood out
of our local communities only for profit, with little regard to
the effects it has on our rural communities. They do so by using
unethical business practices that small business owners have
neither the ability nor the conscience to compete with.

In the agricultural sector, for example, a producer in
Athens should be able to bring a product to market for less
than a large corporation in Toronto. Why is the opposite
happening? It is my opinion that big business does not play by
the same rules that small producers do, who are subsequently
unable to compete with big business in local markets.

For example, with a large corporate farm, typically here is
what happens. They buy the local hatcheries that raise the
chicks and then sell them to the farmers. Then they buy the
local feed mills that produce the feed and sell that to the
farmers. Then they buy back the birds from the farmers and
take them to their huge factories that process them. Finally,
they market these birds back to the consumer. In one area of
farming, one large corporation has taken away four sectors
of business from local business owners.

Why should one not be able to do this in a free market?
Here is the harsh reality. Whenever one partner finances this
entire relationship because they can, they call the shots at their
pleasure and the farmers always lose.

Leaving this situation alone, let us look at where the money
goes after the fact. If farmers made the bulk of that money,
farmers would reinvest it in the business or help their children
start their own operation, and the money stays in the community.

Je terminerai ici. Je pense avoir fourni des éléments de réflexion
et de discussion, et je répondrai volontiers a vos questions.

Adrian Wynands, président, Fédération de Dagriculture de
Grenville et directeur régional de la Fédération de I’agriculture
de I’Ontario : M. Kamenz a fait la présentation pour nous trois,
en agriculture.

Yuergen Beck, a titre personnel : Je vous remercie d’étre venus
nous écouter aujourd’hui. Bien qu’il y ait beaucoup de sujets de
discussion, je viens avec grand plaisir proposer une solution.

Tout d’abord, jaimerais souligner deux facteurs qui, a mon
avis, contribuent a créer la pauvreté rurale qui existe aujourd’hui :
la concurrence inéquitable des grandes entreprises et le manque
d’infrastructure pour les petites entreprises.

Je suis ici a titre de citoyen. Je suis inspecteur en batiment, et
charpentier certifié. J’entre chaque année dans les maisons de bien
des familles, de la plus riche a la plus pauvre, et j’ai écouté le
monde toutes ces années, parce que I’histoire doit étre dite.

Je suis travailleur autonome, et j’adore pouvoir me lever le
matin et décider de faire autant ou aussi peu d’argent que j’en ai
envie un jour particulier. Je le fais, cependant, dans 'optique
d’offrir 8 ma communauté un bon service tout en gagnant ma vie.

Ce qui me déplait le plus, c’est la mani¢re dont les grandes
entreprises drainent nos collectivités locales rien que pour
le profit, sans aucun égard pour les effets qu’elles ont sur nos
communautés rurales. Elles le font par des méthodes non éthiques
que les propriétaires de petites entreprises n’ont pas les moyens ni
le manque de scrupules nécessaires pour s’y opposer.

Dans le secteur agricole, par exemple, un producteur d’Athens
devrait pouvoir amener un produit sur le marché a moindre prix
qu’une grande société de Toronto. Pourquoi est-ce le contraire,
alors? A mon avis, cette entreprise ne joue pas le jeu
équitablement, avec les mémes regles que les petits producteurs,
qui par la suite se trouvent incapables de concurrencer les grandes
entreprises sur les marchés locaux.

Par exemple, voici ce qui se produit habituellement avec les
grandes sociétés agricoles. Elles achétent les couvoirs régionaux
ou on ¢éléve les poussins, qu’elles revendent ensuite aux
agriculteurs. Elles font la méme chose avec les provenderies
locales, qui fabriquent des aliments pour animaux. Puis, ces
entreprises rachétent la volaille aux agriculteurs pour la
transformer dans leurs usines et, finalement, la mettre en
marché. Ainsi, dans ce domaine de I’agriculture, une grande
société a évincé les entrepreneurs locaux de quatre secteurs
d’activités.

Pourquoi s’empécherait-on de le faire, dans un contexte de
libre marché? Voici la triste réalité : chaque fois qu’un partenaire
privé finance toute la chaine de production parce qu’il en a les
moyens, il prend les décisions qui lui chantent et les agriculteurs
sont toujours perdants.

Laissons cette situation de c6té et voyons ou part I’argent aprés
coup. Si l'essentiel de I’argent va aux agriculteurs, ceux-ci le
réinvestiront dans leur exploitation ou aideront leurs enfants a se
lancer en affaires, et les profits resteront dans leur communauté.
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With big business, the money is concentrated back to one
individual or group and typically is not reinvested in the local
economy. Underselling small producers by bringing product to
market for less erodes the ability of small business owners to
compete.

I believe we are seeing many years of a lack of strong policy
that protects and supports the ability for small businesses to
prosper or survive. If our government would create an
environment where a local community could produce and
market its own goods and services for a profit, our citizens
would support these efforts and we would be more self-sufficient.

The second area — a passion for me personally — is the lack
of support for small business across Canada, which are largely
based in rural communities. Historically, our nation is laid out
within a rural landscape. The businesses that operate in these
locations are, for the most part, small — meaning $5 million or
less in annual sales.

The infrastructure that is in place to support us is,
comparatively, far less than the infrastructure in urban centres.
Large corporations continually receive tax breaks, grants and
subsidies, which are fed from our tax dollars, to help them not
only to survive but to expand.

Seemingly, historically, the logic was to protect jobs.
Unfortunately, with all the talk about global markets, the
manufacturing jobs that we financed are being ripped out of
our communities and moving to Third World countries. This
situation has left us with more unemployment, rather than
protecting the jobs, as hoped for.

Simultaneously, small businesses across our nation are closing
their doors and the argument given is always the same. You
cannot fight these trends: It is the way things are. The resulting
negative effect on rural Canada is an unnecessary race to the
bottom.

Self-employed people in rural Canada, which includes not
only farmers, but tradesmen like me and retailers, have long
since been the largest generators of jobs, wealth and tax base
in Canada. We need infrastructure and we need help today
to survive.

There is an absence of good, long-term business strategies
in government policy today. This lack systematically ignores
the needs of self-employed people, who create the majority of
wealth in Canada.

Three years ago, I started writing a discussion paper, which
I have included for you today, outlining the reality of life for the
self-employed. I have given it to every politician and business
leader I have run across since then because I believe the discussion
needs to begin for fairness to happen.

Mais avec les grandes entreprises, I'argent demeure entre les
mains d’une personne ou d’un groupe et n’est habituellement pas
réinjecté dans I’économie locale. Quand on dame le pion aux
petits producteurs en vendant moins cher qu’eux, on sape leur
capacité de livrer concurrence.

Je crois que depuis bien des années, on constate I’absence
d’une politique ferme destinée a protéger et a favoriser la capacité
des petites entreprises a prospérer ou a survivre. Si notre
gouvernement créait un environnement permettant a la
communauté locale de produire et de commercialiser ses
propres biens et services a des fins lucratives, nos concitoyens
appuieraient ces efforts et nous serions plus autonomes.

La seconde question — qui, personnellement, me passionne—
concerne le manque de soutien aux petites entreprises qui sont,
dans une large mesure, établies dans les communautés rurales de
partout au Canada. Depuis toujours, notre pays se caractérise par
la ruralité. Les entreprises exercant leurs activités dans ces régions
sont, pour la plupart, de petite taille — c’est-a-dire qu’elles
générent moins de 5 millions de dollars en ventes annuelles.

En comparaison, les infrastructures sont bien moins
nombreuses dans les régions que dans les centres urbains. Les
grandes sociétés se voient continuellement accorder des
subventions et des allégements fiscaux financés avec I’argent des
contribuables, pour les aider non seulement a survivre, mais aussi
a prendre de I’expansion.

De la méme fagon, on a toujours voulu préserver les emplois.
Malheureusement, avec toutes ces discussions au sujet de la
mondialisation des marchés, nos communautés ont perdu les
emplois du secteur manufacturier que nous avions financés, car
les entreprises ont relocalisé leurs activités dans des pays du tiers
monde. Résultat : plutdt que de protéger les emplois comme on
I’espérait, on se retrouve avec davantage de chomage.

Pendant ce temps, partout au pays, de petites entreprises
ferment leurs portes, et on utilise toujours le méme argument
selon lequel c’est ainsi; on ne peut combattre les tendances.
Il en découle, pour le Canada rural, un inutile nivellement par
le bas.

Les travailleurs indépendants des campagnes canadiennes, qui
ne comptent pas seulement des agriculteurs, mais aussi des gens de
métier, comme moi, et des détaillants, sont depuis longtemps les
plus grands créateurs d’emplois, de richesses et de recettes fiscales
au Canada. Aujourd’hui, il nous faut des infrastructures et de
l’aide pour survivre.

En ce moment, en matiére de politiques gouvernementales, il
n’y a pas de stratégies commerciales viables a long terme. Cela
revient a nier systématiquement les besoins des travailleurs
indépendants, qui créent la plupart des richesses au Canada.

Ily a trois ans, j’ai commencé a rédiger un document de travail,
que je vous ai apporté aujourd’hui, et qui décrit la réalité des
travailleurs indépendants. Je 1’ai remis a tous les politiciens et
dirigeants d’entreprises que j’ai croisés depuis, car je crois que
nous devons lancer le débat si nous voulons 1’équité.
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We are treated poorly by our system: yet, according
to Revenue Canada statistics — which, incidentally, took
me 14 months and a personal audit for asking to find out —
suggests that Canadian small business generates over
81 per cent of the GST collected in this country.

Further, the Ontario Small Business and Entrepreneurship
website, which covers Ontario, states that the percentage of tax
collected by small business is actually 99 per cent. In spite of this
revenue, schools are closing in our communities and people are
leaving because it is too hard to scratch out a living today in rural
Canada with so little help from existing policy. Our reality is such
that we receive absolutely no benefits or incentives for creating
this wealth year after year.

Governments of all stripes have historically disregarded the
efforts made by these hardworking dreamers because we have
been too busy working to demand fairness. It makes good
business sense to treat the wealth generators with respect and
fairness.

Imagine, for example, in Canada, if farming was a profitable
option for somebody leaving high school today. The spin-offs for
our economy and communities would be incredible. Government
policy designed to strengthen small rural businesses could create
positive results if there was enough honest discussion and political
will to make it happen. Again, days like today are awesome
because they show that this discussion is happening.

We do not need to discuss global issues to make this result
happen. Allow us to provide goods and services on a level playing
field nationally and let us see what can happen. We do not
want to take away the profits or market share of big business.
We simply want a piece of the pie while supplying our own
communities with goods and services we generate locally.

The Chairman: You may know this is the first time in our
Parliament in Canada that either House of that Parliament has
chosen to explore this issue. We appreciate your support and we
appreciate your presentation here today.

Jane Monaghan, as an individual: I want to tell you a bit about
my background and where I am coming from. I will describe my
community and then give you a couple of ideas I have had after
reading your interim report.

I am a small town lawyer and have been practicing in
Elgin, Ontario for 27 years, ever since I was called to the bar.
Elgin is a little village to the west of here in the township
of Rideau Lakes. I have enjoyed an opportunity to become
involved in my community in other ways than my profession.
I have been involved with libraries, both locally and also for my
law association, which is centred in Brockuville.

I have enjoyed working with many local heritage societies,
preserving our local history. I have worked with various
organizations to do with the Rideau Canal, which is a

Nous sommes traités avec peu d’égards par le systéme;
pourtant, comme le laissent croire les statistiques de Revenu
Canada — que j’ai, soit dit en passant, mis 14 mois a obtenir et
pour lesquelles j’ai di faire des vérifications poussées afin d’y voir
clair — les petites entreprises canadiennes générent plus
de 81 p. 100 de la TPS pergue par le gouvernement.

De plus, le site Internet des petites entreprises et de
I’entreprenariat de 1’Ontario, qui couvre la province, révele que
ce pourcentage est en fait de 99 p. 100. En dépit de ces revenus,
dans nos communautés, les écoles ferment et les gens partent car il
est trop difficile de joindre les deux bouts aujourd’hui dans le
Canada rural, vu le peu d’aide qu’on obtient avec les politiques
existantes. Force est de constater que nous ne recevons
absolument aucun avantage ni incitatif pour créer cette richesse
année apres année.

Les gouvernements de toutes allégeances ont toujours fait fi des
efforts déployés par ces réveurs qui triment dur, parce que nous
sommes trop occupés a travailler pour réclamer 1’équité. Mais il
est payant de traiter les générateurs de richesse avec respect et en
toute justice.

Imaginez par exemple qu’au Canada, l’agriculture soit
un choix profitable pour une personne qui sort de I’école
secondaire aujourd’hui. Les retombées pour notre économie
et nos communautés seraient incroyables. Des politiques
gouvernementales destinées a renforcer les petites entreprises
rurales pourraient donner des résultats positifs s’il y avait
suffisamment de discussions honnétes et de volonté politique en
ce sens. Encore une fois, des journées comme aujourd’hui sont
formidables; elles montrent que ce débat a lieu.

Pour en arriver a ces résultats, nul besoin de discuter des enjeux
mondiaux. Laissez-nous fournir des biens et services, a armes
égales pour tout le monde au pays, et voyons ce qui se produira.
Nous ne souhaitons pas priver les grandes entreprises de profits
ou de parts de marché; nous voulons simplement obtenir notre
part du giteau, tout en offrant a nos communautés des biens et
services que nous créons localement.

La présidente : Vous savez sans doute que c’est la premiére fois,
dans T’histoire de notre Parlement, qu’une des deux chambres
décide de se pencher sur cette question. Nous vous remercions
donc de votre appui et de votre témoignage ici, aujourd’hui.

Jane Monaghan, a titre personnel : J’aimerais vous parler un
peu de mon expérience et de mon parcours. Je vous décrirai ma
communauté et vous ferai part de quelques idées qui me sont
venues apres avoir lu votre rapport provisoire.

Je suis avocate dans une petite ville de I’Ontario, Elgin, depuis
que j’ai été admise au barreau, il y a 27 ans. Elgin est un petit
village a l'ouest d’ici, dans le canton de Rideau Lakes. J’ai eu la
chance de m’impliquer dans ma communauté autrement que par
ma profession. Je travaille aupres des bibliothéques locales et
pour mon association juridique, qui est établie a Brockville.

J’ai eu le plaisir d’ceuvrer au sein de nombreuses sociétés
engagées dans la préservation de notre histoire régionale, ainsi
qu’aupres de diverses organisations s’occupant du canal Rideau,
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wonderful federal resource in our community. I have also been
involved with the local Chamber of Commerce, and most
extensively, with an organization called the North Leeds
Community Development Corporation, which was started
about 20 years ago to promote social services being available in
our North Leeds community.

Until that time, and even currently, people went to the
larger centres to access social services. It was our idea to try
to bring some of those services, such as family mental health
counselling and the Victorian Order of Nurses, VON, senior
support services, to our community so people could access
those services right here.

We purchased an old Victorian house in Elgin. It has become
a community resource centre where people can access those
kinds of services. The other advantage is that, because several
services are in the one location, it preserves a bit of confidentiality
in that people do not know why someone is going into the
facility.

In addition to the social services, we are also interested in
economic development in our community through employment.
Our feeling was that having a job helps with a lot of other aspects
of life, such as self-esteem and so on. We were lucky to have the
assistance of the federal government in starting a job search
resource centre, which provides employment counselling in the
North Leeds area.

The township of Rideau Lakes, contrary to the trend identified
in your interim report, is increasing in population. Over the last
five years, there has been an increase in population of little bit
over 6 per cent. It is said to be due to the seasonal residential
people becoming permanent residents in our community.

As I said before, we are lucky enough to have a good portion of
the Rideau Canal in our jurisdiction, which attracts many cottage
owners and tourists.

Many of those people who own cottages then retire to our
community. We receive a lot of benefit from those people who
then want to contribute to our community when they come to live
here. We also have the typical agricultural community within our
community.

I have read your Understanding Freefall report and found it to
be insightful. I have a couple of other issues that might be
addressed at some point. They are access issues. The first is access
to financial services.

In Delta, Ontario, which is west of here, the Toronto
Dominion Bank branch is scheduled to close in May. This will
be a big blow to that community in that store owners and so on
will have to travel far to access a bank, which affects store
deposits, loans and all those kinds of things.

Also, within the last couple of years, Delta has had its local
public school closed. Those kinds of things are a blow to a small
rural community.

une merveilleuse ressource fédérale dans notre communauté. Je
suis également active aupres de la chambre de commerce régionale
et, de fagon encore plus importante, au sein d’une organisation
appelée la North Leeds Community Development Corporation,
mise sur pied il y a une vingtaine d’années pour promouvoir la
disponibilité des services sociaux a North Leeds.

Avant cela — et méme actuellement —, les gens allaient dans
les grands centres pour bénéficier des services sociaux. Nous
voulions amener dans notre communauté certains de ces services,
comme le counselling familial en matiére de santé mentale, les
services des Infirmiéres de 1'Ordre de Victoria du Canada, ou
VON, ainsi que les services de soutien aux ainés, pour que les gens
puissent y accéder sur place.

A Elgin, nous avons acheté¢ une maison ancienne de
style victorien, qui est devenue un centre de ressources
communautaires ou les gens peuvent se prévaloir de ces types
de services. Etant donné qu’on trouve plusieurs services sous un
méme toit, la confidentialité est quelque peu préservée parce que
les gens ignorent pourquoi quelqu’un entre dans I’établissement;
c’est un avantage.

En plus des services sociaux, nous nous intéressons aussi au
développement économique local au moyen de 1’emploi. Nous
pensons qu’avoir un travail est utile a bien des égards, comme
pour I’estime de soi, et ainsi de suite. Nous avons eu la chance de
bénéficier de I’aide du gouvernement fédéral pour ouvrir un centre
de ressources pour la recherche d’emploi, qui fournit du
counselling dans la région de North Leeds.

Contrairement a la tendance dont fait état votre rapport
provisoire, la population est a la hausse dans le canton de Rideau
Lakes. Au cours des cinq derniéres années, la croissance
démographique a été légeérement supérieure a 6 p. 100. On dit
que c’est di aux résidents saisonniers qui deviennent résidents
permanents dans notre communauté.

Je le répéte, nous sommes assez chanceux qu’une bonne partie
du canal Rideau traverse notre secteur, ce qui attire beaucoup de
propriétaires de chalets et de touristes.

Nombre de ces propriétaires de chalets passeront leurs vieux
jours dans notre communauté. Ces gens nous apportent
beaucoup. Chez nous, nous avons également des agriculteurs.

Jai lu votre rapport Comprendre I'exode, que j’ai trouvé riche
en enseignements. J’aimerais vous soumettre d’autres questions
concernant 1’accessibilité. La premiére porte sur l'accés aux
services financiers.

Dans le village de Delta, en Ontario, qui est situé a ’ouest d’ici,
la succursale de la banque Toronto Dominion doit fermer ses
portes en mai. Ce sera un coup dur pour cette communauté, parce
que les commergants et les autres devront faire beaucoup de route
pour trouver une banque, ce qui aura une incidence sur les dép6ts
des magasins, les préts et autres choses du genre.

Par ailleurs, il y a quelques années, I’école publique locale
de Delta a fermé. Ce genre de choses fait mal a une petite
communauté rurale.
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We have heard a lot in the last year or so, with the Nobel Peace
Prize being awarded, about micro-credit. I understand, although I
have not had a chance to look into it in great detail, that those
kinds of micro-loans could be used in a rural community in our
country, not only in African countries.

The other access issue I am concerned about, because of my
profession, is access to legal services. The courts in this area are all
located in Brockville. I would not anticipate courts being moved
around the county; but as well as the courts being there, the Legal
Aid office and the Family Law Information Centre, which people
can access for advice from lawyers about family issues, are in
Brockville as well.

It is difficult for someone in this area, because of the
transportation issues you have identified, to access those
services in Brockville. They either may not have a vehicle or, if
there is a vehicle, one of the family members may be using it for a
job and the other members of the family cannot go into Brockville
or the other centres. You would think, in this day and age, with
computers and the Internet and so on, there could be something
where people could access those services somehow in the
community.

That concludes my remarks. I saw a couple of issues that I felt
had not been mentioned in your report and I thought they were
worth consideration.

Senator Segal: I want to ask our friends from the Ontario
Federation of Agriculture to help me with the strategic investment
reference in the presentation by Mr. Kamenz. You were clear in
saying that income support for farmers in terms of a basic income
floor would be an admission of defeat.

I guess what you are saying is that for people in the cities to
have a basic income floor that helps them live with dignity
is okay, but to do that for farmers is an admission of defeat.
Implicit in that is that farmers do not have basic economic needs
that we all have a duty to respond to because they are part of
the family.

Help me understand how strategic investment will deal
with the farmers who, this year, needed to apply to the
Canadian Farm Families Options Program for support. I am
delighted they were able to do so. I think that sort of program
is long overdue. However, it is, as you have correctly identified,
a program about admitting that one did not make a core
amount of income in one year. It does not provide investment
capacity for the future.

I am interested in understanding better what, in your view, the
strategic investments would be that the government could help
with, help facilitate or do on a partnership basis.

One area where everyone is now abuzz is the cellulitic,
waste-based, farm-based energy business — ethanol and others.
My worry is that — along the lines of the same comment made by

Au cours de la derniére année, nous avons beaucoup entendu
parler, avec la remise du prix Nobel de la paix, de microcrédit. Si
j’ai bien compris, et bien que je n’aie pas eu I’occasion d’étudier la
question de fagon trés détaillée, ce genre de microprét devrait étre
utilisé aussi dans les communautés rurales de notre pays, et pas
seulement dans les pays africains.

L’autre probléme qui me préoccupe, en raison de ma
profession, est I’accés aux services juridiques. Dans la région, les
tribunaux sont tous a Brockville. Je ne m’attends pas a ce qu’on
déménage tous les tribunaux du pays; mais le bureau d’aide
juridique et le centre d’information sur les droits de la famille, ou
les gens peuvent aller pour demander conseil a des avocats sur des
questions familiales, se trouvent a Brockville également.

En raison des problémes de transport que vous avez relevés, il
est difficile pour les gens d’accéder a ces services a Brockville.
Peut-étre ne possedent-ils pas de véhicule ou, s’ils en ont un, un
membre de la famille I'utilise peut-étre pour son travail, auquel
cas, les gens ne peuvent se rendre a Brockville ou dans d’autres
centres. On aurait cru qu’a notre époque, avec les ordinateurs,
Internet, et cetera, on trouverait le moyen de permettre aux gens
d’accéder a ces services dans la communauté.

Voila qui conclut mes remarques. Quelques questions
semblaient avoir été laissées de c6té dans votre rapport, et je les
jugeais dignes d’intérét.

Le sénateur Segal : J’aimerais demander a nos témoins de la
Fédération de I’agriculture de I’Ontario de m’expliquer en quoi
consiste cet investissement stratégique évoqué par M. Kamenz
dans son exposé. Vous avez clairement dit que le soutien financier
aux agriculteurs sous forme de revenu de base équivalait a un
constat d’échec.

Je pense que ce que vous dites, c’est qu’il est normal que les
citadins aient un revenu minimal qui les aide a vivre dignement,
mais que la méme chose chez les agriculteurs est un constat
d’échec. Cela laisse sous-entendre que ces derniers n’ont pas les
mémes besoins économiques fondamentaux que nous tous parce
qu’ils font partie de la famille.

Aidez-moi a comprendre comment I'investissement stratégique
permettra de régler le cas des fermiers qui, cette année, ont di
soumettre une demande pour recevoir de l'aide en vertu du
Programme canadien d’options pour les familles agricoles. Je suis
ravi qu’ils aient pu le faire. Je pense que ce type de programme
s’est fait attendre longtemps. Il s’appuie toutefois, comme vous
l’avez fait remarquer a juste titre, sur le fait d’admettre qu’une
personne n’a pas atteint un certain revenu de base une année
donnée. Ce programme ne constitue pas un outil d’investissement
pour I'avenir.

J’aimerais comprendre davantage en quoi, selon vous,
le gouvernement pourrait apporter une aide avec ces
investissements stratégiques, en facilitant leur mise en ceuvre
ou en créant des partenariats.

L’un des sujets dont tout le monde discute est 1’énergie de
source agricole — cellulose, déchets organiques, éthanol et autres.
Ce que je crains — comme I’a dit M. Beck tout a I’heure a propos
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Mr. Beck a few moments ago about how that industry ends up
being controlled — the farmers may end up being excluded from
that business. They will not be paid sufficiently for the due
diligence done before the farm gate. They not only are there to
supply the raw materials, but they should be there, in my
judgment, to benefit from ethanol stations around the country,
the network that supplies the ethanol. In that way, they are, in the
old sense of the co-op, owner operators and benefiting as
shareholders for the work they are doing beyond their own
farm gate.

I am interested in your views on that. I do not know if it is true
in Leeds County, but I know in Frontenac County, various
farming activities have declined over the last 15 or 20 years, which
troubles me immensely. We have had far fewer farms passed on
intergenerationally. Any advice you can give us as to things we
could say in our report, recommendations we could make that
could arrest that, I know we would appreciate.

Ms. Kamenz: I am glad you asked the question. When you look
at rural development in all of Canada, obviously, we are an
agrarian society at our base. We built this country on our
agricultural, mining and forestry resources. I will not talk about
mining and forestry but about agriculture.

What has transpired in this consolidation, in this reduction of
the number of people who are producing the food we eat, is not a
surprise to anyone. We can look at the chart since the turn of the
century and one might suggest we can project it out and have a
fair picture of where our industry is going. Where we struggle is,
we try to accommodate both into farm programs, which is to say
we look at agriculture as an industry and we try to create industry
tools. Then we confuse the industry tools with that social element
that speaks to the family.

That is why I was careful to say that the options program
was a tremendous success, because there is this need that is
called “rural poverty.” However, to stabilize family incomes at
slightly above the poverty line does nothing but perpetuate the
problem.

When we talk about strategic investments, we go back to the
nub of the problem, which is a lack of profitability in agriculture.
If there was profit in the industry, we would not be struggling
with this intergenerational transfer of this huge resource. The
problem we are struggling with is the investment is no longer
cash flow. You are absolutely right in identifying the ethanol
industry, which is a feed-grains-based industry to date.
Tomorrow, hopefully, it will be a cellulose-based industry.

We do not need to create co-ops across the country. Culturally,
co-ops are successful in parts of Canada. In Ontario,
unfortunately, our experience has been that for cultural or any
number of reasons, co-ops do not have a good track record.
However, if we bring profitability back to the industry, then the
grower can look at the Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan

de la fagon dont I'industrie se retrouve controlée — c’est que les
agriculteurs soient exclus de ce secteur. On ne les paiera pas
suffisamment pour le travail accompli dans leur exploitation. Ils
sont non seulement 1a pour fournir les matiéres premiéres, mais ils
devraient aussi, & mon avis, avoir leur part des profits des
stations-service d’éthanol partout au pays, du réseau qui fournit
I’éthanol. De cette fagon, ils seraient, selon le sens traditionnel
du terme coopérative, des propriétaires-exploitants qui
bénéficieraient a titre d’actionnaires du travail qu’ils font,
au-dela de leur exploitation agricole.

Jaimerais connaitre votre avis la-dessus. J’ignore si c’est le cas
dans le comté de Leeds, mais je sais qu'a Frontenac, diverses
activités agricoles ont diminué ces 15 ou 20 derniéres années, et
cela me trouble énormément. Il y a de moins en moins de fermes
qui sont transmises d’une génération a I'autre. Nous vous serions
reconnaissants de nous dire quoi faire pour remédier a la situation
afin que nous puissions I'inscrire dans notre rapport et ’ajouter a
nos recommandations.

M. Kamenz : Je suis heureux que vous posiez la question.
Quand on examine le développement rural au Canada, il faut
évidemment se rappeler qu’il n’y a pas si longtemps, nous n’étions
qu’'une société agraire. Notre pays s’est construit grice a ses
ressources agricoles, miniéres et forestiéres. Toutefois, je ne suis
pas ici pour parler des mines ou de la foresterie, mais bien de
I’agriculture.

Ce qui a découlé de cette évolution, étant donné la réduction
du nombre de producteurs agricoles, ne surprend personne.
Quand on regarde la situation depuis le début des années 2000, on
peut faire des projections et avoir une idée assez juste de
I’orientation que prend notre industrie. Ce qui est difficile, c’est
d’essayer de s’adapter aux programmes agricoles; d’une part, nous
considérons ’agriculture comme une industrie et, d’autre part,
nous tentons de mettre en place des mécanismes. Ensuite, nous
confondons ces mécanismes avec le volet social qui renvoie a la
famille.

C’est pourquoi j’ai pris soin de dire que le programme
d’options avait connu un franc succés, compte tenu de la
nécessité de s’attaquer a la « pauvreté rurale ». Toutefois, méme
si on stabilise les revenus familiaux a un niveau légérement
supérieur au seuil de la pauvreté, le probléme persiste.

Lorsque nous parlons d’investissements stratégiques, nous
touchons au cceur du probléme, qui est le manque de rentabilité
dans le secteur agricole. Si on réalisait des bénéfices, la question
du transfert de ces importantes ressources d’une génération a
l’autre ne se poserait pas. Nous ne sommes plus aux prises avec
un probléme de liquidités, mais d’investissement. Vous avez
parfaitement raison de parler de I'industrie de ’éthanol, produit a
partir de céréales fourragéres, mais qui, heureusement, a ’avenir,
sera un dérivé de la cellulose.

Nous n’avons pas besoin d’ouvrir des coopératives partout au
pays. Celles-ci ont connu du succés dans certaines régions du
Canada. En Ontario, malheureusement, pour des raisons de
culture ou autre, les coopératives ont plutét fait chou blanc.
Toutefois, si nous réussissons a en faire de nouveau une
industrie rentable, les cultivateurs pourraient s’intéresser a la



30-3-2007

Agriculture et foréts

22:47

and say, I want to integrate myself into that value chain. If
the grower bought stock a year ago at $123 a share, today it is
around $185 a share.

If we give the industry profitability, the industry is like any
other: The business acumen exists that people will look at the
opportunities to extract value and income from the value chain
other than only primary production. It comes back to making
those strategic investments.

Right now, a classic example is, we have an entire industry on
the verge of collapse in the province, which is called the tobacco
industry. A number of years ago, money was put on the table
for people to transition out of that industry, and we saw some
successful transitions out. However, at the end we were left with
a number of business plans and business proposals on the
table where growers said, here is something I can do that will
bring value back to my community. It will create jobs in my
community, but if I do not have strategic investment, I will be
undercapitalized and set up for failure and it will not happen.

If we look at those growers today, those business plans are still
intact. Those opportunities are still on the table. If we want them
to succeed, they need help in doing that. That same approach can
be extended to many other sectors of farm production.

When we talk about this, we always have to come back to the
one shining example of success in Canadian agriculture, which
has and continues to be supply management. It is not to suggest
that it is the cure-all for all sectors, but to recognize that even in
those sectors, it is a low-margin business. However, if we bring
that predictability and that small margin of profitability into any
sector, producers are aggressive about saying, how can they do a
better job, how can they increase productivity and how can they
increase profitability?

We can bring back that stability and predictability into
agriculture through strategic investments. It cannot be done
with a paint roller: It will be clinical, sector by sector, individual
business plan by individual business plan. I appreciate that it
does not fit well with the way we like to deal with problems.
We like to deal with problems in a global sense but if we truly
want to navigate out of where we are, we need to be prepared
to deal with problems on an individual basis.

Senator Segal: I want to deal with the issue of financing in the
farm community for business plans, both small business and
farming activities. By all means, if Mr. Beck wants to join in,
I would appreciate that, but I will address the question directly
to Mr. Kamenz first.

After the Depression, the Province of Ontario Savings Office
was established, by a United Farmers government, to have
places that farmers could deal with and obtain credit in difficult
times. That was many years ago. Is the mix of banks, co-ops,
caisse populaires in the francophone part of Ontario and Farm
Credit Canada providing the flexibility and the long-term view,
the valuation of assets, long haul, which helps the farmer?
Should we look at an agricultural bank run by farmers that
understands farming issues? Should we look at a bank that

Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan et vouloir participer
a cette chaine de valeur. S’ils ont acheté des actions 1’an dernier
a 123 $, celles-ci valent aujourd’hui 185 $ chaque.

Si nous accroissons la rentabilité de 'industrie, il se passerait la
méme chose que dans toutes les autres : étant donné qu’elle aura
du potentiel, les gens chercheront le moyen de tirer profit de la
chaine de valeur, au-dela de la production primaire. Cela nous
rameéne a la question des investissements stratégiques.

En ce moment, exemple classique, I'industrie du tabac est sur le
point de disparaitre dans la province. Il y a plusieurs années, on a
donné de l'argent aux tabaculteurs afin qu’ils réorientent leurs
activités, et nous avons assisté a quelques réussites. Il n’en
demeure pas moins que nous nous sommes retrouvés avec
plusieurs plans et projets d’entreprise que des cultivateurs
croyaient pouvoir mettre en ceuvre et ainsi apporter quelque
chose de plus a leur communauté. Ils disaient que cela permettrait
de générer des emplois au sein de la communauté, mais que sans
investissements stratégiques, ils n’auraient pas suffisamment de
capitaux et leur plan serait voué a I’échec.

Encore aujourd’hui, on constate que leurs projets sont restés
des veeux pieux. Si nous voulons qu’ils s’en sortent, nous devons

les aider a créer ces débouchés. Et cela vaut aussi pour de
nombreux autres secteurs de la production agricole.

Lorsqu’on discute de cette question, il faut toujours se
rappeler du plus bel exemple de réussite de I’agriculture au
Canada, qui est le systéme de gestion de l'offre. Je n’irais pas
jusqu’a dire que c’est une panacée, mais il faut reconnaitre que
méme dans ces secteurs, les marges bénéficiaires sont minces.
Par contre, si on transpose cela dans n’importe quel autre
secteur, les producteurs n’hésiteront pas a demander comment
améliorer leur travail, accroitre leur productivité et réaliser plus
de profits.

Mais pour ce faire, il faut effectuer des investissements
stratégiques. Nous ne pouvons pas régler tous les problémes
d’un seul coup; nous devrons y aller secteur par secteur, plan
d’entreprise par plan d’entreprise. Je sais que ce n’est pas ainsi que
nous aimons aborder les problémes, mais nous n’avons pas
d’autre choix si nous voulons réellement faire avancer les choses.
Il faut prendre les problémes séparément et non dans leur
ensemble.

Le sénateur Segal : J’aimerais discuter de la question du
financement de la communauté agricole, en ce qui a trait aux
plans d’entreprise, tant pour les petites entreprises que pour
les activités agricoles. Ma question s’adresse directement a
M. Kamenz, mais si M. Beck souhaite intervenir, qu’il n’hésite
pas a le faire.

Aprés la Grande Dépression, le parti United Farmers a créé la
Caisse d’épargne de I'Ontario afin que les agriculteurs puissent
avoir une institution bancaire avec qui faire affaire et obtenir du
crédit pendant les périodes difficiles. C’était il y a longtemps.
Qu’est-ce qui aide les agriculteurs? Est-ce la combinaison des
banques, des coopératives, des caisses populaires dans les régions
francophones de ’Ontario et de Financement agricole Canada qui
donne une certaine souplesse et qui permet d’avoir une vision a
long terme et d’évaluer les actifs? Ne faudrait-il pas qu’il y ait une
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would provide some presence in the marketplace that is not tied
to the typical quarterly reports, but rather to the realities that
farmers and small business people in rural Canada face, which
is good years and bad years, ups and downs and having to find a
way to bridge and still to invest for the future?

What would your members say if you asked them about their
relationship with their banks? Ms. Monaghan made the reference
to the bank that is closing down the road in Delta. I am interested
in your views on that.

Ms. Kamenz: One must give credit where credit is due. In
agriculture, we recognize Farm Credit Canada as a true leader in
recognizing the challenges that agriculture deals with. If we look
at the instruments and the tools that they have developed over the
last 10 years for the industry, they have done an exceptional job.
They are, without a doubt, the leader in challenging banks to
raise the bar.

The reality is, we have a major presence in agriculture,
and from time to time — we have seen it over the last couple of
years — with the CIBC. Different chartered banks get into
this business of rebalancing their portfolios. Sometimes they
do it on a provincial basis and sometimes on a local basis.
Frankly, it leaves people high and dry.

It is a corporate decision made on Bay Street, and it is an
unfortunate reality of a free market. However, it is still a free
market. As I say, Farm Credit Canada has truly provided
leadership in developing those instruments.

As for the idea of a farmers’ bank run by farmers, I think
Farm Credit Canada is as close as we would want to get. To
extend it any further, do we want to give people a whole lot
more rope?

Mr. Beck: To answer that for the small business, I can sum it
up that when we need a bank, they are typically not there for us.
We have to prove to them we do not need them with years and
years of records. Then, when we do not need them, they are
willing to work with us.

I do not know how to explain it any more than that.

Senator Mercer: I am always frustrated when we sit down and
talk to people in the farming industry about the problems. Down
Highway 401 in Oshawa, if the government gives money to
General Motors, it is an industrial strategy. If the government
gives money to farmers, it is a handout. The other frustration is
that the guy working on the assembly line at General Motors does
not have to take a job after work to help keep General Motors
competitive with the Japanese competitors, unlike farmers and
their families, who have to work off the farm.

I am curious, however. In my part of the world, co-ops are a
good thing; we helped to invent the Credit Union Movement.
I am concerned, when we go into biofuels, that if producers are
not directly involved in the ownership, the ownership will be

banque agricole dirigée par des agriculteurs, étant donné que ce
sont eux les mieux placés pour comprendre les problémes du
secteur? Ne faudrait-il pas que cette banque assure une présence
sur le marché en ne se limitant pas a produire les rapports
trimestriels typiques, mais plutét en étant sensible aux réalités des
agriculteurs et des petites entreprises dans le Canada rural, en
tenant compte des années de vaches maigres comme des années de
vaches grasses et en intervenant lorsque nécessaire tout en
continuant d’investir pour I’avenir?

A votre avis, quelles relations vos membres entretiennent-ils
avec leur banque? Mme Monaghan a fait référence a une banque
qui allait bientot fermer ses portes a Delta. J’aimerais connaitre
votre opinion la-dessus.

M. Kamenz : Il faut rendre & César ce qui lui appartient.
En agriculture, Financement agricole Canada est la société qui
comprend le mieux les problémes actuels du secteur agricole. Les
instruments et les outils qu’elle a mis au point ces dix derniéres
années pour I'industrie sont tout a fait exceptionnels. Elle est sans
contredit celle qui fixe la barre.

La réalité, c’est que nous sommes trés présents dans le secteur
de l’agriculture, et parfois — comme nous ’avons vu au cours des
derniéres années —, la CIBC aussi. Différentes banques doivent
rééquilibrer leur portefeuille. Elles le font parfois a 1’échelle
provinciale et a I’échelle locale, mais a vrai dire, elles laissent
tomber les gens.

Les décisions se prennent a Bay Street, c’est la triste réalité du
libre marché. Toutefois, c’est encore le libre marché. Comme je
I’ai dit, Financement agricole Canada a réellement été un chef de
file dans I’élaboration de ces instruments.

Quant a l'idée de créer une banque agricole gérée par des
agriculteurs, je pense que Financement agricole Canada se
rapproche beaucoup de ce que nous cherchons. Est-ce parce que
nous voulons offrir davantage de souplesse aux gens?

M. Beck : Toutes les petites entreprises vous diront qu’une
banque n’est jamais 12 quand on en a besoin. Nous devons
lui prouver pendant plusieurs années que nous n’avons pas
besoin d’elle pour qu’elle finisse par accepter de travailler avec
nous.

Je ne vois pas ce que je pourrais dire de plus.

Le sénateur Mercer : C’est toujours frustrant de discuter des
problémes avec les gens de 'industrie agricole. Si le gouvernement
octroie des fonds a General Motors, a Oshawa, c’est une stratégie
industrielle. Quand il en fait autant pour les agriculteurs, c’est de
la charité. Ce qui me fache aussi, c’est que 'employé qui travaille
sur la chaine de montage a General Motors n’a pas a occuper un
autre emploi aprés le travail pour aider General Motors a
demeurer concurrentiel face aux Japonais, contrairement aux
agriculteurs et a leur famille qui doivent aussi travailler a
I’extérieur de I’exploitation.

Malgré tout, quelque chose m’intrigue. Dans mon coin de pays,
les coopératives sont une bonne chose; nous avons contribué a
créer le mouvement des caisses de crédit. Je crains que lorsque
nous passerons aux biocarburants, si les producteurs ne possédent
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owned by the big oil companies and they will control where the
profit will go. There is nothing wrong with the profit going to
Calgary, but I would much rather it go to the farm gate than to
the already rich oil companies.

Meeting with some of my colleagues in the United States, they
tell me that where they have been able to have producer-owned
plants, they have been extremely successful in putting money back
into the farmers’ hands. It allows them to continue to produce
corn or whatever for biofuels, but also allows them to survive to
do the other things they do well.

In saying cooperatives do not work well in Ontario, will
we allow this opportunity to slip by with the energy
opportunities? You used three important phrases in describing
what farmers do: food, energy and production of ecological
goods and services.

Ms. Kamenz: I draw your attention to an example that I think
everyone in this area is familiar with. Many years ago, in 1992, a
local cooperative initiative embarked on a plan to build an
ethanol plant. Understandably, in 1992, we were probably many
years ahead of our time. Nonetheless, it gathered all sorts of
support in the local community, and the equity drive was
successful. As the business plan progressed, it became apparent
that there was more equity that was necessary.

The best thing that happened at that time was Farm Credit
Canada stepped in and said the cooperative could borrow money
from them to invest in what we now call a new generation co-op.
They said they will secure that loan and hold that money to
ensure that if the plant never materializes, Farm Credit Canada
will return that money back to the cooperative. Immediately, the
equity targets were met.

Since that time — I know it even appears in the Ottawa
newspapers — the plant has continued to struggle. In the
meantime, we have seen another company, Canada’s largest
ethanol producer, come into our area and, in a short time,
say here is what they will do: They are off to the races and they
are doing it.

To build that community support and provide the opportunity
for farmers to benefit, not only from a demand-driven price cycle
but to benefit from the actual operations of an ethanol plant, they
say, we will give you the opportunity to invest members’ equity.
Then we will treat you the same as we treat our private
shareholders.

It is not abject failure: It is working with the business partners
out there and saying if a pure co-op does not work in our area,
what are the opportunities where I can integrate myself more into
the value chain? I think companies are open to doing that. It is
recognizing what works where and, again, saying, but right here it
is prone to failure, so let us not frustrate ourselves with continuing
to think that the cooperative model that works exceptionally well
in other parts of the country will work everywhere. Let us look at

pas de parts, les grandes compagnies pétroliéres contrdleront
tous les profits. Il n’y a rien de mal a ce que les profits aillent a
Calgary, mais je préférerais qu’ils se retrouvent dans les poches
des agriculteurs plutét que dans celles des riches pétroliéres.

Lorsque j’ai rencontré certains de mes homologues américains,
ceux-ci m’ont dit que, d’aprés leur expérience, les usines
appartenant a des producteurs ont reversé de l’argent aux
agriculteurs. Cela leur permet non seulement de continuer a
produire du mais ou d’autres céréales pour la production de
biocarburants, mais aussi de survivre pour entreprendre autre
chose et réussir.

Dire que les coopératives ne fonctionnent pas bien en Ontario,
revient-il a écarter la possibilité d’exploiter les débouchés dans le
secteur de 1’énergie? Lorsque vous avez décrit ce que font les
agriculteurs, vous avez utilisé trois termes trés importants :
alimentation, énergie et production de biens et de services
écologiques.

M. Kamenz : J’aimerais attirer votre attention sur un cas qui,
selon moi, est connu dans toute la région. Il y a de nombreuses
années, en 1992, une coopérative locale avait élaboré un plan
visant a construire une usine d’éthanol. Naturellement, a cette
époque, nous étions trés en avance sur notre temps. Malgré
tout, toute la communauté locale appuyait cette initiative, et on
réussissait a attirer des capitaux. A mesure que le plan progressait,
il devenait apparent qu’il y avait plus de fonds propres que
nécessaire.

La meilleure chose qui soit arrivée, c’est que Financement
agricole Canada est entrée en jeu et a offert a la coopérative de lui
préter de I’argent afin qu’elle puisse investir dans ce que nous
appelons aujourd’hui une coopérative de la nouvelle génération.
La société a indiqué qu’elle garantissait le prét et qu’elle garderait
P’argent pour étre en mesure, si le projet ne se concrétisait pas, de
rembourser la coopérative. On avait immédiatement atteint les
objectifs.

Depuis ce temps-la — je sais que cela a méme paru dans les
journaux d’Ottawa — l’usine éprouve toujours des problémes.
Parallélement, une autre compagnie, soit le plus gros producteur
d’éthanol au Canada, est venue s’établir dans notre région et,
en trés peu de temps, a énoncé ses objectifs et s’est employée
a les atteindre.

Pour créer ce soutien communautaire et donner la possibilité
aux agriculteurs de profiter non seulement d’un cycle de prix
fondés sur la demande, mais aussi des activités d’une usine
d’éthanol, ils ont permis aux membres d’investir des capitaux.
Les gens seront traités au méme titre que leurs actionnaires
privés.

Ce n’est pas un échec lamentable : cela fonctionne avec les
partenaires, et si une coopérative n’a pas sa place dans notre
région, il faut chercher des fagons de s’intégrer davantage a la
chaine de valeur. Je pense que les compagnies sont ouvertes a
cela. Il s’agit de savoir ce qui fonctionne a tel et tel endroit,
mais ici, une coopérative risque de faire faillite, alors il faut
arréter de penser quun modéle de coopérative qui réussit
exceptionnellement bien dans une région donnée connaitra du
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each area, based on the cultural realities that we are dealing with,
and say, let us design something that fits for the people in that
area. They will respond.

Senator Mercer: You mentioned two important topics that we
have not covered much; one is the lack of availability of financial
institutions in rural Canada. The TD bank closing in Delta is a
big issue for the people there, and these closures are happening all
across the country. As well, there is the lack of access to legal
services. Nobody wants to go to the bank or the lawyer, but we all
must go to both.

Do you think one of the solutions might be if we had high
speed, broadband Internet access in rural Canada? Would that
help us solve part of the problem?

Ms. Monaghan: Yes, I think that would assist with that issue.
I know in my community, I think through Industry Canada,
the Community Access Program, CAP, has introduced computer
and Internet use to the rural communities. It has been well
received and useful. I think more along that line would be of
value.

Senator Mercer: To carry on the discussion with respect to
legal services, has the Ontario Bar Association addressed this
issue specifically with respect to rural Ontarians? There are a lot
of lawyers in this province — some would say too many — but
they are not located in rural Ontario. They are not where some
people need them.

Has the bar society addressed this issue? How do we provide
services to rural Ontario and how do we make services accessible,
perhaps via the Internet?

Ms. Monaghan: My understanding is that the small town rural
lawyer is a dying breed because the rewards, for whatever reason,
of a rural practice are not seen by young people becoming
lawyers. They are more interested in being in the larger centres. It
is more rewarding in various ways.

I think the Law Society of Upper Canada, which is the
governing body for lawyers in Ontario, is looking at that. It is
maybe a bit grandiose in that they are saying that not having
small town lawyers like me is an access-to-justice issue, and that if
there are not lawyers in small towns, people do not have access to
justice. They are only starting to address that issue.

I do not know if Internet and computer use is the total answer
for that kind of problem, but it would be of some assistance for
getting advice.

Senator Mercer: I am sure the lawyers will find some way
to get around the billing aspect of Internet access, which is
important.

Ms. Monaghan: Yes. Although, to give credit, many lawyers —

Senator Mercer: I am being as nice to lawyers as I can.

succes partout ailleurs. Il faut se pencher sur chaque région en
tenant compte de ses réalités culturelles, et puis concevoir un
modéle adapté a la situation. Si on répond a leurs besoins, les gens
vont s’engager.

Le sénateur Mercer : Vous avez introduit deux notions
importantes dont nous n’avons pas beaucoup parlé. D’une part,
il y a le manque d’institutions financiéres dans les campagnes au
Canada. Le départ de la banque TD de Delta représente un gros
probléme pour la population locale, et de telles fermetures ont lieu
partout au pays. D’autre part, il y a ’accés insuffisant aux services
juridiques. Personne n’aime se rendre a la banque ou chez un
avocat, mais nous devons tous y aller un jour ou 'autre.

Pensez-vous qu'une des solutions serait de donner accés a
Internet haute vitesse a large bande a la population canadienne
vivant dans les régions rurales? Est-ce que cela nous aiderait a
résoudre une partie du probleme?

Mme Monaghan : Oui, ce serait un bon coup de pouce.
Dans ma communauté, le Programme d’accés communautaire
(PAC) — qui releéve d’Industrie Canada, je crois — a popularisé
I'utilisation de I'ordinateur et d’Internet au sein des collectivités
rurales. Je pense qu’une initiative de cette nature pourrait étre
utile.

Le sénateur Mercer : Est-ce que 1’Association du Barreau de
I’Ontario a abordé le probléme des services juridiques, en
particulier pour les Ontariens vivant en milieu rural? La
province compte beaucoup d’avocats — certains diraient qu’il y
en a méme trop —, mais ils ne sont pas présents dans les zones
rurales. Ils ne sont pas la ou les gens en ont besoin.

L’Association du Barreau s’est-elle attaquée a ce probléme?
Comment fournir des services aux Ontariens vivant a la campagne
et comment les rendre accessibles? Est-ce qu’Internet serait une
possibilité?

Mme Monaghan : Il me semble que les avocats pratiquant dans
de petites villes se font rares, parce que les étudiants en droit n’y
voient pas d’avantages. Ils préférent travailler dans les grands
centres, et ce, pour diverses raisons.

Je pense que le Barreau du Haut-Canada, qui est I’organisme
qui chapeaute les avocats ontariens, se penche sur le dossier.
C’est peut-étre un peu exagéré de dire que parce qu’il n’y a pas
d’avocats comme moi dans les petites villes, il y a un probléeme
d’accés a la justice. L’organisme commence a peine a examiner la
question.

Je ne sais pas si I'usage d’Internet et de I'ordinateur suffit a
régler ce genre de probléme, mais cela permettrait au moins
d’obtenir quelques conseils.

Le sénateur Mercer : Je suis certain que les avocats trouveront
une fagon de contourner la question de la facturation des services
Internet, ce qui est important.

Mme Monaghan : Oui. Par contre, il faut reconnaitre que
beaucoup d’avocats...

Le sénateur Mercer : J’essaie d’étre le plus gentil possible avec eux.
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Senator Callbeck: Ms. Monaghan, continuing on with the lack
of legal services in rural areas, even if there is a lawyer, a lot of
people cannot pay for one.

I was talking to a woman the other day that is presently in the
courts. She has been there three times now and she is representing
herself. There is something seriously wrong with that. I would not
want to go to court and defend myself without a lawyer. What do
we do about this legal aid situation?

Ms. Monaghan: I wish I had the answer. I went to law school at
Queen’s University in Kingston, and at that time there was a
student-run, rural legal aid service. Those of us in that service had
a van and we went to various small towns, rural areas in
Frontenac County to the north of Kingston, and provided legal
advice.

That seemed to work well and to be valuable. It was low level,
but it provided people with advice. Something like that might be a
partial solution.

An unrepresented person in court is a big problem for the
courts, not only for the people trying to access the courts but for
the judges. How do they deal with people fairly but not over-help
them when they go to court without their own lawyer?

Senator Callbeck: It is a real problem.

Ms. Monaghan: Yes, it is, especially in family situations.

Senator Callbeck: You mentioned the TD bank closing. Is
there the possibility of a credit union being established?

Ms. Monaghan: My understanding is that a credit union looked
at the possibility of replacing the Toronto Dominion bank in the
Delta community and decided, for business reasons, that it was
not viable.

Senator Callbeck: The other thing you mentioned was
micro-credit. That was a recommendation in the Prime
Minister’s task force for entrepreneurs, that it would help
women entrepreneurs a great deal, especially in rural areas.
That is something I support.

Ms. Monaghan: That would be interesting to explore.

Senator Callbeck: Mr. Beck, I only received this document this
morning, so I have not had time to read it; but I was glad to see the
part about maternity leave for women entrepreneurs or
self-employed people. The task force has recommended that as well.

You also talk about a tax credit for legitimate volunteer work
performed. How would that work?

Mr. Beck: I am sure a lot of people can explain how it cannot
work and why it should not work.

Simply, if somebody offers a professional skill or hours of their
time, why not give something back to them, whether it is 10 cents
or 20 cents on the dollar? As we heard today, a lot of our stuff is

Le sénateur Callbeck : Madame Monaghan, toujours au sujet
de la pénurie de services juridiques dans les zones rurales, il faut
savoir aussi que méme quand il y a des avocats, beaucoup de gens
n’ont pas les moyens de payer leurs honoraires.

Derni¢rement, je parlais a une dame qui est actuellement
devant les tribunaux. Jusqu’a présent, elle y est allée trois fois et
elle assure elle-méme sa défense. Il y a quelque chose qui cloche.
Je n’aimerais pas devoir me présenter devant un tribunal et me
défendre seule, sans avocat. Qu’en est-il de ’aide juridique?

Mme Monaghan : J’aimerais bien le savoir. J’ai étudié a I’école
de droit de I'Université Queen’s, a Kingston. A I’époque, il y avait
un service d’aide juridique en milieu rural dirigé par des étudiants.
Nous avions un véhicule et nous allions dans diverses petites
villes, dans des régions rurales du comté de Frontenac au nord de
Kingston, pour offrir un service de consultation juridique.

Cela semblait bien fonctionner et tres utile. C’était peu, mais les
gens pouvaient au moins obtenir des conseils. Instaurer quelque
chose de semblable permettrait de régler en partie le probléme.

Quelqu’'un qui se présente sans avocat a la cour pose un
probléme majeur pour les tribunaux, non seulement pour les gens
qui essaient d’y avoir accés, mais aussi pour les juges. En effet,
comment procéder de fagon juste, sans trop aider la personne
lorsqu’elle se présente au tribunal sans avocat?

Le sénateur Callbeck : C’est un vrai probléme.

Mme Monaghan : Oui, et particulié¢rement lorsque cela
concerne des situations familiales.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Vous avez parlé de la fermeture de la
banque TD. Est-il possible qu'une coopérative de crédit prenne sa
place?

Mme Monaghan : Je crois comprendre qu’une coopérative de
crédit a envisagé de remplacer la banque Toronto Dominion de
Delta et qu’elle a conclu, pour des raisons d’affaires, que ce ne
serait pas viable.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Vous avez également parlé du
microcrédit. C’était une recommandation du groupe de travail
du premier ministre visant les entrepreneurs. Cela aiderait
grandement les femmes chefs d’entreprises, particulierement
dans les zones rurales. J’appuie ce genre d’initiative.

Mme Monaghan : Ce serait une voie intéressante a explorer.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Monsieur Beck, j’ai recu ce document
seulement ce matin, je n’ai donc pas eu le temps de le lire dans le
détail, mais j’ai été contente de voir la partie portant sur le congé
de maternité pour les femmes chefs d’entreprises ou les
travailleuses autonomes. C’était également une recommandation
du groupe de travail.

Vous parlez aussi d’un crédit d’impot pour le bénévolat
reconnu. Comment cela fonctionnerait-il?

M. Beck : Je suis certain que beaucoup de gens pourraient
expliquer que c’est impossible a réaliser et pourquoi.

Si quelqu’un offre gracieusement ses compétences
professionnelles ou quelques heures de son temps, pourquoi ne
pas lui donner quelque chose en retour, que ce soit 10 ou 20 cents



22:52

Agriculture and Forestry

30-3-2007

community based. It would be a way to say, if you in the market
charge X dollars per hour for legitimate work you do for your
community, we will give you a small percentage of that back as a
tax credit against your personal income tax.

What would it do? I do not think it is as much about dollars as
about appreciation. You talked earlier about burnout for
volunteers. I think it would go a long way to help people that
are already working hard in their communities — to say, thanks
for doing something for us, here is a little token. It does not need
to be a big thing but only a gesture saying, thank you for helping
our communities grow.

Senator Callbeck: It would be to recognize their contribution.

Mr. Kamenz, you said Farm Credit Canada has been a leader.
They have challenged the banks to raise the bar. Can you give me
some examples of that leadership?

Ms. Kamenz: The farm improvement loans, which are
supported by the government, are one of those examples, as
well as the flexibility that the chartered banks extended to the
cattle industry through the bovine spongiform encephalopathy,
BSE, crisis. Those courtesies or flexibilities would not have been
extended, were it not for Farm Credit Canada providing
leadership and recognizing the cyclical nature, in that it is not
always lost: There would be opportunity for profit ahead.
Thankfully, we sit here today and cattle prices are the highest
they have been since before the border closed in 2003.

I do not know that one could point to concrete examples, other
than to say the chartered banks — and Farm Credit Canada, to
some extent — are profit driven. The chartered banks are a
dominant lender in agriculture. Obviously, they provide services
comparable to services provided by the competition. Farm Credit
Canada, in many cases, is the competition, so I suggest to you
that is a wonderful thing.

The Chairman: Thank you very much, colleagues. That draws
to an end our morning discussions. I thank all of you for
appearing. We never know, coming into communities, whether
this issue will interest people. It is gratifying to have you all
here.

The committee adjourned.

ATHENS, ONTARIO, Friday, March 30, 2007

The Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry
met this day at 1 p.m. to examine and report on rural poverty
in Canada.

Senator Joyce Fairbairn (Chairman) in the chair.

par dollar? Comme nous ’avons entendu aujourd’hui, beaucoup
de nos travaux visent la communauté. Cela reviendrait a dire que
si une personne sur le marché facturait X dollars de ’heure pour
un travail reconnu accompli pour le bien de la communauté, nous
lui remettrions une partie de ce montant sous forme de crédit
d’imp6t déductible de 'impot sur le revenu.

Quel en est I'avantage? C’est plus une question de reconnaissance
que d’argent. Plus t6t, vous avez parlé d’épuisement professionnel
chez les bénévoles. Je pense que leur donner un montant symbolique
en guise de remerciement pour les services qu’ils nous rendent
permettrait d’aider considérablement ces gens qui en font déja
beaucoup pour leur communauté. Il n’est pas nécessaire que ce soit
un gros montant; le but est de faire un geste pour les remercier
d’aider nos communautés a grandir.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Cela permettrait de reconnaitre leur
contribution.

Monsieur Kamenz, vous disiez que Financement agricole
Canada a été un chef de file, en défiant les banques de mettre la
barre encore plus haut. Pouvez-vous nous en donner quelques
exemples?

M. Kamenz : Les préts destinés aux améliorations agricoles, qui
sont soutenus par le gouvernement, en sont un parfait exemple;
on peut citer aussi la souplesse dont ont fait preuve les banques a
charte a I’égard des éleveurs bovins pendant la crise de
I’encéphalopathie spongiforme bovine (ESB). Ces facilités ou
cette souplesse n’auraient pu étre possibles si Financement
agricole Canada n’avait pas fait preuve de leadership et reconnu
la nature cyclique des problémes : tout n’est jamais perdu, la
situation s’améliorera plus tard. Heureusement, aujourd’hui, les
prix du bétail sont les plus hauts jamais enregistrés depuis la
fermeture de la frontiére en 2003.

Je ne sais pas quels exemples concrets donner, sinon dire que
les banques a charte — et Financement agricole Canada, dans une
certaine mesure — sont axées sur le profit. Elles sont d’importants
bailleurs de fonds pour l'agriculture et offrent visiblement des
services semblables a ceux de la concurrence. Financement
agricole Canada représente, de plusieurs fagons, la concurrence,
et nous nous en réjouissons.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup, chers collégues. Notre
discussion pour ce matin tire a sa fin. Je vous remercie tous de
vos témoignages. Nous ne savons jamais, en arrivant dans les
communautés, si ce dossier question intéressera les gens. C’est
gratifiant de vous voir tous ici.

La séance est levée.

ATHENS, ONTARIO, le vendredi 30 mars 2007

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de I’agriculture et des foréts se
réunit aujourd’hui a 13 heures pour examiner, en vue d’en faire un
rapport, la pauvreté rurale au Canada.

Le sénateur Joyce Fairbairn (présidente) occupe le fauteuil.
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[English]

The Chairman: Welcome to this historic occasion of having a
Senate committee here to talk about the issues of agriculture in
our country and in this area.

I first want to introduce to you the Mayor of Athens,
John Conley. We are so pleased that you have come to visit
us. Now, evidently, you have become a witness, which is even
better.

As I understand, sir, you have been the mayor for four months,
and you spent six years as a councillor and you have 31 years of
experience in the conservation field. You have lived, sir. We are
very glad to have you here. Thank you for spending time
with us.

John Conley, Mayor of Athens: I wish to say thank you very
much and a special thanks to Senator Segal for having this
meeting here in our township, which is dear to the heart of some
newcomers, as well as the old-timers. We are pleased to have you
here enjoying the day and the activities.

The Chairman: From the Leeds and Grenville Landowners
Association, I would like to introduce Shawn Carmichael,
Director, and Jacqueline Fennell, President.

We also have Sandra Lawn, who is here as an individual
with good views. Peggy Sweet-McCumber is the Chair of
Seely’s Bay-Lyndhurst and Area Non-Profit Seniors Residence
Corporation. All of you are very welcome, and we are interested
in hearing what you have to say.

Shawn Carmichael, Director, Leeds and Grenville Landowners
Association: You will have to pardon me. Farmers do not
always make the best public speakers, but we will try our best
today.

We were asked to come today to discuss rural poverty in
Ontario. We must understand that we are living it here; we are in
it every day. With no disrespect, the majority of people sitting in
this room today are paid to be here; we are not. This is coming
out of our time.

Our biggest problem is our freedom of choice to market our
agricultural products. In Ontario and throughout Canada, we do
not have that freedom. It is guaranteed to us under the Canadian
Charter of Rights and Freedoms, but we do not have it. In this
country, we have a system called supply management, which is a
monopoly in the marketplace that controls agricultural products.
What we need in Ontario, and of course throughout the rest of
Canada, is the ability to market our own products.

To give a little history and see how this affects rural Ontario,
40 years ago, marketing boards were put into place to help the
family farm. To no avail, producers and farmers bought into that.
We felt that processors were a threat to us and collectively, as a
group, we would get more clout in the marketplace if we were just
one group selling the product. Unfortunately, the bureaucracy

[Traduction]

La présidente : Bienvenue pour cette occasion historique au
Comité sénatorial permanent de 'agriculture et des foréts qui
vient ici pour parler des problémes que rencontre le milieu
agricole dans notre pays et en particulier dans la région ou nous
sommes.

J’aimerais d’abord vous présenter le maire d’Athens,
John Conley. Nous sommes ravis que vous ayez accepté notre
invitation. Evidemment, vous étes méme témoin, ce qui est
encore mieux.

Je crois savoir que vous étes maire depuis quatre mois et que
vous avez été avant cela conseiller municipal pendant six ans.
Vous avez d’autre part 31 ans d’expérience dans le domaine de la
conservation. Vous vivez ici depuis longtemps. Nous sommes trés
heureux de vous avoir parmi nous. Merci d’avoir pris le temps de
venir.

John Conley, maire d’Athens : Je veux vous remercier
moi-méme et en particulier le sénateur Segal, de tenir cette
réunion dans notre canton, cher a certains nouveaux venus
comme aux anciens. Nous nous réjouissons de vous avoir ici pour
la journée.

La présidente : De la Leeds and Grenville Landowners
Association, j’aimerais présenter Shawn Carmichael, directeur,
et Jacqueline Fennell, présidente.

Nous avons aussi Sandra Lawn, qui est ici a titre personnel.
Peggy Sweet-McCumber est présidente de Seely’s Bay-Lyndhurst
and Area Non-Profit Seniors Residence Corporation. Bienvenue
a tous. Nous sommes impatients d’entendre ce que vous avez a
nous dire.

Shawn Carmichael, directeur, Leeds and Grenville Landowners
Association : Vous voudrez bien me pardonner mais les
agriculteurs ne sont pas toujours les meilleurs orateurs publics.
Nous ferons de notre mieux.

On nous a demandé de venir discuter de la pauvreté rurale
en Ontario. Il faut savoir que c’est ce que nous vivons ici,
quotidiennement. Je vous dirais respectueusement que la majorité
des gens qui sont dans cette salle aujourd’hui sont payés pour étre
ici, pas nous. Nous devons prendre sur notre temps.

Notre plus gros probléme, c’est la liberté de choix pour
commercialiser nos produits agricoles. En Ontario, et partout au
Canada, nous ne jouissons pas de cette liberté. Elle nous est
garantie en vertu de la Charte canadienne des droits et libertés
mais nous ne ’avons pas. Dans notre pays, nous avons un systéme
de gestion de I'offre qui représente un monopole qui contréle les
produits agricoles. Ce qu’il nous faut, en Ontario, et évidemment
partout au Canada, c’est la possibilité de commercialiser nos
propres produits.

Considérons un peu I’histoire et voyons en quoi cela touche
I’Ontario rural. 11 y a 40 ans, on a mis sur pied des offices de
commercialisation afin d’aider les exploitations familiales. Les
producteurs et les agriculteurs se sont lancés la-dedans, mais
pour rien. Nous avions l'impression que les transformateurs
représentaient une menace et que, collectivement, nous pourrions
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crept into the marketing boards and the marketing boards took
on a life of their own. They never did fulfil the promise of
protecting the family farm.

Forty years ago in our area, in a square mile from our house,
we had over 12 milk producers and those milk producers milked,
on average, 30 or 40 cows. Back then, neighbour helped
neighbour. Everyone up and down the road helped one another
and looked after one another. No one was rich, but on one was
living in poverty either. Today in that same square mile, we have
one producer, and that one producer is milking 300 cows.

You might ask how this affects our rural economy. Well, it
does, because now one producer buys all of his inputs outside of
the local economy, whereas before, 12 producers bought their
inputs within the local economy and supported the local
economy. They went to the hardware store and the grocery
store. There was a cheese factory almost every five miles down the
road. Those cheese factories employed local people. In return, we
supplied those cheese factories with local milk. Today, there are
no local cheese factories; they are all gone.

To understand how that affects the local economy, when you
no longer have those producers producing, that money is no
longer there in the local economy, supporting the community.
On behalf of the Leeds and Grenville Landowners Association,
we are saying that we are not looking for money from the
government to solve our problems. That is not what we need. We
need the government to make the choice to say, we want to help
you and we are willing to do something so that the producer has
the freedom of choice to market his products.

We are not looking for a handout. Does the government have
the will to help the rural economy, to help the local producer so
that he can market his products? That is all we are asking from
the government.

I am more than happy and willing to answer any questions that
senators might have.

Jacqueline Fennell, President, Leeds and Grenville Landowners
Association: I am very pleased that the Senate has recognized that
there is a crisis in agriculture in rural Ontario.

The main reason for poverty or trouble in the rural area is
over-regulation. We are bombarded with new regulations from
commodity groups every facet of government. It does not matter
where we turn we find new regulations that are taking away our
ability to earn a living from our property. I refer to the Clean
Water Act, the Species at Risk Act, the Nutrient Management
Act, and others. Of course, these are important; no farmer wants
dirty water or a polluted landscape. However, these measures are
taking away our ability to earn a living. They all cost money and
they are costing the farmers money for the public good. Clean
water is for the public good, but the real person who pays the bill
is the farmer who loses the right to use his property and to earn a
living off that property.

avoir plus d’influence sur le marché si nous vendions notre
produit en nous regroupant. Malheureusement, la bureaucratie
s’est installée dans les offices de commercialisation et ils se sont
développés indépendamment de nous. Ils n’ont jamais, comme
promis, protégé I’exploitation familiale.

Il y a 40 ans, dans notre région, sur un mille carré autour de
notre maison, il y avait 12 producteurs de lait qui trayaient
en moyenne 30 a 40 vaches. Dans ce temps-la, les voisins
s’entraidaient. Tout le monde s’entraidait et s’occupait des autres.
Personne n’était riche mais personne n’était pauvre non plus.
Aujourd’hui, sur ce méme mille carré, il n’y a plus qu'un
producteur et ce producteur trait 300 vaches.

Vous vous demanderez peut-étre en quoi cela agit sur notre
économie rurale. C’est qu’aujourd’hui, un producteur achéte
tous ses intrants en dehors de ’économie rurale alors qu’avant,
12 producteurs achetaient leurs intrants localement et soutenaient
I’économie locale. Ils allaient chez le quincailler et I’épicier. Il y
avait une fabrique de fromage presque tous les cinq milles le
long de la route. Ces fabriques employaient des locaux. Nous
approvisionnions ces fabriques de fromage en lait local.
Aujourd’hui, il n’y a plus de fabriques de fromage locales; elles
ont toutes disparu.

Pour comprendre en quoi cela joue sur 1’économie locale,
quand il n’y a plus de producteurs sur place, il n’y a plus d’argent
a mettre dans I’économie rurale, pour aider la collectivité. La
Leeds and Grenville Landowners Association n’est pas venue
demander de ’argent au gouvernement pour régler ses problémes.
Ce n’est pas ce dont nous avons besoin. Ce qu’il faut, c’est que le
gouvernement déclare qu’il veut nous aider et qu’il est prét a faire
quelque chose pour que les producteurs aient la liberté de choix,
puissent commercialiser eux-mémes leurs produits.

Nous ne venons pas quéter. Le gouvernement a-t-il la volonté
d’aider I’économie rurale, d’aider le producteur local afin qu’il
puisse commercialiser ses produits? C’est tout ce que nous
demandons au gouvernement.

Je serai trés heureux de répondre aux questions que voudront
me poser les sénateurs.

Jacqueline Fennell, présidente, Leeds and Grenville Landowners
Association : Je suis trés heureuse que le Sénat ait reconnu que
l’agriculture est en crise dans les régions rurales de I’Ontario.

La principale cause de la pauvreté ou des difficultés dans
les régions rurales est la surréglementation. Nous sommes
bombardés de nouveaux réglements pour tous les groupes
de produits. Tous ces nouveaux reéglements qui nous sont
constamment imposés par I'administration nous empéchent de
gagner notre vie a méme nos terres. Qu’il s’agisse de la Loi sur
I’eau saine, de la Loi sur les espéces en péril ou de la Loi sur la
gestion des éléments nutritifs, cela n’en finit plus. Il est évident
que ce sont des lois importantes; les agriculteurs ne veulent pas
salir I'eau ni polluer les paysages. Toutefois, ces mesures nous
empéchent de gagner notre vie. Elles coutent toutes cher et elles
obligent les agriculteurs a payer pour le bien public. L’eau propre
c’est pour le bien public mais celui qui paie la facture, c’est
l’agriculteur qui perd le droit d’utiliser ses terres et de gagner sa
vie a méme ses terres.
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We need to get back to a point where the urban population has
a tangible link to the food source. So many people in the city
think, I just go to Loblaws and it is there. They do not seem to
know that there is someone an hour or two hours away who has
the ability to grow that food for them.

If we think back 30-40 years, pretty much everyone knew
someone that operated a farm. They had an understanding of
how that worked — how the food was grown, the labour and the
time that goes into that work. Now we have an urban population
that believes that it just shows up at the store and they get to buy
it; that it does not matter whether we have food that is produced
here, because we can always have it imported.

The problem with that is, first, we do not know what is being
imported as far as quality goes. Recent event indicate that some
imported food is not the same quality as Canadian food. The
reason for that poorer quality can be pesticide use in the foreign
country. These foods are not screened like our Canadian food.
The Canadian Food Inspection Agency plays a very active role in
harassing local producers, but they do not do much of anything
when the food is imported.

Getting back to my point, we need to reconnect people with
where their food comes from. When a consumer wants to buy
local produce that should be encouraged. They should not be
scared into not doing that, which is something that some
government agencies have been doing with fear mongering;
scaring consumers and telling them that local food production is
not going to be as safe for you as what you might get at the
grocery store, which is very sad and very untrue.

Our current regulatory system, which I will speak to for a few
minutes, is supply management; and it was brought in with very
good intentions to protect the small family farms. Unfortunately,
that is not what it is doing. The dairy farmers have already made
statements claiming that they cannot make a living on 20 cows.
I say that if you want to make that choice, you should be allowed
to make that choice; no one should be telling you that you cannot
have a small farm. If these farmers are stopped, they will soon go
out of business. We should be encouraging small farm operations.
We should be suspicious of the mass corporate farms that seem to
be moving into this area of Canada.

We need the ability to market directly to the consumer. There
are huge numbers of people in the cities who want to purchase
products directly from the farmers. Some city people recognize
that buying directly from the farmer means they know where and
how the food is produced. That direct purchase creates a tangible
relationship with the farmer and his land. The people know what
they are getting. They know whether they are getting an organic
product or a natural product, something that is free of pesticides
or chemicals. Unfortunately, we have almost a police state in

Nous devons revenir a une situation qui permette a la
population urbaine d’avoir un lien tangible avec la source de
son alimentation. Il y a tellement de gens dans les villes qui
pensent qu’il suffit d’aller chez Loblaws et qui ne semblent pas
savoir qu’il y a quelqu’un a une heure ou deux de 1a qui a la
capacité de produire cette nourriture pour eux.

Si I’on remonte 30 ou 40 ans en arriére, pratiquement tout le
monde connaissait quelqu’un qui avait une exploitation agricole.
On comprenait comment cela fonctionnait — comment on
produisait la nourriture, le travail et le temps que cela
nécessitait. Aujourd’hui, la population urbaine croit que la
nourriture arrive miraculeusement au magasin pour qu’elle
puisse l’acheter; qu’il importe peu que cette nourriture soit
produite ici ou ailleurs parce qu’on peut toujours en importer.

Le probléme, c’est que, d’abord, nous ne pouvons pas
étre assurés de la qualité de ce que nous importons.
Des événements récents nous ont révélé que certains aliments
importés n’atteignent pas la qualité des aliments canadiens. C’est
peut-étre une question de pesticide utilis¢é dans le pays de
production. Ces aliments ne sont pas contrélés comme les
aliments canadiens. L’Agence canadienne d’inspection des
aliments ne se prive pas pour harceler les producteurs locaux,
mais elle ne fait pas grand-chose lorsqu’il s’agit d’aliments
importés.

Il faut donc que nous fassions a nouveau comprendre
a la population d’ou vient son alimentation. Lorsqu’un
consommateur veut acheter des produits locaux, on devrait
I’encourager. On ne devrait pas lui faire peur pour qu’il y renonce
comme le font certains organismes gouvernementaux qui effraient
les consommateurs en leur disant que la production locale ne sera
pas aussi sire que ce que ’on trouve a I’épicerie, ce qui est trés
triste et tout a fait faux.

Notre systéme actuel de réglementation, dont je vais vous
entretenir quelques minutes, repose sur la gestion de 'offre; il a
été institué avec de trés bonnes intentions, afin de protéger les
petites exploitations familiales. Malheureusement, ce n’est pas ce
qui se passe. Les producteurs laitiers ont déja dit qu’ils ne peuvent
pas survivre avec 20 vaches. Je dis que si I'on veut faire ce choix,
on devrait pouvoir le faire; personne ne devrait dire a quiconque
qu’il ne peut pas avoir une petite exploitation. Si on empéche ces
agriculteurs de faire ce qu’ils veulent, ils vont finir par laisser
tomber. Nous devrions encourager les petites exploitations
agricoles. Nous devrions nous méfier des grosses exploitations
commerciales qui semblent s’installer dans notre région.

Il faut que nous puissions vendre directement aux
consommateurs. Il y a énormément de gens dans les villes qui
veulent acheter directement des producteurs. Il y a des gens
de la ville qui reconnaissent qu’en achetant directement des
producteurs, ils savent ou et comment les aliments sont produits.
Cet achat direct crée une relation tangible avec ’agriculteur et sa
terre. Les gens savent ce qu’ils achétent. Ils savent s’il s’agit
d’un produit biologique ou d’un produit naturel, d'un produit
qui n’a pas été traité aux pesticides ou produits chimiques.
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farming, where farmers are being charged for providing good
food to people who want it. We need to get away from that
system.

I will touch a little on the pasteurization process. Right now,
we have regulations that ensure that milk must be pasteurized.
These regulations came into force in 1938. I say much has
changed since 1938 and the regulations need to be reviewed, at
both the federal and provincial level. I understand that there are
good arguments to be made on both sides of the debate, but it
needs to be revisited to ensure that our laws are current.

I feel that people deserve the choice to buy drinking milk from
the grocery store or from the farm; eggs from the grocery store or
eggs from the farm; bread or pickles from the grocery store or
from the farm. We had a situation in the last while here where
people were charged for making pickles and selling them. The
health units were telling people they would become ill from eating
homemade pickles or pies.

For generations, people have lived in the country by sharing
food, bartering, or going to community suppers where they could
eat the food someone else made. Right now, that is not legal and
that is scary.

My presentation is that we need to ensure freedom of choice
for the consumer, and freedom of choice for the farmer to
produce whatever that product might be, free from regulation.

Sandra Lawn, as an individual: Distinguished members of the
Senate and other guests, it is certainly a pleasure to be here as
someone who grew up in the wilds of Northern Ontario, where
forestry was certainly very important. As the granddaughter of a
farmer, I can feel the connections between your committee and
the issue before us today, which is rural poverty, particularly
within the context of agriculture and forestry.

I am here as an individual, but that is a bit of a misconception
in that I do have some very definite views that were shaped by my
upbringing. They are also shaped by my association with some of
the groups that are active in our rural community, particularly the
Mohawk community at Akwesasne. I have worked with that
community for 15 years.

I want to direct my comments to the basic principles of the
naturalized knowledge system of the Mohawks, because I believe
they are relevant to what we are talking about, which is the very
complicated subject of rural poverty and rural life.

The Mohawk community has seven basic principles. 1 believe
you have a copy before you. In no special order, they include:
cooperation is the way to survive; responsibility is the best
practice; the earth is our mother; knowledge is powerful, but only
when it is shared; the spiritual is close to the earth; and everything
is connected to everything. They have added recently, because
they feel so strongly about it, that place is important.

Malheureusement, nous avons presque un Etat policier en ce qui
concerne I’agriculture. Les agriculteurs sont accusés de fournir de
bons aliments aux gens qui en veulent. Il faut que nous mettions
fin a ce systéme.

Je vous dirai quelques mots sur la pasteurisation. A I’heure
actuelle, nous avons des réglements qui stipulent que le lait doit
étre pasteurisé. Ces réglements sont entrés en vigueur en 1938. Or,
beaucoup a changé depuis 1938 et les réglements devraient étre
révisés, tant au niveau fédéral qu’au niveau provincial. Je
comprends qu’il y a de bons arguments de part et d’autre, mais
il faut réexaminer la question pour nous assurer que nos lois sont
a jour.

J’estime que les gens devraient avoir le choix d’acheter du lait a
I’épicerie ou a la ferme; des oeufs a I’épicerie ou a la ferme; du
pain ou des condiments a 1’épicerie ou a la ferme. Derniérement,
dans notre région, on a accusé des gens de vendre des condiments.
Les services de santé disaient a la population qu’elle serait malade
si elle mangeait des condiments ou des tartes faits artisanalement.

Pendant des générations, les gens vivaient a la campagne en
échangeant des aliments, en troquant ou en allant a des soupers
collectifs prendre un repas qui avait été préparé par d’autres.
Maintenant, ce n’est plus légal et c’est effrayant.

Ce que je veux dire, c’est que nous devons donner aux
consommateurs la liberté de choisir et donner également
a lagriculteur de choisir de produire ce qu’il veut, sans
réglementation.

Sandra Lawn, a titre personnel : Sénateurs et mesdames et
messieurs, je vous remercie de m’avoir invitée. J'ai été élevée
dans les régions sauvages du nord de I’Ontario, ou les foréts
avaient beaucoup d’importance. Petite-fille d’agriculteur, je
connais bien le probléme dont est saisi votre comité, a savoir la
pauvreté rurale, en particulier dans le contexte de ’agriculture
et des foréts.

Je suis ici a titre personnel mais ce n’est pas tout a fait
vrai en ce sens que j'ai des avis trés arrétés que je tiens de la
facon dont j’ai été élevée ainsi que de mon association avec certains
groupes actifs dans notre secteur rural, en particulier
les Mohawks d’Akwesasne. Je travaille avec eux depuis 15 ans.

Mes commentaires porteront sur les principes fondamentaux
du systéme de connaissances fondé sur la loi naturelle des
Mohawks car je crois que c’est tout a fait pertinent dans le
contexte de la discussion trés compliquée que nous avons au sujet
de la pauvreté et de la vie en milieu rural.

Les Mohawks ont sept principes fondamentaux. Je crois que
vous les avez sous les yeux. Je vous les donne dans le désordre : la
coopération est le moyen de survivre; la responsabilité est la
pratique exemplaire; la terre est notre mére; la connaissance est
puissante mais seulement si elle est partagée; le spirituel se
rapproche de la terre; et tout est li¢ a tout. Ils ont ajouté
récemment, parce qu’ils en sont tellement convaincus, que le lieu
est important.
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I want to direct my comments to those particular points,
beginning with cooperation is the way to survive and
responsibility is the best practice. Just briefly, I would like to
highlight the great changes that have taken place in the rural
community in the last 50 years from when almost everyone in the
rural community was either a farmer or a logger in the northern
communities, or was associated with the farming and the logging
industry. In those days, there was a tremendous amount of
cooperation and support from one family to another. They were
effective models of consensus building and working together. We
still see that in our community with country fairs and the
conservation authorities, stewardship councils, the agricultural
associations and so on.

Everything is connected to everything else, everyone is
connected to everyone else in one way or another, and we see
this very much in the rural community. I would like to mention
some of the key things that are of concern in the areas where
I work, which is in the area of mental health for children and
youth, the environment and community economic development.

I will use as an example a rural community that is attempting
to influence the issue of poverty in that rural community, where
many of the jobs that were there in past years have disappeared.
The community is looking at the strengths of the community and
building on the resource of the St. Lawrence River. We are on the
south coast of Canada and we have been able to develop a
professional Shakespeare theatrical company, which is not
unusual in our rural communities. In this very hall, over the
last few years, we have had some interesting cultural
presentations. On CBC, they mentioned that the Canada
Council presents $6 per capita to Canadians for the arts. We
would love to see that come into our rural communities to assist
us in the things that we are trying to do.

The fact that knowledge is important, but only when it is
shared, is also extremely important because it ties to the
importance of education and developing special programs that
apply to the rural community. When I went to school in
Matachewan, I studied agriculture. Now there is a community,
Norwood, which has introduced a curriculum around forestry.

I would like to speak very briefly to the issue of the
environment and the landscape. Particularly, I will zero in on
Eastern Ontario. You have a map before you, which shows the
forest resource inventory. You will notice, I hope, and wonder
why it says 1978, 1991 and 1996. The reason it has those dates on
it is that here in Ontario, we are very far behind in our inventory
and knowledge of the landscape.

It is extremely important to know about and support the work
of, for example, the Canadian Forest Service, which has set
up 11 model forests across Canada. Here in Eastern Ontario, we
have 1.5 million hectares of land, most of which is rural and
owned by private individuals. Unlike the boreal forest and other
areas, which are Crown lands, here it is privately owned.

The Eastern Ontario Model Forest, which occupies
these 1.5 million hectares of land, has made a tremendous effort
for the past 15 years. One of our latest initiatives has to do with
trying to come to grips with the issue of rural poverty by looking

Jaimerais revenir sur ces différents points, en commeng¢ant par
le fait que la coopération est la facon de survivre et que la
responsabilité est la pratique exemplaire. Trés briévement,
jaimerais souligner les grands changements qui sont survenus
dans la population rurale au cours des 50 derniéres années alors
qu’autrefois pratiquement tout le monde dans ces régions était
soit agriculteur soit blicheron dans le Nord ou était associé¢ au
secteur agricole ou au secteur forestier. A I’époque, il y avait
énormément de coopération et les familles s’entraidaient
beaucoup. C’était la des modéles de collaboration et de décision
par consensus. Nous continuons a voir cela a "occasion de nos
foires agricoles, des agences de conservation, des conseils de
gérance de I’environnement, des associations agricoles, et cetera.

Tout est lié a tout, tout le monde est lié a tout le monde d’une
fagcon ou d’une autre et c’est tout a fait réel dans le milieu rural. Je
voudrais maintenant signaler certaines des choses essentielles
qui nous inquiétent dans mes domaines d’emploi, notamment la
santé mentale des enfants et des jeunes, I’environnement et le
développement économique local.

Prenons I'exemple d’une localité rurale qui s’efforce de faire
quelque chose au sujet de la pauvreté dans son milieu, ou
beaucoup des emplois qui existaient ont disparu. Cette localité
examine ses points forts et la possibilité d’utiliser la ressource que
représente le Saint-Laurent. Nous sommes sur la céte sud du
Canada et nous avons réussi a nous doter d’une compagnie
théatrale professionnelle Shakespeare, ce qui n’est pas rare dans
nos régions rurales. Dans la salle oi nous sommes, ces derniéres
années, nous avons offert certaines représentations culturelles
intéressantes. Sur la chaine anglaise de la SRC, on a dit que le
Conseil des Arts offre 6 $§ par habitant aux Canadiens pour les
arts. Nous aimerions beaucoup que cela atteigne nos régions
rurales pour nous aider dans ce que nous essayons de faire.

Le savoir est important mais seulement s’il est partagé. C’est
également la une notion essentielle qui rejoint I'importance de
I’éducation et la nécessité d’avoir des programmes spéciaux qui
s’appliquent aux populations rurales. A Matachewan, j’ai étudié
lagriculture. Il y a maintenant une localité, Norwood, qui a un
programme forestier.

Jaimerais aussi vous dire quelques mots de I'environnement et du
paysage. Jinsisterai en particulier sur 1’est de I’Ontario. Vous avez
devant vous une carte qui montre les ressources forestiéres. Vous
remarquerez, je I’espére, qu’il est question de 1978, 1991 et 1996. Sil
y a ces dates, c’est parce qu’ici, en Ontario, nous sommes trés en
retard en ce qui concerne l'inventaire et notre connaissance du
paysage.

Il est extrémement important de savoir ce que fait le Service
canadien des foréts qui a congu 11 foréts modéles au Canada.
Ici, dans I’est de I’Ontario, nous avons 1,5 million d’hectares de
terres, dont I’essentiel est rural et appartient a des particuliers.
Contrairement a la forét boréale et a d’autres régions, qui sont des
terres publiques, ici, c’est privé.

La Forét modéle de I’est de I’Ontario, qui occupe 1,5 million
d’hectares, déploie des efforts énormes depuis 15 ans. Une de nos
derniéres initiatives consiste a essayer de remédier au probléme
de la pauvreté rurale en examinant nos forces en matiére de



22:58

Agriculture and Forestry

30-3-2007

at what our strengths are in the way of the mixed wood forest. We
are looking at the science that applies in today’s world, where
we are looking at sustainability of communities and resources,
together with the opportunity that this presents for Eastern
Ontario, in particular, for value-added wood products. We
are in the process of developing an eco-industrial park in
Edwardsburgh-Cardinal Township, where there is a port. It
used to be a national port, but it is now owned by the township.

The local people are taking the initiative. They are innovative,
forward thinking and looking for the kind of support that they
will need from the Government of Canada. For example, they are
looking to the government to help in continuing this unique
model forest or community forest as it is now called. It is a forest
for all of Canada. I am particularly interested in our Eastern
Ontario mixedwood forest, which is unique. The only similar
forested land of the same merit is located in Russia.

I believe that it is extremely important to keep our rural
communities strong. Although they make up on 20 per cent or
less of the population, they have the responsibility and the
stewardship for about 95 per cent of the landscape. The
communities must be a strong element in maintaining and
protecting the identity of our country, because our forested and
agricultural areas set the identity for this amazing country.

Peggy Sweet-McCumber, Chair, Seeley’s Bay/Lyndhurst and
Area Non-Profit Seniors Residence Corporation: I was born and
raised in Seeley’s Bay, which is 15 to 20 minutes from here, just on
the edge of Leeds County. I came back to the area to take over
two third-generation businesses that my grandfather and father
had — a small grocery store and school buses. My background is
in small business.

I was asked here today in my capacity as the chair of a
non-profit corporation. We have been trying to build affordable
seniors housing in Seeley’s Bay. We have been working at this
diligently for over three years. It is a huge struggle. I would like to
speak briefly about the housing situation in the United Counties
of Leeds and Grenville.

Almost 30 per cent of the households in Leeds and Grenville
have incomes of less than $30 000, which is the mark where
someone can own their own home. It is much more difficult if you
earn less than $30,000. Frequently, we have a high demand for
rental units. Over one-half of our seniors in this county have
incomes less than $20,000. Many own their own homes but
they would prefer, as they get older, to move into rental
accommodations. The high cost of maintaining their homes and
the high price of fuel makes it very difficult for the elderly to
maintain their homes. The local food bank people tell me that
they are aware of several seniors who, during the winter, move
into one room of their home, as it is the only room they can afford
to keep warm.

Our vacancy rates are dropping and our rents are escalating.
Many of the homes in this area are older homes. We have a higher
percentage of older homes than the national average. In my

foréts mixtes. Nous examinons les recherches scientifiques
qui s’appliquent au monde d’aujourd’hui, a la durabilité des
populations et ressources, aux possibilités que cela représente
pour I’est de I’Ontario, en particulier, dans les produits du bois a
valeur ajoutée. Nous sommes en train de construire un parc
écoindustriel dans le canton d’Edwardsburgh-Cardinal ou il y a
un port. C’était autrefois un port national mais il appartient
maintenant au canton.

C’est la population locale qui prend cette initiative. Elle a des
idées, elle pense a I'avenir et elle examine le genre de soutien
qu’elle devra demander au gouvernement canadien. Par exemple,
elle souhaiterait qu’il aide a maintenir cette forét modéle, ou
communautaire, comme on I’appelle maintenant. C’est une forét
unique pour tout le Canada. Je m’intéresse particuliérement a
notre forét mixte de I’est de ’Ontario qui est unique en son genre.
Les seules terres forestiéres similaires aussi intéressantes se
trouvent en Russie.

Il est extrémement important de maintenir la vigueur de nos
régions rurales. Bien qu’elles ne comptent plus que 20 p. 100 ou
moins de la population, elles ont la responsabilité et la gérance
d’environ 95 p. 100 du paysage. Cette population doit jouer un
réle majeur dans le maintien et la protection de Iidentité de notre
pays, car nos régions boisées et agricoles constituent I'identité de
notre incroyable pays.

Peggy Sweet-McCumber, présidente, Seeley’s Bay/Lyndhurst
and Area Non-Profit Seniors Residence Corporation : Je suis née et
j’ai été élevée a Seeley’s Bay, a 15 ou 20 minutes d’ici, a la limite
du canton de Leeds. Je suis revenue dans la région pour reprendre
deux entreprises de troisiéme génération que mon grand-pére et
mon pére avaient, a savoir une petite épiceriec et des autobus
scolaires. J’ai I’expérience des PME.

On m’a invitée ici a titre de présidente d’une société sans but
lucratif. Nous essayons de construire des logements abordables
pour les personnes agées a Seeley’s Bay. Nous y travaillons avec
grande diligence depuis plus de trois ans. C’est un défi énorme.
J’aimerais vous dire quelques mots de la situation du logement
dans les comtés unis de Leeds et Grenville.

Prés de 30 p. 100 des foyers de Leeds et Grenville ont un revenu
inférieur a 30 000 $, soit le seuil nécessaire pour étre propriétaire
d’un logement. C’est beaucoup plus difficile si I’'on gagne moins
de 30 000 $. Nous avons fréquemment une forte demande de
logements locatifs. Plus de la moitié de nos personnes agées dans
le comté ont un revenu inférieur a 20 000 $. Beaucoup sont
propriétaires de leur logement mais préféreraient, alors qu’ils
avancent en age, louer un logement. Le cott élevé de ’entretien de
leur logement et le prix du mazout font qu’il leur est difficile de
garder leur propriété. Les responsables de la banque alimentaire
me disent qu’ils savent qu’il y a plusieurs personnes agées qui,
durant I’hiver, se cloitrent dans une piece de leur maison, car c’est
la seule qu’ils peuvent se permettre de chauffer.

Les taux de vacance diminuent et les loyers augmentent.
Beaucoup des maisons dans notre région sont anciennes. Nous
avons un pourcentage plus élevé de vieilles maisons que la
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municipality of Leeds and the Thousand Islands, 40 per cent of
the homes need major and minor repair, which makes housing
situations difficult.

There has been no new money for new affordable houses in
Ontario since the early 1990s. I realize this is a provincial
responsibility, which is now at the county level, but I feel it is
important you realize the need.

Leeds and Grenville did a study to say that we need to build
570 units per year of affordable housing. Just recently, our county
has entered into an agreement called the Canada-Ontario
Affordable Housing Program, which puts money toward
building new homes. Our county was allocated 25 units. This is
for an area that includes Brockville, Westport, et cetera. It is
meant for housing victims of troubled youth, victims of domestic
violence, families and seniors with low income. It is a drop in the
bucket. That is why our group is fairly pessimistic that we will be
allocated any of those units.

In order to save and serve the needs of the rural poor, we need
more rental housing. It is a basic right of Canadians, and it is a
concern in our area. We need a strong commitment from all levels
of government, the private sector, service agencies and the local
community to work together.

Senator Segal: 1 want to address my question to
Mr. Carmichael and Ms. Fennell. I want to ensure I understand
what you are saying. If I misunderstand, please correct me.

What will happen if we do away with supply management?

Mr. Carmichael: We are not asking to do away with supply
management by any means. That is not what we are interested in.

Supply management reflects what we would call corporate
agriculture — factory farms. They have their market that
they need to fill. We do not want that market. We do not want
anything to do with that market. That is not a market that
small producers want to go after. We have a totally separate
market that we want to serve, but we do not have the ability
to do that under the present legislation.

We do not want to do away with supply management. They
have a market that they need to fill. They have a capacity they
need to fulfill and that is not something that we would ever be
interested in.

Ms. Fennell: We can work side by side without affecting each
other, which is the easy way to say it. We have two separate
markets. I think many of the small producers will fill the direct
market, similar to what you can do with other commodities. The
supply management market will process the large volumes that
Parmalat or Neilson’s might need, whereas a small operation with
milk cows will never be a drop in the bucket to those large
corporations.

moyenne nationale. Dans ma municipalité de Leeds and the
Thousands Islands, 40 p. 100 des maisons nécessiteraient des
réparations majeures et mineures, ce qui complique sérieusement
la situation du logement.

II n’y a pas eu de nouveaux investissements dans de
nouveaux logements abordables en Ontario depuis le début des
années 1990. Je sais qu’il s’agit d’une responsabilité provinciale,
qui est maintenant passée au palier du canton, mais je crois qu’il
est important que vous compreniez ce besoin.

Leeds et Grenville ont effectué une étude qui a permis de
conclure qu’il nous faut construire 570 unités de logement
abordables par an. Tout récemment, notre comté a signé une
entente dans le cadre du Programme de logement abordable
Canada-Ontario qui doit permettre de construire de nouveaux
logements. Notre canton s’est vu attribuer 25 unités. Ceci pour
une région qui inclut Brockville, Westport, et cetera. C’est pour
loger les jeunes en difficulté, les victimes de violence familiale, les
familles et personnes agées a faible revenu. C’est une goutte dans
un verre d’eau. C’est la raison pour laquelle nous sommes assez
pessimistes et ne pensons pas que I’on nous attribuera une seule de
ces unités.

Pour servir les besoins de la population rurale pauvre, il nous
faut davantage de logements locatifs. C’est un droit fondamental
qu’ont les Canadiens et c’est un probléme inquiétant dans notre
région. Il faut que tous les paliers de gouvernement, le secteur
privé, les organismes de services et la population locale
collaborent.

Le sénateur Segal : Je voudrais adresser ma question
a M. Carmichael ainsi qu’a Mme Fennell. Je veux étre str que
J’ai bien compris ce que vous disiez. Si je me suis trompé, n’hésitez
pas a me corriger.

Qu’arrivera-t-il si nous supprimons la gestion de I’offre?

M. Carmichael : Nous ne demandons pas de supprimer la
gestion de 'offre du tout. Ce n’est pas ce que nous souhaitons.

La gestion de l'offre refléte ce que I'on pourrait appeler
lagriculture commerciale — les fermes usines. Elles ont un
marché a servir. Nous ne demandons pas ce marché. Nous ne
voulons pas avoir affaire avec ce marché. Ce n’est pas un marché
qui intéresse les petits producteurs. Nous avons un marché
totalement différent a servir mais nous ne pouvons pas le faire
dans le cadre de la législation actuelle.

Nous ne voulons pas que 'on supprime la gestion de 1’offre.
C’est un marché qu’il faut servir. C’est une capacité a exploiter et
ce n’est pas quelque chose qui nous intéresse le moins du monde.

Mme Fennell : Autrement dit, nous pouvons travailler cote a
cote sans nous déranger les uns les autres. Nous avons deux
marchés distincts. Je crois que beaucoup de petits producteurs
satisferont le marché direct, comme on le fait pour d’autres
produits. Le marché de la gestion de l'offre traitera les gros
volumes qu’utiliseraient vraisemblablement Parmalat ou Nielson,
alors qu’une petite exploitation de vaches a lait ne pourrait jamais
satisfaire ces grosses entreprises.
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We have a problem within that system with transportation.
That is becoming a problem in the area, the countryside, because
they have to drive further to get the milk because the farmers are
leaving. Now we are bringing in transports. Transportation
within the system is becoming a problem. This takes out some of
the smaller stops and you can have the big transport that will stop
and pick up 100,000 litres in one place and provide you the choice
whether you want to be involved in that system or not. We do not
want to get rid of that system, but we do not want it to be a
mandatory system.

Senator Segal: You referred to legislation imposed on
landowners that makes it very hard to run a farm. Could you
share the legislation that does the most harm and limit people’s
freedoms most?

Ms. Fennell: The Clean Water Act will have terrible
consequences on rural Ontario. The Species at Risk Act is very
scary as well, if someone hears a noise or sees some sort of
remnants of an endangered species. Let us use the loggerhead
shrike, as an example, which has been found in the Smiths Falls
area. You cannot do anything with that property. You may own
500 acres; you pay taxes on those acres and maintain those acres,
but you cannot use them. I feel property rights need to be
addressed at the federal and provincial level to ensure that if land
or property is taken for the public good, the public pays for it.

Senator Segal: In my last comment, there was a proposal some
years ago for “constitutionalizing.” I take it you would be
supportive of that?

Ms. Fennell: Yes, very much so.

Senator Mercer: I, too, am a little confused on this. You would
like to work outside of supply management.

Ms. Fennell: Yes.
Mr. Carmichael: Yes.

Senator Mercer: You want to compete with people inside
of supply management and compete with large factory firms.
How do you do that? We have had supply management for a
long time. Farms are getting larger. They are not nearly as
large here as they are in parts of Western Canada, where they
produce a different product, but they are much larger.

Mr. Carmichael: It is the same analogy that Minister Strahl will
hopefully put into place for the Canadian Wheat Board. What we
are asking for is the same as he is asking for the Wheat Board,
where the farmers have voted saying they want freedom of choice
to be able to market their barley. What that does is put the Wheat
Board, the egg board or whatever board in a position where they
no longer can be a monopoly. They must be competitive in the
marketplace.

We are saying, no, we do not want to sell to the board; we want
to have the option to make private contracts with the consumer.
We have heard the rhetoric for years that this will spell the end
of supply management. It will not be its death knell. Supply

Dans ce systéme, nous avons un probléme de transport. Cela
devient un probléme dans la région, a la campagne, parce que les
gens doivent aller plus loin chercher leur lait du fait que les
agriculteurs s’en vont. Il faut maintenant transporter le produit.
Cela devient un probléme. Cela élimine certains des petits arréts,
car les gros transporteurs s’arrétent pour prendre 100 000 litres au
méme endroit et vous permettent d’entrer ou non dans le systéme.
Nous ne voulons pas nous débarrasser de ce systéme, mais nous
ne voulons pas qu’il soit obligatoire.

Le sénateur Segal : Vous avez parlé de lois imposées aux
propriétaires de terres qui font qu’il leur est trés difficile de diriger
une exploitation. Pourriez-vous nous dire quelles sont les lois qui
sont les plus néfastes et limitent le plus vos libertés?

Mme Fennell : La Loi sur I’eau saine aura des conséquences
terribles pour ’Ontario rural. La Loi sur les espéces en péril fait
également trés peur, dés que l'on entend quelque chose qui
rappelle les espéces en voie de disparition. Prenons I’exemple de la
pie-grieche migratrice que ’on a trouvée dans la région de Smiths
Falls. Il est impossible de faire quoi que ce soit de cette propriété.
On peut étre propriétaire de 500 acres, payer des impdts sur ces
terres, les entretenir, mais pas question de les utiliser. J’estime que
les droits de propriété doivent étre examinés aux paliers fédéral et
provincial afin que si des terres ou une propriété sont utilisées
pour le bien public, le public paye.

Le sénateur Segal : Il y a quelques années, il y a eu une
proposition de « constitutionnalisation ». Je suppose que vous
seriez favorable a cela?

Mme Fennell : Oui, absolument.

Le sénateur Mercer : Moi aussi, j’aimerais quelques précisions.
Vous aimeriez pouvoir travailler en dehors de la gestion de I’offre.

Mme Fennell : Oui.
M. Carmichael : Oui.

Le sénateur Mercer : Vous voulez concurrencer des gens qui
ont recours a la gestion de l'offre, des grandes fermes usines?
Comment vous y prendrez-vous? Nous avons la gestion de 1’offre
depuis longtemps. Les exploitations s’agrandissent. Elles ne sont
pas aussi importantes ici que dans certaines régions de I’ouest du
Canada, ou I'on cultive des produits différents, mais elles sont
beaucoup plus importantes qu’autrefois.

M. Carmichael : C’est la méme chose que ce que le ministre
Strahl va faire, espérons-nous, pour la Commission canadienne
du blé. Ce que nous demandons, c’est ce qu’il demande pour la
Commission, a propos de laquelle les agriculteurs ont voté et
déclaré qu’ils voulaient avoir la possibilité de commercialiser
eux-mémes leur orge. Le résultat, c’est que la Commission du blé,
la Commission de commercialisation des ceufs, ou n’importe
quelle autre commission, ne sont plus un monopole. Elles doivent
faire concurrence aux autres sur le marché.

Nous disons que ce n’est pas que nous ne voulons pas vendre a
la Commission; nous voulons la possibilité de signer des contrats
privés avec le consommateur. Nous entendons dire depuis des
années que cela mettra fin a la gestion de I'offre. Ce ne sera pas
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management will still carry on long after it is implemented. What
we will see from it is the revitalization of the rural economy,
because people will be putting money back into the economy.
This will solve a lot of those problems.

Ms. Fennell: We do not want to compete with them because we
are seeking different markets. In that context, we are not
competing with each other. To me, it is the same commodity,
whether it is a chicken, milk or eggs, but we are going to different
markets.

Niche markets are something we are encouraged to do.
I believe that a successful niche market is a sale between the
producer and the consumer. It is something we have lost.
It is value added because they can see what they are getting.
They have the ability to go to the farm, see how you are growing
that product, approve of that and tell you this is how they
want it done. This is a custom-grown food. You cannot do
that in the grocery store, where the product is packaged and
you buy it or you do not. I do not believe we are going after
the same market.

Senator Mercer: I can only refer you to my speech in the
Senate on the Wheat Board. Minister Strahl adds up farmers’
votes against the Wheat Board and I add them up in favour of
the Wheat Board, but I will not argue that today.

This housing issue is frustrating for all of us. It is not just a
rural thing, but it becomes magnified when you factor in the
transportation issues and the isolation.

You said the recommendation was 570 units per year, but in
reality, you are getting 25 units a year. Is that correct?

Ms. Sweet McCumber: It is 25 units for this year, and we have
not had anything since the 1990s.

Senator Mercer: Is it the old-style public housing that is
publicly owned?

Ms. Sweet-McCumber: It is not actually publicly owned.
They do not want to build it or own it. They want us out
in the community saying, we will build it and we will own it;
just give us money toward the construction.

Senator Mercer: If it will be the Province of Ontario, or
the Government of Canada or a combination, which says
the 570 number seems realistic for the area, let us do it, can you
deliver? Could 570 units be delivered in a year?

Ms. Sweet-McCumber: I believe so. I know there are many
organizations in towns and cities that will be applying for
these 25 units. If there was money for 570 units, we could do it.

Senator Mercer: Those units would be spread throughout the
entire region, is that correct?

son coup de grace. La gestion de 1’offre va continuer pendant tres
longtemps. Ce que 1’on constatera, c’est que I’économie rurale
s’en trouvera revigorée parce que les gens remettront de I’argent
dans I’économie. Cela réglera un grand nombre de ces problémes.

Mme Fannell : Nous ne voulons pas leur faire concurrence
parce que nous cherchons plutét d’autres marchés. Nous ne
sommes donc pas vraiment concurrents. Pour moi, il s’agit du
méme produit, peu importe qu’il s’agisse de poulets, de lait ou
d’ceufs, mais ce sont d’autres marchés qui nous intéressent.

Les marchés de créneau sont ceux qu’on nous encourage a
exploiter. Je pense qu'un marché du créneau porteur est celui qui
produit une vente entre le producteur et le consommateur. C’est
quelque chose que nous avons perdu. C’est une valeur ajoutée
parce qu’ils peuvent voir ce qu’ils obtiennent. Ils peuvent visiter la
ferme, voir comment se fait la production, donner leur accord et
dire au vendeur ce qu’ils veulent au juste. Il s’agit d’un produit
alimentaire fait sur mesure. Il est impossible de faire ce genre de
choses dans une épicerie ou le produit est déja emballé, le client
étant libre de ’acheter ou non. Je ne pense donc pas que ce soit le
méme marché qui nous intéresse.

Le sénateur Mercer : Je ne peux que vous rappeler le discours
que j’ai prononcé au Sénat au sujet de la Commission du blé. Le
ministre Strahl comptabilise le nombre de producteurs agricoles
qui sont contre la Commission et moi je comptabilise ceux qui
sont pour, mais nous ne débattrons pas de cela aujourd’hui.

Le probléme du logement est difficile pour nous tous. Ce n’est
pas un probléme qui intéresse uniquement la ruralité,
mais n’empéche qu’il se trouve amplifié dés lors qu’on y ajoute
les problémes de transport ainsi que I’isolement.

Vous avec dit que la recommandation faisait état de 570 unités
par an, mais en réalité vous n’en obtenez que 25, est-ce que je me
trompe?

Mme Sweet-McCumber : 11 s’agit de 25 unités cette année-ci,
mais nous n’avons encore rien eu depuis les années 1990.

Le sénateur Mercer : S’agit-il de logements sociaux comme
dans le temps, de logements qui appartiennent a ’Etat?

Mme Sweet-McCumber : Non, pas vraiment. Les
administrations ne veulent ni en construire, ni en posséder.
Elles veulent que la collectivité se charge de les construire et
d’en devenir propriétaire; donnez-nous simplement 1’argent
nécessaire pour le faire.

Le sénateur Mercer : Si c’est la province de I’Ontario ou le
gouvernement du Canada, ou encore les deux ensemble, qui disent
que ce chiffre de 570 unités semble réaliste pour cet endroit-la,
et si les deux s’entendent, pourriez-vous vous en charger?
Pourriez-vous construire 570 unités en un an?

Mme Sweet- McCumber : Je le crois. Je sais qu’il existe, dans
nos villes, toutes sortes d’organismes qui vont demander
ces 25 unités. Si on avait I’argent pour en construire 570, nous
pourrions nous en charger.

Le sénateur Mercer : Ces unités seraient éparpillées dans toute
la région, c’est bien cela?
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Ms. Sweet-McCumber: Yes, the units would be throughout the
United Counties of Leeds and Grenville.

Senator Mercer: If you get 570 units, I am sure Lanark County
will want their share as well. I appreciate that.

Senator Callbeck: Ms. Lawn, you have not had any questions
yet, have you? You mentioned the basic principles here and that
cooperation is a way to survive.

In our hearings last fall, we heard from academics
and government people who talked about the way rural
communities should survive is by getting together, cooperating
with one another, pooling their resources and so on. Are you
talking about that kind of cooperation? You mentioned fairs,
which are held in the community.

Ms. Lawn: I am talking about all kinds of cooperation among
all different groups, individuals and families. I think this was
always the way of the rural community, right from the very
beginning. One of the things that has happened is the fabric of the
rural community has changed drastically, whereas previously
people were in farming and forestry. Now, only 15 per cent of the
people in the rural countryside are involved in farming.

We have pockets of rural areas that are well off, the rural rich.
We also have pockets of the rural poor, people that perhaps are
living in substandard housing. Their children particularly, are
one of my main concerns. I am concerned with the isolation
of children and families and how it relates to mental health
problems. With 20 per cent of the Canadian population having,
at one time or another in their lives, a diagnosable mental
health problem, this is a well-substantiated statistic.

This is magnified many times in a rural community where the
services are not available. We talk about senior citizens, for
example, that might be suffering from Alzheimer’s and other
types of disabilities, who become isolated. In the past, there was
cooperation; everyone would have jumped in and helped — the
grandmothers or there were the aunts and uncles. It is not like
that anymore in the rural community, except in rare situations.

People are often strangers in a rural community that is around
a large centre. We are lucky in this community, which used to
be called “Farmersville.” If someone is burned out, there is
cooperation among the neighbours. Therefore, cooperation is the
way to survive among businesses that work together in a small
community, among individuals and families helping each other.
I use the model forest as an analogy, where we brought together
people who are concerned about the maintenance of forest cover.
They understand the importance of cooperating one with another,
to ensure the groundwater is protected in the communities.
Cooperation is definitely the way to survive. For human beings, it
is the only way we have ever been able to survive. The natives had
that same thought when they first came here.

Mme Sweet- McCumber : Oui, sur tout le territoire des Comtés
unis de Leeds et Grenville.

Le sénateur Mercer : Si vous obtenez 570 unités, je suis
persuadé que le comté de Lanark voudra également sa part. J’en
suis bien conscient.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Madame Lawn, on ne vous a pas encore
posé de questions, n’est-ce pas? Vous avez parlé des principes
fondamentaux et vous avez dit que la coopération était une fagon
de survivre.

Durant les audiences que nous avons tenues ’automne dernier,
des représentants des milieux universitaire et gouvernementaux
sont venus nous parler du fait que, pour que les collectivités
rurales survivent, il fallait qu’elles s’unissent, qu’elles coopérent
entre elles, qu’elles mettent en commun leurs ressources et ainsi de
suite. Est-ce de ce genre de coopération-la que vous parlez? Vous
avez parlé des foires qui sont organisées dans les différentes
localités.

Mme Lawn : Je pensais a toutes sortes de facons de coopérer
pour les différents groupes, les particuliers et les familles
intéressées. Je pense que c’est toujours ainsi que les choses se
sont passées dans les milieux ruraux, et cela depuis les tout débuts.
Mais I'une des choses qu’'on a pu constater, c’est que la trame
méme de la ruralité a changé du tout au tout : auparavant, les
ruraux cultivaient la terre et exploitaient la forét, mais maintenant,
il n’y a plus que 15 p. 100 des ruraux qui vivent de I'agriculture.

Il y a bien ici et la des secteurs ruraux qui s’en tirent bien, ce
sont les riches. Mais il y a également les pauvres, des gens qui
vivent dans des logements insalubres. Et ce sont surtout leurs
enfants qui me préoccupent. Ce qui m’inquicte, c’est I'isolement
des enfants et des familles, et le rapport entre cela et les problémes
de santé mentale. Comme 20 p. 100 des Canadiens sont, a un
moment ou a un autre de leur vie, victimes d’un probléme de santé
mentale diagnosticable, cette statistique est parfaitement validée.

Ce probleme se trouve amplifié dans les collectivités rurales qui
ne disposent pas de services. Nous parlons ici de personnes agées
qui souffrent, je ne sais pas, de la maladie d’Alzheimer ou d’un
autre genre d’handicap, et qui se trouvent isolées. Jadis, les gens
s’entraidaient. Tout le monde serait venu donner un coup de
main, les grands-méres, ou encore les tantes et les oncles. Mais
cela n’existe plus a la campagne, sauf dans de trés rares cas.

Souvent, dans les campagnes qui entourent un centre urbain,
les gens ne se connaissent pas. Chez nous, dans cette localité que
nous appelions jadis « Farmersville », nous avons plus de
chances. Si quelqu’un tombe victime d’épuisement, les voisins
viennent I’aider. Par conséquent, la fagon pour les entreprises qui
travaillent la main dans la main dans une petite collectivité,
pour les gens eux-mémes et pour les familles, la coopération et
I’entraide sont la clé de la survie. Jutilise ici la forét modéele
comme analogie, puisque dans ce cas-la, nous avons réussi a
mobiliser les gens qui voulaient assurer la préservation du couvert
forestier. Ils savent qu’il faut coopérer pour assurer la protection
des eaux phréatiques. La coopération est assurément la clé de la
survie. Pour I’étre humain, I'entraide a été la seule facon de
parvenir a survivre. Les Autochtones pensaient de la méme facon
lorsqu’ils sont arrivés pour la premiére fois ici.
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Senator Callbeck: Do you think that the rural communities
should be looking at cooperating with other rural communities in
promoting tourism, economic development or whatever the case
may be?

Ms. Lawn: They are doing that. We have made a supreme
effort to cooperate with the communities to organize the winter
games. We see more cooperation with the separated towns. Of the
four separated towns in Ontario, three of them are right around
here. I think that says something about the kind of people that
grew up here.

Smiths Falls is a separated town from the county, as are
Prescott and St. Marys in another part of Ontario. We are now
cooperating and bringing them back into closer discussions.
Sometimes the small towns feel the cities get their own way more
than the small rural municipalities. We are seeing a lot of
cooperation in cultural tourism, sport tourism and ecotourism.
Obviously, one community cannot do it alone.

Senator Callbeck: That is great. I noticed one program you
mentioned on which you did not elaborate. We have heard other
people talk about it and in my own province it is very successful.
It is the Community Futures Development Corporation. I assume
you feel that is a good program. Do you see any way that it could
be expanded?

Ms. Lawn: I was part of that program about 20 years ago
when this whole thing got going. In 1989, we were able to
redevelop a major waterfront in the town of Prescott. It was
called Community Futures then and it is called that again.

The Eastern Ontario Development Program is extremely
important for people in Eastern Ontario. It has its roots at the
federal level, but the decisions and the momentum comes from the
local communities such as downtown revitalization and the
development of food processing plants. In the case of the Eastern
Ontario Model Forest, we were able to receive funding from the
Eastern Ontario Development Program, which was extremely
beneficial. We must be aware of what is happening, particularly
in communities where forestry and logging have been important.
We must be equally aware when that industry is no longer an
important part of the economy. There are ways to do it in a
sustainable fashion, and this is what we are intent on doing. The
EODP, the Eastern Ontario Development Program through the
Community Futures Program has been very helpful.

Senator Callbeck: Do you have any recommendations to
expand on programs or improvements?

Le sénateur Callbeck : Pensez-vous que les collectivités rurales
devraient envisager de coopérer entre elles pour promouvoir
I’activité touristique, le développement économique ou que sais-je
encore?

Mme Lawn : C’est ce qu’elles font déja. Nous avons fait un
effort colossal pour coopérer avec les différentes collectivités afin
d’organiser les jeux d’hiver. Nous constatons que la coopération
est meilleure avec les villes séparées. Des quatre villes séparées de
I’Ontario, trois se trouvent a proximité d’ici. Je pense que cela en
dit long sur le caractére des gens qui ont grandi ici.

Smiths Falls est une ville distincte du comté, tout comme
Prescott et St. Marys dans une autre partie de la province. Mais
actuellement, nous coopérons et nous les faisons intervenir pour
des discussions plus approfondies. Il arrive que les petites villes
aient le sentiment que les grandes villes ont plus souvent gain de
cause que les petites municipalités rurales, mais la coopération est
trés présente dans les domaines du tourisme culturel, du tourisme
sportif et de I’écotourisme. Il est évident en effet qu'une
collectivité ne pourrait pas faire cela toute seule.

Le sénateur Callbeck : C’est merveilleux. Vous avez mentionné,
je m’en souviens, un programme que vous n’avez toutefois pas
précisé. D’autres témoins nous en ont parlé et, dans ma propre
province, ¢’est un programme qui a eu d’excellents résultats. Je
veux parler de la Société d’aide au développement des collectivités
et j'imagine que votre sentiment est qu’il s’agit d’un bon
programme. A votre avis, serait-il possible de I’élargir et si oui,
de quelle fagon?

Mme Lawn : J’ai travaillé dans le cadre de ce programme
il y a une vingtaine d’années, au moment de son lancement.
En 1989, nous avions ainsi pu réaménager une importante zone
riveraine de la ville de Prescott. A I’époque, il s’agissait du
Programme d’aide au développement des collectivités, et on lui
donne encore ce nom aujourd’hui.

Le Programme de développement de I’est de 1’Ontario est
extrémement important pour les gens de cette partic de la
province. C’est un programme qui émane du palier fédéral, mais
les décisions et les actions relévent des collectivités locales, par
exemple lorsqu’il s’agit de revitaliser des quartiers du centre-ville
ou de mettre sur pied des usines de conditionnement d’aliments.
En ce qui concerne la forét modele de I'est de ’Ontario, nous
avons pu nous faire subventionner par ce programme, ce qui
a été extrémement utile. Il faut en effet étre au courant de la
situation, surtout la ou I'industrie et I’exploitation forestiére sont
importantes. Et lorsqu’une industrie ne représente plus un maillon
important de I’économie locale, il faut également le savoir. Il y a
des fagons de faire qui sont durables, et c’est cela précisément que
nous voulons faire. Le PDEO, le Programme de développement
de I’est de 1’Ontario, intervenant par ’entremise du Programme
d’aide au développement des collectivités, a été extrémement utile
a ce titre.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Avez-vous des recommandations a faire
en ce qui concerne I’élargissement de certains programmes ou
encore des améliorations a y apporter?
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Ms. Lawn: Obviously, we are extremely pleased with how it is
working. I could recommend more money. There is a lot of
innovation and entrepreneurship at the community level and we
must pay attention to what the communities are saying about
their needs.

I think it would be most beneficial if we could see added
support for some of the big things coming down the pipe in terms
of bio-energy and forest products. Forty per cent of our farmers
have traditionally sold wood from their wood lots and it has been
a part of the local economy as well. Those days have changed so
much. We could have more support to build a futuristic economy
for the rural country side that is sustainable and based on solid
science.

Senator Callbeck: Ms. Sweet-McCumber, I agree with you that
more money should be spent on housing. In my province,
Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation, delivers a program
to low-income Islanders. These are people who need their roofs
shingled or problems that should be fixed today or tomorrow.
The waiting list is seven and one-half years. I certainly concur
with what you say.

Mr. Carmichael, I can certainly understand what you are
saying about growing up where, in a square mile there were all
kinds of farms, and now there is only one. That is exactly the
situation in Prince Edward Island.

Mr. Carmichael: A lot of rhetoric from this planned energy
industry says that is the way the world is going, that is
globalization. You have to understand that it is not. That is
called ‘gobble-ization’; neighbours gobbling up neighbours. That
system has failed us. We have to take a step back and ask where
we went wrong and fix the problem.

As Ms. Lawn has said, the problem will be fixed amongst
neighbours, amongst the rural community. We have to get back
to neighbour helping neighbour and not neighbour eating
neighbour.

Mr. Conley: 1 would like to add one comment about the
social housing. Remember, I am just new at this job. Last
month we went on a tour of the units that the county owns
and maintains. I believe there are 667 units. From what I could
see, the inventory that Leeds and Grenville has, with respect
to this type of unit, is one of the oldest in the province. Most of
the money we receive, either from taxpayers’ dollars or from
grants given to the county to look after these units, is spent
keeping the units up to date and repairing them. We cannot
afford to put new ones up. Of the 667 units, two in one
community should be sold or taken down. When that happens,
we are responsible for putting those two units back into the
inventory again. We will never get ahead. If anything, we need
more money to do that, to keep up to where we should be

Mme Lawn: Il est clair que nous sommes extrémement
satisfaits de la fagon dont cela fonctionne. Je pourrais toujours
recommander un meilleur financement. L’esprit d’entreprise et
d’innovation est trés présent dans la collectivité, et il faut écouter
attentivement ce que les collectivités ont a dire au sujet de leurs
besoins.

Je pense qu'un niveau d’aide accrue pour certains des grands
projets qui s’annoncent dans le domaine de la bioénergie et des
produits forestiers serait particuliérement utile. Quarante pour
cent de nos producteurs agricoles vendent depuis toujours leur
bois, et cela faisait partie également de I’économie locale. Mais les
choses ont bien changé. On pourrait nous aider davantage a
édifier, pour nos campagnes, une économie futuriste a la fois
durable et scientifiquement fondée.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Madame Sweet-McCumber, j’en
conviens avec vous, il faudrait consacrer plus d’argent au
probléme du logement. Dans ma province a moi, la Société
canadienne d’hypothéques et de logement a un programme pour
les habitants a faible revenu. Ce sont des gens qui doivent faire
refaire leur toit ou qui ont un probléme urgent a régler. Mais la
liste d’attente est longue et il faut sept ans et demi pour en
bénéficier. Alors, je suis assurément d’accord avec ce que vous
nous dites.

Monsieur Carmichael, je vous comprends parfaitement lorsque
vous parlez du fait que les gens avaient I’habitude de grandir la ou
il y avait plusieurs exploitations agricoles au kilométre carré alors
que maintenant il n’y en a plus qu’une. C’est précisément ce qui se
passe a I’fle-du-Prince-Edouard.

M. Carmichael : On entend souvent, dans I’argumentaire de
cette industrie de I'énergie planifiée, que I’avenir, c’est la
mondialisation. Mais il faut bien comprendre que ce n’est pas
vrai. Ce n’est pas de la mondialisation, c’est de la phagocytation,
chacun s’effor¢ant d’avaler son voisin. C’est tout le systéme qui
nous a trahis. Il faut donc prendre un peu de recul et nous
demander ou nous avons fait fausse route pour alors régler le
probléme.

Comme I’a dit Mme Lawn, le probléme, ce sont les voisins qui
vont lui trouver une solution, ceux qui vivent dans la collectivité
rurale. Il faut privilégier I’entraide entre voisins plutot que la
guerre fratricide.

M. Conley : Je voudrais ajouter une chose a propos du
logement social. N’oubliez pas que je suis nouveau ici. Le mois
dernier, nous avons visité les unités dont le comté est propriétaire
et dont il assure ’entretien. Je pense qu’il y en a 667. D’apres ce
que j’ai pu voir, en ce qui concerne précisément ce genre de
logements, le parc immobilier de Leeds et Grenville est I'un des
plus vieux de la province. Le plus clair de ’argent que nous
recevons, qu’il s’agisse de l’argent du contribuable ou des
subventions que le comté regoit pour assurer I’entretien des ses
logements, doit étre consacré a ’entretien de ces unités et a leurs
réparations. Nous n’avons pas les moyens d’en construire
d’autres. Sur ces 667 logements, il y en a deux qui devraient
étre vendus ou démolis dans une des collectivités. A ce moment-1a,
c’est a nous qu’il incombe d’en construire deux nouveaux pour
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at a county level. There is more to the social housing as well,
but these people need homes. I as a taxpayer am more than
willing to help out with that.

I think if taxpayers realized the amount of money going into
the program, they would be surprised as I am. Social housing is a
big component at the county level.

The Chairman: Thank you very much. I think you would find
agreement in various places across the country as well.

Thank you all for appearing. We very much appreciate your
remarks. Godspeed for what you are doing.

We will now move into our Town Hall meeting. We have
quite a bevy of witnesses before us. To keep things moving,
I will ask you to each introduce yourselves and exactly what
it is you are here to discuss. We will go one by one. My clerk
tells me that she has already asked to keep your remarks to
five minutes. That will give our senators a chance to ask
questions. We will start with Mr. Duncan.

Bill Duncan, President, Lanark Landowners Association: [ am
Bill Duncan, President of Lanark Landowners Association. We
represent over 2,200 landowners in Lanark County. We would
like to address the challenged of the rural poor.

Merle Bowes, as an individual: I am Merle Bowes. I am also a
member of the Lanark Landowners Association, and I am
representing the Eastern Ontario Producers Farmers Markets
Association.

Deborah Heintzman, Member, LINKS: I am Deborah
Heintzman. I am a member of the LINKS committee out of
Portland, Ontario. I am also a single mother and I am concerned
with the issues of rural poverty and economic development in our
area.

David Campbell, as an individual: 1 am David Campbell.
I am a farmer and I am here to tell you my stories today.

Dr. Denise Bowes, as an individual: I am Dr. Denise Bowes.
I have practised family medicine here in Athens since 1976.
I took early retirement due to illness in 1998. I am a volunteer
at Queen’s University, among other places, where I helped to
establish an elective course for students in six professional
faculties to train them how to live and work in rural areas.
I do a great deal of other volunteer work here in the community.
Welcome to our community.

reconstituer le parc immobilier. Mais de cette fagon, nous n’allons
jamais réussir 4 en construire davantage. A tout le moins, il nous
faut plus d’argent pour faire ce genre de choses, pour rester au
niveau auquel nous devrions étre a I’échelle du comté. Il y a plus a
faire au niveau du logement social, mais ce sont des gens qui ont
besoin d’un toit. En tant que contribuable, je suis on ne peut plus
prét a faire ma part.

Je pense que si les contribuables savaient tout ce qu’on dépense
dans le cadre de ce programme, ils seraient aussi étonnés que moi.
Le logement social est un élément trés important au niveau du
comté.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup. Je pense qu’il y a pas mal
d’endroits au Canada qui seraient également d’accord avec cela.

Merci d’étre venus. Nous avons beaucoup apprécié ce que vous
nous avez dit. Je vous souhaite a tous et toutes bonne chance.

Nous allons maintenant passer au volet discussion libre de
notre réunion. Nous avons toute une palette de témoins qui nous
attendent. Pour faciliter le bon déroulement des choses, je vais
vous demander de vous présenter I'un aprés ’autre et de nous dire
au juste de quoi vous étes venus nous parler. Nous allons vous
écouter I'un apres 1'autre. La greffiere m’a dit qu’elle vous avait
déja demandé de limiter vos interventions a cinq minutes, ce qui
donnera a nos sénateurs la chance de vous poser des questions.
Nous allons donc commencer par M. Duncan.

Bill Duncan, président, Lanark Landowners Association : Je
m’appelle Bill Duncan, et je suis le président de I’Association des
propriétaires du comté de Lanark, la Lanark Landowners
Association. Nous représentons plus de 2 200 propriétaires
fonciers du comté, et nous aimerions vous parler des ruraux
pauvres et de leurs problémes.

Merle Bowes, a titre personnel : Je m’appelle Merle Bowes
et je suis membre de la méme association, et je représente
en outre I’Eastern Ontario Producers Farmers Markets
Association.

Deborah Heintzman, membre, LINKS : Je m’appelle Deborah
Heintzman, je suis membre du comité de LINKS pour Portland
en Ontario. Je suis également une mére monoparentale et les
problémes qui m’intéressent sont ceux de la pauvreté rurale et du
développement économique dans notre région.

David Campbell, a titre personnel : Je m’appelle David
Campbell. Je suis producteur agricole et je suis venu vous
raconter mon histoire.

Dre Denise Bowes, a titre personnel : Je m’appelle Denise
Bowes, je suis médecin et j’ai exercé en médecine générale ici a
Athens depuis 1976 pour prendre une retraite anticipée pour
cause de maladie en 1998. Je suis également, entre autres,
bénévole a I’Université Queen’s ou j’ai participé a la mise sur
pied d’un cours facultatif pour les étudiants de six facultés afin de
leur apprendre a vivre et a travailler en région rurale. Je fais
beaucoup de bénévolat dans la collectivité, et je vous souhaite la
bienvenue chez nous.
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Laurie Wight, as an individual: I am Laurie Wight and I have
resided by choice in rural Leeds for 37 years.

Rosemary Kralik, as an individual: I am Rosemary Kralik, a
farmer in the Lanark highlands. I am also a member of the
Ontario Federation of Agriculture and a few other agricultural
groups.

The Chairman: Thank you very much. We have 50 minutes,
so I will let you loose. If you can each stay to five minutes
that would be great because I know that our senators wish to
ask questions.

Mr. Duncan: You asked, what is causing the poverty in the
rural areas of Canada? What is causing the demise of the rural
economy? It does not require a sophisticated answer. It is not
necessary to probe too deeply into the causes of a failing rural
economy. For the most part, the answers are prevalent in our
everyday lives. The rural residents of Canada have been forced
into this position not by an economic disaster in the country or
the world, or by a strong or weak Canadian dollar. The answer to
the decline in the rural economy does not lie with low commodity
prices for agricultural products or reluctance to compete in the
world market. What then are the factors that have caused this
devastation?

The answer, quite simply, is government and an out-of-control,
unaccountable bureaucracy. The intention of government was,
for the most part, honourable, not to be callous toward one sector
of the country or favour of one economy over another. It did
not intend to discriminate against us but the machinery of
government has tilled the rural soil too deep and that has resulted
in crop failure. This failure will not last for just one season, but
will last for a generation of seasons.

Ask yourself what could have happened to Canada, a nation
that was once called the breadbasket of the world. That prosperity
was replaced by regulation and restrictions. What transpired that
restricted Canadian farmers from accessing the Canadian
domestic market, while allowing foreign farmers more and more
access to the Canadian consumer? Canada is no long are able to
produce enough food to feed this country. We are now a net
importer of food. Eighty per cent of what Canadians serve on
their dinner tables is produced somewhere else.

Three levels of government and their bureaucracies have
played a strategic role in the demise of the rural economy.
Provincially, the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation is
assessing farms and rural business on the value of property at
the point of sale, adding unjustified financial burden. This
unaccountable out-of-control corporation will soon be assessing
property every four years. Any improvement to farms causes an
increase in assessment. Maple syrup producers were faced with

Laurie Wight, a titre personnel : Je m’appelle Laurie Wight et
j’ai choisi de m’établir a Leeds en région rurale ou j’habite
depuis 37 ans.

Rosemary Kralik, a titre personnel : Je m’appelle Rosemary
Kralik, et je suis productrice agricole dans les hautes terres du
comté de Lanark. Jappartiens également a la Fédération de
I’agriculture de I’Ontario et a d’autres organisations a vocation
agricole.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup. Nous avons 50 minutes devant
nous, et je vais donc vous laisser la bride sur le cou. Si vous
pouviez chacun et chacune vous limiter a cinq minutes, ce serait
merveilleux parce que je sais que nos sénateurs tiennent a vous
poser des questions.

M. Duncan : Vous avez demandé quelle était la cause de la
pauvreté dans les régions rurales du Canada. Qu’est-ce qui
provoque la ruine de I’économie rurale? La réponse n’est pas trés
compliquée. Il ne faut pas creuser trés loin pour trouver les causes
de la faillite de ’économie rurale. Pour I'essentiel, les réponses
sont évidentes dans notre quotidien. Au Canada, les ruraux se
sont trouvés acculés dans cette situation non pas par une
catastrophe économique ou mondiale, pas plus que par la
faiblesse ou la vigueur relative de notre dollar. Si 1’économi
rurale est en déclin, ce n’est pas a cause de la faiblesse du prix des
produits agricoles ou d’une répugnance a affronter la concurrence
étrangére. Mais quels sont donc ces facteurs qui ont provoqué
cette dévastation?

Tout simplement, la réponse est le gouvernement et une
bureaucratie échappant a tout contréle et n’ayant de comptes a
rendre a personne. Certes, pour I’essentiel, les intentions du
gouvernement étaient honorables : il n’a jamais voulu négliger
une région en particulier ou favoriser une économie au détriment
d’une autre. Il n’avait pas non plus I'intention de nous livrer a
une quelconque discrimination, mais ’appareil de I’Etat a trop
profondément labouré le sol de nos campagnes avec pour résultat
une récolte déficitaire pas seulement pour une saison mais pour
longtemps, saison apreés saison.

Demandez-vous un peu ce qu’il aurait pu advenir du Canada,
un pays qu’on appelait jadis le grenier du monde. Cette prospérité
a été remplacée par des réglements et des restrictions. Qu’est-il
donc arrivé qui a ainsi empéché les producteurs agricoles
canadiens d’avoir accés au marché intérieur tout en permettant
aux producteurs étrangers de rejoindre de plus en plus facilement
les consommateurs canadiens? Le Canada n’est déja plus capable
de produire suffisamment pour nourrir sa propre population.
Nous sommes actuellement un importateur net de produits
alimentaires. Quatre-vingts pour cent de ce que nous servons a
table au Canada vient d’ailleurs.

Trois ordres de gouvernement et les administrations qui leur
sont associées ont joué un réle capital dans cette ruine de
I’économie rurale. Au plan provincial, la Société d’évaluation
fonciére municipale évalue les exploitations et les entreprises
rurales en fonction de la valeur du bien-fonds au moment de la
vente, ce qui ajoute un fardeau financier injustifié. Cette société
qui échappe a tout controle et ne rend de comptes a personne va
bientot évaluer les propriétés fonciéres tous les quatre ans. Toute
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the threat of being assessed as industrial producers because they
package a product. Strawberry farmers are faced with an
increased assessment if they make strawberry jam and package
it for sale. Any farm operation that value adds will be assessed at
a higher rate.

Increased legislation and regulations such as the greenbelt
legislation restricting farmers’ ability to expand, devaluates
farmland prices and restricts agricultural practice and
production. While this legislation restricts farmers, the
government allows the building of roads, hydro transmission
lines, landfill sites, railroad lines and pipelines. More greenbelt
areas are planned. The Algonquin to Adirondack greenbelt will
link Eastern Ontario with the Highway 401 greenbelt corridor,
restricting agriculture production even further.

The Clean Water Act legislation will give unprecedented
powers to bureaucrats. For example, section 83, allows seizure
of private property without consent and without payment as
compensation. Section 47 to section 53 provides municipalities
with the authority to charge for water extraction permits and to
use water metres on rural wells. Section 49 and section 50 outlaws
land use activities that are deemed a threat to groundwater.
Section 56 stipulates that anything a permit inspector requires to
be done must be done regardless of the expense. Declaring
bankruptcy to avoid payment is not tolerated; the expense must
be paid.

Provincial land use policy allows the province to create
buffer zones around wetlands and waterways. This policy
restricts agricultural production to 150 metres from the water
and allows for the creation of areas of natural and scientific
interest. The farmer does not receive compensation for the loss
of property.

The Nutrient Management Act includes reparations without
compensation. Even though the farmers are forced to comply
with provincial policy, they receive little or no compensation.

They face financial hardship in complying with the legislation
that creates little benefit for the farm or the environment. Instead
of managing wildlife, the Ministry of Natural Resources, which
enforces the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act, allows herds of
deer and flocks of wild turkeys and geese to ravage farm fields
with no compensation for the farmers.

At the same time, the ministry threatens and intimidates
farmers who obtain legal cull permits. The Ministry of Natural
Resources has power to enter all property and outbuildings
without warrant, only person’s home is off limits. The Ministry
of the Environment has all-encompassing powers. Work orders
are issued without cause or justification. Failure to comply

amélioration apportée a l’exploitation se traduit par une
augmentation de I’évaluation. Les acériculteurs risquaient de se
faire évaluer comme producteurs industriels parce qu’ils
conditionnent leurs produits. Les producteurs de fraises risquent
une évaluation plus élevée s’ils vendent leur confiture. Toute
exploitation agricole affichant une valeur ajoutée sera évaluée a
un taux supérieur.

La multiplication des lois et des réglements, par exemple la loi
sur la ceinture de verdure qui empéche les agriculteurs d’étendre
leurs activités a pour effet de dévaluer les terres agricoles et de
restreindre les méthodes de production ainsi que la production
elle-méme. Alors que cette loi limite les activités des agriculteurs,
le gouvernement provincial permet ’aménagement de routes, de
lignes de haute tension, de champs d’épandage, de voies de
chemin de fer, d’oléoducs et de gazoducs. Le gouvernement a en
projet bien d’autres ceintures de verdure. La ceinture de verdure
reliant le parc Algonquin aux Adirondacks reliera également 1’Est
ontarien a la ceinture de verdure de l'autoroute 401, ce qui
restreindra encore plus la production agricole.

La Loi ontarienne sur ’eau saine donnera aux fonctionnaires
des pouvoirs sans précédent. Ainsi, I’article 83 permet de
confisquer un bien-fonds privé sans le consentement de
son propriétaire et sans aucune indemnisation financiere.
Les articles 47 a 53 donnent aux municipalités le pouvoir de
facturer les permis d’extraction de 1’eau et de faire installer des
compteurs d’eau a tous les puits en région rurale. Les articles 49
et 50 interdisent toute activité réputée nuisible pour les eaux
souterraines. L’article 56 stipule que tout propriétaire est dans
I’obligation, peu importe ce qui lui en cofitera, de faire tout ce
qu’exige I'inspecteur des permis. Il ne sera plus possible de
déclarer faillite pour éviter de payer les frais.

La politique provinciale en matiére d’utilisation du sol permet
a la province de créer des zones tampons autour des terres
humides et des cours d’eau. Cette politique interdit toute
exploitation agricole a moins de 150 métres de I’eau et permet
la création d’aires d’intérét naturel et scientifique. Le producteur
agricole qui perd ainsi une partie de ses terres n’a droit a aucune
indemnisation.

La Loi sur la gestion des éléments nutritifs prévoit qu’il pourra
y avoir réparation sans aucune indemnisation. Méme si un
producteur agricole est obligé de se conformer a la politique
provinciale, il n’est pratiquement pas indemnisé.

11 doit se conformer a la loi, une loi qui n’est guére bénéfique
pour son exploitation ou pour I’environnement, ce qui lui impose
un fardeau financier. Le ministére des Richesses naturelles, en
appliquant la Loi sur la protection du poisson et de la faune, laisse
les chevreuils, les dindons et les oies ravager en toute impunité les
champs sans que les producteurs agricoles en soient indemnisés,
au lieu d’assurer la gestion de la faune.

Simultanément, le ministére ne se prive pas pour menacer et
intimider les producteurs agricoles qui obtiennent des permis
d’abattage en toute légalité. Le ministére des Richesses naturelles
a le pouvoir de pénétrer dans n’importe quelle propriété et
dans n’importe quelle dépendance sans mandat, seul le
domicile du propriétaire étant interdit d’acceés. Le ministere de
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with the ministry’s work orders results in fines and lengthy
trials. The ministry closed seven sawmills in Lanark County
and hundreds of people lost their jobs. Sawdust was deemed
an environmental hazard to groundwater, while millions of
consumers and government hauled bags of sawdust and bark
mulch from local garden centres to flower beds.

Mr. Bowes: Historically, markets have played a role in Ontario
and Canada where produce is sold directly from the farm.
Starting about three years ago, the Ontario Ministry of Health
and the district health units launched an attack on Ontario
farmers’ markets. I represent the producer-based markets in
which the producer deals directly with customers. There is no
in-between person.

It started with letters from the district health units saying they
would be assessing markets and possibly condemning food
sold during market operations. A group was set up to study the
situation and at first, a number of people from farmers’ markets
sat on the board. By the time the second and third set of
recommendations were proposed only two farm representatives
were left on the board. The board did not have any real contact
or knowledge of the markets.

To give an example, the health unit came out with a list of
items considered appropriate for sale at the markets. The list
included cold drinks sold in the original container, canned pop
and juices, frozen confections sold in the original package or
wrapper and hot beverages. It is only at number four on the list
that you see any items relating to farm produce. These three sets
of proposals went from bad to worse. They were unacceptable.
Their acceptance would have put every producer-based market in
Ontario out of business.

Finally, Mr. Smitherman and the Ontario Ministry of Health
created exemptions from these rigid food rules. That was followed
by a criticism from the health units saying that Mr. Smitherman’s
decision would expose Canadians to unknown risks from the
markets. Throughout our negotiations with food health units and
the Ministry of Health, we asked for examples of food that had
caused health problem or illness. We did not receive a single
example, yet we were under attack from those two groups the
whole time.

The Canadian Food Inspection Agency is unaccountable.
They supposedly protect Canadians from dangerous food.
We do not have access to that agency or its decision-making
policies. One of the things they push is the grading of vegetables.
They deliberately confuse consumers, stating it is an aspect of

I’Environnement a des pouvoirs illimités. Des travaux peuvent
étre ordonnés sans motif et sans justification. Si une ordonnance
du ministre n’est pas respectée, il y a des amendes et des proces
interminables. Le ministére a fait fermer sept scieries dans le
comté de Lanark, privant de travail des centaines de gens. Il a jugé
que la sciure de bois représentait un danger environnemental pour
les eaux phréatiques, alors méme que des millions de
consommateurs et toutes sortes d’administration ne se privent
pas pour répandre des sacs et des sacs de paillis de sciures et
d’écorces dans les jardins et sur les plates-bandes.

M. Bowes : Les marchés ont toujours joué un réle important en
Ontario et au Canada, partout ou des produits agricoles étaient
vendus directement depuis la ferme. Mais il y a environ trois ans,
le ministére ontarien de la Santé et les services de santé des
districts sont passés a l’attaque contre les marchés fermiers de
I’Ontario. Je représente ces marchés ou les producteurs vendent
directement a la clientéle, sans intermédiaire.

Tout a commencé par des lettres envoyées par les services de
santé de districts pour informer les producteurs qu’ils allaient
commencer a évaluer les marchés, quitte a condamner la vente de
produits alimentaires. Un groupe a été constitué pour étudier la
situation et, dans un premier temps, plusieurs représentants
des marchés fermiers en faisaient partie. Mais au moment ou
la deuxiéme et la troisiéme séries de recommandations ont été
proposées, il n’y avait plus a ce conseil que deux représentants du
monde agricole. Le conseil a donc travaillé sans véritablement étre
en contact avec les marchés et sans véritablement bien connaitre
ceux-ci.

Pour vous donner un exemple, le service de santé a produit une
liste énumérant les produits qui pouvaient étre raisonnablement
vendus sur ces marchés. On y trouvait notamment les boissons
froides vendues dans leur conditionnement d’origine, les
boissons gazeuses et les jus en canettes, les produits glacés
vendus dans leur conditionnement d’origine ainsi que les boissons
chaudes. Ce n’est qu’en numéro quatre sur cette liste qu’on peut
voir quoi que ce soit qui est en rapport direct avec ce qui est
produit a la ferme.

Ces trois séries de propositions allaient du mauvais au pire.
Elles étaient inacceptables. Si on les avait acceptées, cela aurait
contraint tous les marchés fermiers de I'Ontario a déclarer faillite.
Pour finir, M. Smitherman et le ministére ontarien de la Santé ont
créé une série d’exemptions a ces régles trés strictes en matiére
alimentaire. Mais les services de santé ont aussitot fait de critiquer
cela, disant que la décision de M. Smitherman risquait d’exposer
les Canadiens a toutes sortes de risques inconnus. Lors de nos
négociations avec les services de santé ainsi qu’avec le ministeére,
nous avons demandé des exemples de produits alimentaires qui
avaient entrainé des problémes de santé ou des maladies. Ils ne
nous ont pas donné un seul exemple, et cela alors méme que ces
deux administrations continuaient a nous attaquer.

L’Agence canadienne d’inspection des aliments ne rend compte
a personne. Elle est censée protéger la population de tout danger
de nature alimentaire. I nous est impossible de nous adresser a
I’Agence ou de contester ses politiques. Par exemple, I’Agence
insiste pour créer des catégories de légumes. C’est de propos
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food safety. It has absolutely nothing to do with food safety.
I am familiar with the grading of vegetables, and you could
dip a cucumber in gasoline and it would qualify as Canada
number 1. It has nothing to do with food safety at all, but
appearance, shape and size.

Labelling is extremely misleading to Canadian consumers.
The 51 per cent rule, allows the term “Product of Canada” to
be used on food containers. All that means is that 51 per cent
of the final cost of the product must be incurred in Canada
and the content must have changed significantly in appearance.
It does not mean that the container saying “Product of Canada”
contains food from Canada. Blending of Canadian or Ontario
products with imported products occurs all the time. This is
information available on the Canadian Food Inspection Agency
website. It is so ridiculous: Most of us know that we do not
produce olives in Canada. Olives can be sold as a product of
Canada under CFIA regulations.

CFIA has shown a tremendous desire to attack small business.
The Renfrew Home Bakery recently came under a needless
attack. When we objected to it, the CFIA had to back down
because they were overstepping their own mandate. They could
not realistically enforce any of the orders that they were trying to
impose on the bakery.

In a time when more Canadians are talking about buying
locally produced products, fresh products, we have our own
government and bureaucracy standing in the way.

Ms. Heintzman: 1 will talk about my own personal history as
well as the issues that concern myself and other people I know.
I am a single mother and I have gone from being employed, from
a bad marriage, to being on social assistance trying to get myself
re-educated. I have been fighting the system to get educated
because it does not support you to do that and get employment
insurance at the same time. If I could do that, I could finish my
education. I have very little money to do anything. I have been
trying to get work on jobs that are seasonal and low-paying.
I have had trouble trying to find affordable child care, which is
almost impossible because I am not getting paid enough to
afford it. Jobs in this area are almost non-existent, at least
good ones.

We need more economic development and more services
like affordable dental care. There are three dentists in my area,
but some of them no longer take people on social assistance.
They will take you if you can pay or if you can work out some
kind of deal with them. That is not guaranteed. It depends on
the dentist. We need more dentists in the area that are willing

délibéré qu’elle séme le doute chez le consommateur en disant que
c’est un élément de la salubrité des aliments. Mais cela n’a rien a
voir avec la salubrité des aliments. Je sais trés bien comment on
classe les légumes et je sais trés bien qu’un concombre qui aurait
baigné dans I’essence pourrait facilement étre considéré comme
appartenant a la catégorie Canada numéro 1. Cela n’a rien du
tout a voir avec la salubrité des aliments, c’est simplement une
question d’aspect, de forme et de taille.

L’étiquetage lui aussi est extrémement trompeur pour le
consommateur. La régle des 51 p. 100, qui permet de marquer
de la mention « Produit du Canada » les conditionnements de
produits alimentaires. Cela veut simplement dire que 51 p. 100 du
prix de revient du produit en bout de chaine doit avoir été
encouru au Canada et que I’aspect du contenu doit avoir changé
de facon notable. Cela ne veut pas dire qu'un conditionnement
dont I’étiquette mentionne « Produit du Canada » contient un
produit alimentaire originaire du Canada. Il arrive tout le temps
qu’on mélange des produits canadiens ou ontariens a des
produits importés. C’est ce qu'on peut lire sur le site web de
I’Agence canadienne d’inspection des aliments. Mais c’est
aussi parfaitement ridicule : la plupart d’entre nous savons
pertinemment que le Canada ne produit pas d’olives. Mais en
vertu de la réglementation de I’ACIA, on peut vendre des olives
avec la mention « Produit du Canada ».

L’Agence a toujours été prompte a s’en prendre aux petites
entreprises. La boulangerie artisanale de Renfrew vient ainsi
d’étre attaquée de fagon tout a fait injuste. Lorsque nous nous en
sommes plaints, ’Agence a di faire volte-face parce qu’elle avait
outrepassé son propre mandat. D’ailleurs, il Iui aurait été
impossible de faire appliquer toutes les restrictions qu’elle avait
ainsi tenté d’imposer a cette boulangerie.

Alors que de plus en plus de gens parlent au Canada d’acheter
des produits locaux, des produits frais, ils trouvent sur leur
chemin leur propre gouvernement, leur propre bureaucratie.

Mme Heintzman : Je vais vous parler de mon cas a moi, mais
également de certains problémes qui me concernent et qui
concernent des gens que je connais. Je suis une meére de famille
monoparentale et, aprés alors que j’étais salariée, aprés mon
mariage, j’ai fini par m’inscrire a 1’aide sociale pour essayer de
parfaire mes études. J’ai dit me battre contre le systéme pour y
arriver parce que celui-ci ne permet pas de reprendre les études, de
toucher I'aide sociale et de recevoir 1’assurance-emploi en méme
temps. Si cela était possible, je pourrais terminer mes études.
Jai trés peu d’argent pour faire quoi que ce soit. J'essaie de me
trouver du travail saisonnier ou de petits boulots au salaire
minimum. J’ai du mal a trouver des garderies abordables, c’est
presque impossible parce que je ne gagne pas suffisamment pour
pouvoir payer ce genre de choses. Dans cette région, les boulots
sont pratiquement inexistants, du moins les bons emplois.

Il faut davantage de développement économique, davantage
aussi de services comme les soins dentaires a prix raisonnables.
Dans les environs de chez moi, il y a trois dentistes, mais certains
d’entre eux ne prennent plus les assistés sociaux. Ils vous
acceptent comme patients pourvu que vous ayez les moyens, ou
encore que vous vous entendiez avec eux. Mais ce n’est pas
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to let people pay an affordable monthly fee. That is part of
my problem. I cannot afford to go to a dentist and get my teeth
fixed. I know I am not alone in this problem. I know people who
need dental work and cannot afford it. There is no help available
for those people.

Employment, as I mentioned, is very hard to come by. I have
a degree from Queen’s University that took me nine years to
get. That was a lot of hard work. I am still struggling. I entered a
small business program through what used to be unemployment
and is now Employment Insurance. There are many hoops
you have to jump through to get it, and getting into it and staying
in it is another story. I am still waiting to see whether they
will approve my business plan. I hope they will, but there is
no guarantee.

Business is hard to get going in this area. We really need more
businesses. We need more employment that pays people a decent
living wage to support themselves and their families. That is very
important. We need good medical, dental and vision care services
as well.

In this area, the jobs that people are forced to take are mainly
seasonal. I worked in some jobs where it was unsafe and I did not
have a choice in the matter. I had to do the job no matter what,
because I needed that money.

I cannot stress enough that we need some changes in this area
for employment and economic development. This is very
important to me. That really needs to be addressed.

Mr. Campbell: 1 can relate to her as a farmer. I have the
distinction of farming in two provinces. We farmed first in
Alberta. I grew up in Lanark County.

The Chairman: Whereabouts in Alberta.
Mr. Campbell: We lived in Vermillion.

During the Mulroney years, of his helping us out which put
us all out of business, we moved back to Ontario. We started
farming in Ontario in 1987 as cream producers, which was an
interesting struggle. We had 45 sows and raised pigs. We never
had enough money to do anything aside from producing cream.
My wife has always worked to continue to support us. Thank
God my wife has dental care or we would be screwed off the
farm.

A few years ago, we were able to convert to milk production.
We went 100 per cent milk and that was a godsend because all at
once we were getting paid for the full value of our milk. We are
small producers. They would come and pick up our milk because
we had that quota. It made a big difference for us. All at once, we
had money rolling in, which we had never seen before.

garanti. Cela dépend du dentiste. Il faut davantage de dentistes
chez nous, davantage de dentistes qui seraient préts a laisser leurs
patients payer une cotisation mensuelle raisonnable. Voila en
partie mon probléme. Je n’ai pas les moyens de consulter un
dentiste et de me faire arranger les dents. Je sais que je ne suis pas
toute seule. Je connais des gens qui ont besoin de soins dentaires
mais qui n’en ont pas les moyens. Il n’existe rien pour aider ces
gens-la.

Comme je vous le disais aussi, les boulots sont trés rares.
Jai un diplome de I’Université Queen’s, un diplome qu’il m’a
fallu neuf ans pour obtenir. J’ai dd travailler trés dur. Je
continue a me bagarrer. Je me suis inscrite & un programme
pour la petite entreprise par I’entremise de ce que ’on appelait
jadis I’assurance-ch6mage et qui s’appelle maintenant I’assurance-
emploi. Mais il y a de nombreux obstacles a franchir avant d’y
arriver, et pour étre admis et pour pouvoir rester, c’est encore une
autre histoire. J'attends encore qu’ils approuvent mon plan
d’affaires. J’espére qu’ils le feront, mais je n’ai aucune garantie.

Il est difficile de faire des affaires dans cette région. Il nous
faut plus d’entreprises. Il nous faut plus d’emplois qui paient
convenablement afin que les gens puissent subvenir a leurs besoins
et a leur famille. C’est trés important. Il nous faut de bons soins
médicaux, dentaires et oculaires.

Dans la région, les emplois qu’'on est obligé d’accepter sont
essentiellement saisonniers. J’ai travaillé dans des situations
dangereuses mais je n’avais pas le choix. Je devais faire le
travail de toute fagon parce que j’avais besoin de I’argent.

Je répéte qu’il faut que les choses changent dans la région en ce
qui concerne I’emploi et le développement économique. C’est
extrémement important. Il faut se pencher sur la question.

M. Campbell : En tant qu’agriculteur, je suis tout a fait
d’accord avec elle. J’ai fait de ’agriculture dans deux provinces.
Jai été d’abord en Alberta. J’ai été élevé dans le comté de Lanark.

La présidente : Ou en Alberta?
M. Campbell : A Vermillion.

Durant les années Mulroney, il nous aidait tellement que nous
avons di tous cesser nos activités, alors nous sommes revenus en
Ontario. Nous avons commencé en Ontario en 1987 comme
producteurs de créme, ce qui représentait un combat intéressant.
Nous avions 45 truies et élevions des cochons. Nous n’avions
jamais assez d’argent pour faire quoi que ce soit d’autres que de
produire de la créme. Ma femme a toujours continué a travailler
pour aider la famille. Heureusement qu’elle bénéficiait de
I’assurance dentaire, sinon on aurait perdu la ferme.

Il y a quelques années, nous avons réussi a passer a la
production laitiére. Nous sommes passés a 100 p. 100 au lait et
c’était une bénédiction parce que tout d’un coup nous étions
payés pour la valeur totale de notre lait. Nous sommes de petits
producteurs. On venait chercher notre lait parce que nous avions
ce quota. C’¢était trés important pour nous. Tout d’un coup, nous
avions de ’argent, ce que nous n’avions jamais eu jusque-la.
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We had to buy used machinery. We worked with our
neighbours. We have young farmers coming up, wanting to take
over their parents’ farm. My daughters are waiting to take over.
It has been a blessing for me to see these guys want to farm,
because that keeps this old guy going.

I know there are many rules and regulations. With some of
them, yes, they are overboard, but some have to be there.

I work extensively trying to help young farmers, if 1 can.
I know the struggle and the hardship. It is terrible when you
have to work two jobs to make a farm work. It is not right.
We should be able to make the money off the farm. We are
not able to do it.

Every election, the governments promise and promise to
help the farmers. I have always felt that we do not even count.
We are not even on the radar until there is a major crisis and
we are all going down. Then they all wake up and say the poor
farmers are in trouble. They get elected and still do not do
anything. A year after Mr. Harper got in and we have not
had a lot of help. Many of our farmers are in trouble. The
stress line is working overtime. We should not even have a
stress line.

Farmers need help. I have come through many tough times and
I do not want to see the next generation do what I have had to do
and live the way I have had to live. That is my bottom line.

You can influence the government and it does not matter
whether it is Conservative, Liberal or NDP, they have to listen.
We need help now, or yesterday, not maybe next week or a
month from now. We have farmers who cannot afford to pay
their bills. Sure there are some farmers who are doing well,
but the majority of farmers in Lanark Country are in trouble.
It is as simple as that.

The Chairman: David, we will do our best. Thank you.

Dr. Bowes: I am going to start by recommending a book that
we used as a course text in this course I mentioned. It is called
Writing Off the Rural West: Globalization, Governments, and the
Transformation of Rural Communities. The text includes a series of
essays by geographers, political scientists and sociologists about
how, since World War II, government policy at all levels has
worked against life in rural communities and is largely responsible
for the exit from rural communities to urban areas.

This book was made into an Ideas documentary on CBC Radio
called “The Canadian Clearances.” If you are familiar with the
highland clearances in Scotland, it is exactly the same idea as what
has been happening here. It documents all of the industries that
have affected rural life in Canada and I highly recommend it for
your project.

Nous avons dia acheter du matériel d’occasion. Nous
travaillions avec nos voisins. Nous avons de jeunes agriculteurs
qui voudraient reprendre I’exploitation de leurs parents. Mes filles
attendent de le faire. Je suis tellement heureux de voir ces jeunes
qui veulent rester dans 1’agriculture parce que cela m’encourage a
continuer a travailler.

Je sais qu’il y a des tas de régles et réglements. Dans certains
cas, en effet, ¢a va trop loin, mais il y en a qui sont nécessaires.

Je fais énormément de choses pour essayer d’aider les jeunes
agriculteurs. Je sais que c’est difficile et qu’il faut se battre. C’est
terrible, lorsqu’il faut avoir deux emplois pour continuer a faire
tourner l’exploitation. Ce n’est pas normal. Nous devrions
pouvoir gagner notre vie a la ferme. Mais ce n’est pas possible.

Chaque fois qu’il y a des élections, les gouvernements ne
cessent de promettre d’aider les agriculteurs. J’ai souvent eu
I'impression que nous ne comptions méme pas. Nous n’existons
pas, tant qu’il n’y a pas une grande crise et que tout le monde
tombe. A ce moment-1a, ils se réveillent et s’apergoivent que les
pauvres agriculteurs sont en difficulté. Ils se font élire mais ne font
toujours rien. Un an aprés que M. Harper ait pris le pouvoir, nous
n’avons toujours pas regu beaucoup d’aide. Beaucoup de nos
agriculteurs sont en difficulté. L’anxiété n’a plus de borne. Or,
nous ne devrions pas étre anxicux.

Les agriculteurs ont besoin d’aide. J’ai traversé beaucoup de
périodes difficiles et je ne veux pas que la prochaine génération
fasse ce que j’ai da faire et vive comme j’ai di vivre. C’est tout.

Vous pouvez influer sur le gouvernement et peu importe que ce
soit des conservateurs, des libéraux ou des néo-démocrates, il faut
qu’ils écoutent. Nous avons besoin d’aide maintenant, sinon hier,
mais certainement pas peut-étre la semaine prochaine ou dans un
mois. Nous avons des agriculteurs qui ne peuvent payer leurs
factures. Evidemment, il y en a qui gagnent bien leur vie mais la
majorité des agriculteurs dans le comté de Lanark sont en
difficulté. C’est aussi simple que cela.

La présidente : David, nous ferons notre maximum. Merci.

Dre Bowes : Je vais commencer par recommander un livre que
nous utilisions comme manuel pour le cours dont je vous ai
parlé. 11 s’intitule Writing Off the Rural West : Globalization,
Governments, and the Transformation of Rural Communities. Ce
texte inclut une série d’essais de géographes, spécialistes de
sciences politiques et sociologues qui expliquent comment, depuis
la Seconde Guerre mondiale, la politique gouvernementale
a tous les paliers a été néfaste a la population des régions
rurales et est en grande partie responsable de ’exode des régions
rurales vers les régions urbaines.

Cet ouvrage a servi de base a un documentaire pour
I’émission Ideas de la station radio anglaise de la SRC intitulée
« The Canadian Clearances ». Si vous connaissez I’histoire des
« Clearances », le Grand Nettoyage, des Hautes Terres en Ecosse,
c’est exactement la méme idée, c’est ce qui arrive ici. On parle de
toutes les industries qui ont eu une incidence sur la vie rurale au
Canada et je vous recommande fortement cette lecture.
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The students in the six faculties told us why they are afraid to
move to rural communities to practise their professions. They
have fears of isolation, lack of collaborative opportunities, lack of
privacy and difficulty in meeting the professional and personal
needs of their spouses. I believe that professionals in rural
communities have a responsibility to be advocates for their
congregation members, their students and their patients. That is a
big part of being a rural professional. As we lose professionals in
rural communities, we lose advocates for the people who need us.
It also results in a smaller number of people who can take on
leadership roles. We see this much in this community where our
volunteers are getting older and older. In one organization, our
entire work crew is now over 70 years and no one is coming to
replace those people.

There is a volunteer organization here in Leeds-Grenville that
promotes buying local produce from the farm gate. It is called
Local Flavours. I do not believe you have heard about it,
so I want to mention it. The group runs a cooking class in
Gananoque to educate people to use local produce that comes
straight from the farm gate. One of the teachers told me that
many people younger than 50 years do not know how to can
or freeze the harvest. That skill has been lost and they have no
idea how to cook a squash or turnip. They are dependent
on processed foods, which are expensive. Such processed food
has long-term negative affects on our health.

Senator Callbeck asked earlier today about the role of
government in helping rural communities to survive. One thing
would be to reverse many of the policy decisions. The closure of
small community hospitals, schools and police stations, et cetera,
that help rural life flourish, must be reversed. That is up to
governments at all levels. Downloading is a big problem because
of the lack of money at the lower government levels to take on the
increased roles that they now have to play.

Ms. Wight: I came here this morning to listen to what other
people had to say to the committee. When Senator Segal asked
the first panel, if you had only one thing you could do, what
would it be, I thought about my answer to that question.

One thing the federal government could do and have an
immediate effect on the rural poor would be to reduce the amount
of fuel tax. I had to pay approximately $2 in fuel tax to come
here today. I will have to pay another $2 to go home. In a rural
community, you have to drive to shop, to bank, to receive health
care services and even to go to work.

I have read that one of the contributing factors to the
growing federal surplus is the increased fuel tax collected due
to the increase in gasoline prices. Some of this surplus has been
earmarked to return to urban Canadians in the form of a tax
credit for public transportation. We do not have public
transportation here as many people mentioned this morning.

Les étudiants des six facultés nous ont dit pourquoi ils avaient
peur d’aller exercer leur profession dans des régions rurales. Ils
ont peur d’étre isolés, de ne pas pouvoir bénéficier de possibilités
de collaboration avec d’autres, de ne pas voir respecter leur vie
privée et d’avoir du mal a satisfaire aux besoins professionnels
et personnels de leur conjointe. J’estime que le nombre de
professions libérales dans les régions rurales se doivent de
défendre le reste de la population, leurs éléves et leurs patients.
C’est un role essentiel qu’ils doivent jouer. Alors que nous
perdons ces gens-la dans les régions rurales, nous perdons des
défenseurs de la cause de gens qui ont besoin de nous. Cela réduit
également le nombre de personnes qui peuvent assumer des roles
de direction. Nous le constatons ici, alors que nos bénévoles sont
de plus en plus 4gés. Dans une organisation, tous nos bénévoles
ont plus de 70 ans et personne ne vient les remplacer.

Il y a une organisation bénévole, ici, a Leeds-Grenville, qui
encourage a acheter des produits locaux a la ferme. Il s’agit de
Local Flavours. Vous n’en avez probablement pas entendu parler
et c’est pourquoi je voulais la mentionner. Ce groupe donne des
cours de cuisine a Gananoque pour apprendre aux gens a utiliser
des produits locaux qui viennent directement de la ferme. Une
personne qui donne ces cours m’a dit qu’il y a beaucoup de gens
de moins de 50 ans qui ne savent pas comment conserver ou
congeler les produits. Et ils n’ont aucune idée non plus de la fagon
de cuire une courge ou un navet. Ils n’utilisent que des aliments
transformés qui coutent cher. Ces aliments ont a long terme des
effets négatifs sur notre santé.

Le sénateur Callbeck a demandé tout a ’heure quel était le role
du gouvernement pour aider les collectivités rurales a survivre. Il
pourrait renverser beaucoup de décisions qui ont été prises. La
fermeture des petits hopitaux, des écoles et des stations de police
locaux, et cetera, qui facilitent la vie dans une région rurale, est
une erreur. C’est aux gouvernements a tous les paliers de faire le
nécessaire. Ce n’est pas en se déchargeant de leurs responsabilités
que nos gouvernements nous aident. Les administrations locales
n’ont pas I'argent voulu pour assumer les nouveaux réles qu'on
leur demande d’assumer.

Mme Wight : Je suis venue ce matin pour écouter ce que les
autres avaient a dire au comité. Lorsque le sénateur Segal a
demandé au premier groupe de témoins ce qu’ils suggéreraient,
s’il n’y avait qu'une chose que pouvait faire le gouvernement,
j’ai réfléchi.

Une chose que pourrait faire le gouvernement fédéral et qui
aurait un effet immédiat sur la pauvreté rurale serait de réduire la
taxe sur les carburants. Venir ici m’a couté environ 2 § de taxe sur
les carburants. Je devrai en payer encore deux autres pour rentrer
chez moi. Dans un milieu rural, il faut prendre sa voiture pour
aller au magasin, a la banque, se faire soigner et méme aller
travailler.

J’ai lu qu'un des facteurs qui contribuent a I’excédent
budgétaire croissant du gouvernement fédéral est la taxe sur les
carburants, qui ne cesse de croitre avec ’augmentation des prix de
I’essence. Une partie de cet excédent est censée revenir aux
Canadiens urbains sous forme de crédits d’impot pour les
transports publics. Nous n’avons pas ici de transports publics



30-3-2007

Agriculture et foréts

22:73

If you return some of these tax dollars to the rural poor,
perhaps using the same system to return GST to low-income
families, individuals would then have more money to live on.
Public transportation tax credits are only one of a growing
number of policies that ignore rural dwellers. While these
policies affect all of us in some way or other, it tends to have
a more severe effect on the poor. They are not able to roll with
the trend as well as others.

A recent announcement of an incentive for purchasing
environmentally efficient cars does not help the poor who
cannot afford a new car. It is very little help to the rest of us
that live in a rural area because the car that receives the
largest rebate is the hybrid car that does not have efficient
fuel ratings for rural driving.

I am encouraged the Senate has seen the need to review the
status of rural poor people and I hope the experience will leave
you more aware of how policies are not always equally applied to
rural and urban individuals.

The Chairman: Thank you very much. That is precisely why we
are here today.

Ms. Kralik: Thank you very much for holding these
conferences. I have been through the cycle of a broken
marriage, single parenthood, education and working like a dog
at one-half the salary of the man beside me in order to earn my
way. I was able to buy a 722-acre farm where I run over 100 head
of animals only to learn that it takes $10,000 worth of hay to
produce $5,000 worth of meat.

Everybody has put forward good facts. I would like to remind
you of a historical overview. The problems we suffer today come
from government policies that favour transnational corporations
over our own farmers. The only law they follow is to maximize
immediate profits for their shareholders at the cost of our health,
environment, humanity and future.

The economy of scale applies very well to industry. The
industrial revolution showed us how we could produce widgets
for next to nothing. As soon as you apply economy of scale to
living creatures and entities, you suffer the consequences
of disease, compromised resources and destruction of the
environment, not to speak of a breeding ground for a potential
pandemic.

Agriculture made civilization possible. It is the foundation on
which the civilization in the history of man has come about. The
first time that civilization denies its link with the earth, the first
time it turns it back on agriculture, spells the end of that
civilization.

comme beaucoup vous l'ont dit ce matin. Si vous rendez une
partie de cet argent aux pauvres des régions rurales, en recourant
peut-étre au méme systéme que celui par lequel vous remboursez
la TPS aux familles a faible revenu, cela laisserait aux gens plus
d’argent pour vivre. Les crédits d’imp6t pour les transports
publics ne sont qu’un exemple parmi d’autres de politiques qui ne
tiennent pas compte des habitants des régions rurales. Ces
politiques nous touchent tous d’une fagon ou d’une autre, mais
elles ont des répercussions plus graves sur les pauvres. Ils ne
peuvent pas absorber ces cofits supplémentaires comme tout le
monde.

On a récemment annoncé que 1’on offrirait un incitatif a ’achat
de véhicules éconergétiques. Cela n’aide certainement pas les
pauvres qui ne peuvent pas se permettre d’acheter une nouvelle
voiture. Cela ne nous aide pas beaucoup non plus dans une région
rurale parce que la voiture qui obtient le remboursement le plus
important est le véhicule hybride qui n’est justement pas bien coté
pour sa consommation sur les routes.

Je trouve encourageant que le Sénat ait trouvé bon d’examiner
la situation de la pauvreté en milieu rural et j’espére que cette
expérience vous permettra de mieux comprendre comment les
politiques ne s’appliquent pas toujours de la méme fagon aux
Canadiens des régions urbaines et a ceux des régions rurales.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup. C’est précisément la raison
pour laquelle nous sommes ici aujourd’hui.

Mme Kralik : Merci beaucoup d’avoir organisé ces réunions.
J’ai connu la rupture d’un mariage, je suis monoparentale, j’ai da
retourner aux études et travailler comme un chien a la moitié
du salaire de 'homme qui faisait la méme chose que moi
pour pouvoir m’en sortir. J’ai réussi a acheter une exploitation
de 722 acres ou j’ai 100 animaux pour apprendre qu’il
faut 10 000 $ de foin pour produire 5 000 $§ de viande.

Tout le monde a dit des choses intéressantes. J’aimerais vous
rappeler un peu I’histoire. Les problémes dont nous souffrons
aujourd’hui viennent de politiques gouvernementales qui
favorisent les multinationales aux dépens de nos agriculteurs.
Leur seule loi est d’optimiser les bénéfices immédiats pour leurs
actionnaires, sans égard pour notre santé, notre environnement,
I’humanité ni ’avenir.

L’économie d’échelle s’applique trés bien a I'industrie. La
révolution industrielle nous a montré comment I’on peut produire
pour pratiquement rien. Dés que 'on applique I’économie
d’échelle a des étres vivants, I’on souffre des conséquences de la
maladie, de ressources compromises et de la destruction de
I’environnement, sans parler d’un milieu propice a des pandémies.

C’est l’agriculture qui a permis la civilisation. C’est sur
lagriculture que s’est fondée la civilisation et I’histoire de
I’humanité. Dés que la civilisation se détache de la terre, dés
qu’elle tourne le dos a I’agriculture, sa fin est proche.
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For example, between 1988-02, exports increased 159 per cent
from $10 or $11 billion to $28.5 billion. The net farming income
went from $3 billion to $4 billion. The reduction, if you calculate
the cost of living, is minus 24 per cent.

No other industry has been under the onslaught of
countervailing policies and continued to produce. For the past 50
years, it has been the farmer who has struggled while everything
has fought against him. It is only the farmer that has the
dedication, loyalty, perseverance and honesty to keep going. Our
farmers are the Spartans of our soil. They are the original stewards.
They kept everything healthy. If they do not look to the future,
there is no future. They cannot be involved in short-term gain.

One of the things I have heard politicians say is the best thing
you can do for the rural bumpkin, or the farmer is to get him off
the land into a city where he can go to the opera and the ballet
and get a good education. Even if a person could discuss the
contributions of Tolstoy or Archimedes, if you put that person
out in the open, how would he or she survive? The farmer may not
have degrees, but the farmer, on a daily basis, responds to the
challenge that involve sciences, medicine, architecture,
engineering, everything you need to survive. If the farmer does
not act immediately and positively, Mother Nature does not
accept that he is in a meeting and will call her back two years
later. You die immediately, and your cattle or crop dies too.
Therefore, the farmer is a uniquely creative individual who
responds to a multitude of things. We can rely on the farmers’
ingenuity to help us through all the problems we face today with
the environment, health care and education.

The Chairman: Thank you very much to all of you. I notice that
Mr. Duncan has given us his presentation, and it will be in our
record. I hope any of you who have your presentations in writing
can do the same thing.

This was a terrific discussion. I have learned a great deal today,
because sometimes when you are on Parliament Hill you do not
hear these words. We need to hear them again to remember
although my own farmers in Alberta keep me on my toes.

Senator Mercer: Thank you everybody for your presentations.
Ms. Kralik, all I can say is amen; that was terrific. You hit all
of the high points and certainly highlighted some of the things
we are considering. I do know how to cook a squash and a turnip.
I passed that test.

I am curious, Ms. Wight you answered a question that Senator
Segal asked others, and I think it is probably the question we all
ask. I would particularly like to hear Ms. Heintzman’s response
because you are so by rural poverty.

If there was one thing that the government could do
tomorrow to help the situation for the rural poor, what your
recommendation be? If we could walk into Stephen Harper’s
office Monday morning and say this is what you have to do
today, what would you recommend?

Par exemple, entre 1988 et 2002, les exportations ont
augmenté de 159 p. 100, passant de 10 ou 11 milliards de
dollars a 28,5 milliards de dollars. Le revenu net des agriculteurs
est passé de 3 a 4 milliards de dollars. La réduction, si vous
calculez le cott de la vie, est de 24 p. 100.

Aucun autre secteur n’a subi les politiques de compensation et
continue a produire. Depuis 50 ans, c’est I’agriculteur qui se bat
alors que tout est contre lui. Seul ’agriculteur a la détermination,
la loyauté, la persévérance et I’honnéteté de continuer. Les
agriculteurs sont les spartiates de notre sol. Ce sont les premiers
gérants. Ils se sont assurés que tout restait sain. S’ils ne
s’occupaient pas de l’avenir, il n’y aurait plus d’avenir. Ils ne
peuvent s’inquiéter de gains a court terme.

J’ai entendu des politiques dire que ce I'on pouvait faire de
mieux pour le paysan et I'agriculteur, c’était de le transplanter
dans une ville ou il pourrait aller a ’opéra et au ballet et faire de
bonnes études. Si 'on prend une personne qui peut discuter de
Tolstoi ou d’Archiméde et qu’on la laisse a elle-méme, comment
survivrait-il? L’agriculteur n’a pas forcément de diplome mais
l’agriculteur, jour aprés jour, reléve un défi qui englobe science,
médecine, architecture, génie, tout ce qui est nécessaire pour
survivre. Si l’agriculteur n’agit pas immédiatement et
positivement, Meére nature n’attendra pas deux ans parce qu’il
est en réunion. On meurt immédiatement et le bétail ou la récolte
aussi. L’agriculteur est donc quelquun d’exceptionnellement
créatif qui répond a une multitude de choses. On peut compter
sur le génie des agriculteurs pour nous aider a traverser tous les
problémes que nous connaissons aujourd’hui, qu’il s’agisse de
I’environnement, de la santé ou de 1’éducation.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup a tous. Je remarque
que M. Duncan nous a remis son texte et nous l'intégrerons a
notre dossier. J'espére que ceux d’entre vous qui ont préparé
quelque chose par écrit pourront en faire autant.

Nous avons eu une excellente discussion. J’ai appris beaucoup
de choses aujourd’hui car, quelquefois, quand on est a Ottawa, on
n’entend pas ce genre de choses. Il nous faut les entendre
constamment, mais je peux vous dire que les agriculteurs de
I’Alberta ne me ménagent pas.

Le sénateur Mercer : Merci a tous. Madame Kralik, tout ce que
je puis dire, c’est amen; bravo! Vous avez touché a tout ce qui est
important et vous avez certainement fait ressortir certains des
problémes que nous examinons. Je sais personnellement faire
cuire une courge et un navet. C’est déja ca.

Madame Wight, vous avez répondu a une question que le
sénateur Segal avait posée a d’autres et je pense que c’est la
question que nous nous posons probablement tous. J’aimerais en
particulier avoir la réponse de Mme Heintzman qui est témoin de
la pauvreté en milieu rural.

S’il y avait une chose que le gouvernement pourrait faire
immédiatement pour remédier a la pauvreté en milieu rural,
qu’est-ce que vous recommanderiez? Si nous pouvions lundi
matin entrer dans le bureau de Stephen Harper et lui dire voici
ce qu'il faut faire immédiatement, qu’est-ce que vous nous
recommanderiez?
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Ms. Heintzman: That is a difficult question because there are so
many things that need to be done in this area.

One thing that would help is economic development. We need
better jobs, more jobs. We need jobs that are accessible to people
from all walks of life. We need good quality jobs that will help us
to bring ourselves up. Along with jobs, we need the education
in order to do those jobs. We need the education and the
accessibility to that education. There is no support for single
mothers or fathers to go back to school to get the education they
need to get good quality jobs.

Dr. Bowes: I recommend a minimum guaranteed income
because the poor spend money locally and it does everybody in
the local area a lot of good if they have more money to spend.

Senator Mercer: It amazes me to hear the need for a
guaranteed income. We have heard that in many parts of the
country. I never thought I would hear those words.

Mr. Campbell, you are the first farmer we met in our travels
that has said that his children are anxious to take over the farm.

Mr. Campbell: They are a little nuts like me.
Senator Mercer: The apple does not fall far from the tree.

Mr. Campbell: My brother-in-law in Alberta has kids who
want to take over his farm as well. The story is no different out
there. We went there last fall as we have friends all across the
West, in Manitoba and Saskatchewan. It is the same story.
Some government must wake up some day and understand the
agricultural community is in trouble. If you do not have farmers,
you can have all the regulations you want but they do not mean
anything.

Senator Mercer: We have heard from young and old farmers in
Alberta, Manitoba and Saskatchewan, that they do not want their
kids in the business. There is the issue of what you do with the
large asset you have invested in the land.

I am curious, is it because of the fact that you have a milk
quota?

Mr. Campbell: I have sold the quota. I am living better now.
We invested that.

Senator Mercer: What is driving your two children to come
home and take over the farm? It is very unique in all the hearings
we have heard.

Mr. Campbell: 1 guess because my wife and I never talked
about our hardship. We just endured it. I have a lot of friends
with kids who want to take over the farm. They understand
they may have to work off the farm to make a go of it. It is a
way of life.

If somehow we can get out of the marketplace what we deserve
to be paid, instead of $1.40 for calves but rather $3.40 a pound,
we would not have to work off the farm. Other people can do
most of the jobs farmers are occupying now.

Mme Heintzman : II est difficile de répondre tellement il y a de
choses a faire dans ce domaine.

Une chose qui aiderait serait le développement économique. Il
nous faut de meilleurs emplois et plus d’emplois. Il nous faut des
emplois qui sont accessibles a des gens de tous les milieux. Il nous
faut de bons emplois qui nous aident a améliorer notre sort. En
plus des emplois, il nous faut 'instruction nécessaire pour obtenir
ces emplois. Il faut 'instruction et I’accessibilité aux études. Il n’y
a rien pour aider les méres et les péres monoparentaux a reprendre
des études pour obtenir de bons emplois.

Dre Bowes : Je recommande un revenu minimum garanti parce
que les pauvres dépensent leur argent localement et que s’ils ont
plus d’argent, cela sert a toute la collectivité.

Le sénateur Mercer : Tout le monde semble parler de revenu
garanti. On nous I’a suggéré dans des tas de régions. Je n’aurais
jamais pensé qu’on en parlerait autant.

Monsieur Campbell, vous étes le premier agriculteur que nous
ayons rencontré a l’occasion de ces audiences qui dit que ses
enfants veulent lui succéder a la ferme.

M. Campbell : IIs sont un peu fous comme moi.
Le sénateur Mercer : C’est de famille.

M. Campbell : Mon beau-frére en Alberta a des enfants qui
veulent aussi lui succéder a la ferme. C’est la méme chose la-bas.
Nous y étions I'automne dernier parce que nous avons des amis
partout dans 1’Ouest, au Manitoba et en Saskatchewan. C’est
partout la méme chose. Il va falloir quun gouvernement ou
I’autre se réveille un jour et comprenne que le monde agricole est
en difficulté. Si ’on n’a plus d’agriculteurs, on peut avoir toute la
réglementation du monde, cela ne signifie rien.

Le sénateur Mercer : Nous avons entendu des agriculteurs
jeunes et moins jeunes en Alberta, au Manitoba et en
Saskatchewan nous dire qu’ils ne veulent pas que leurs enfants
pratiquent I’agriculture. Le probléme, c’est de savoir quoi faire de
tout ce que I’on investit dans la terre.

Je me pose donc la question, est-ce parce que vous avez un
quota pour le lait?

M. Campbell : J’ai vendu le quota. Je gagne mieux ma vie
maintenant. Nous avons investi nos produits de cette vente.

Le sénateur Mercer : Qu’est-ce qui pousse vos deux enfants a
vouloir reprendre I’exploitation? Je vous dis que c’est la premiére
fois que nous entendons cela durant ces audiences.

M. Campbell : C’est probablement parce que ma femme
et moi n’avons jamais parlé de nos difficultés. Nous les avons
simplement supportées. J’ai beaucoup d’amis qui ont des enfants
qui veulent reprendre aussi I’exploitation. Ils savent qu’il leur
faudra peut-étre travailler aussi a I'extérieur pour survivre. C’est
un mode de vie.

Si nous obtenons du marché ce que nous méritons,
soit 3,40 $ au lieu de 1,40 $ pour les veaux, nous n’aurons plus
a occuper un autre emploi. D’autres travailleurs pourraient
occuper la plupart des emplois qu’ont actuellement des
agriculteurs.
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Senator Mercer: How many people do you employ on the farm?

Mr. Campbell: I employ my daughters.

Senator Mercer: If you were paid fair market value for your
product, would be you be willing to hire someone?

Mr. Campbell: More than likely. It would be nice to get a day off.

The Chairman: When we were in the southwest corner of
Alberta, we heard from the towns, villages, farms and feedlots.
They told us about the rough times they have had in the last few
years. We heard from young farmers who were already at the end
of the rope. They were doing their best, but they were saying they
were not going to be there much longer. On the same day, we met
another young fellow and his three brothers and father, who
proudly took us around a feedlot operation. He was ready to go
into business.

Mr. Campbell: It is a frame of mind. You have to love what
you are doing.

My wife’s family is from Consort. They moved away from
Consort in the 1930s. My wife and her family experienced the
seven-year drought in the 1930s. My wife understands the
hardships of a farm. She grew up on a farm. Hardship has
always been there. That is what is wrong here. We need a better
price for our products.

Senator Segal: I wanted to ask a question of Mr. Bowes and
Mr. Duncan. I am 100 per cent with you on the farmers’ market
issue. I think the government has overreacted excessively in
producing unnecessary regulations.

If government were to accept Mr. Duncan’s analysis there
would be a public response. You suggest that we roll back, shut
down the CFIA, stop grading, stop determining whether to
pasteurize, et cetera.

The question I want you to help us with is this. How do
you educate the public? In the end, in a democracy, whether
Conservative, Liberal, NDP, whatever you like, will respond to
public attitudes, and public attitudes are not as well informed
about reality on the farms as we would like them to be. Urban
Canadians are disconnected from rural Canadians. We do not
know what is actually going on.

Can you imagine Minister Strahl standing up and announcing
that we will shut down the CFIA because they are a pain in the
butt? The country would go berserk. What is your advice?

Mr. Duncan: The CFIA has excessive regulations on Canadian
produce and virtually no regulations on imported produce. As a
nation, we are all about regulating what we grow in this country
and what Canadian consumers put on their tables. As a nation,
we have no influence over the United States or China or Costa
Rica on their food production and how they are allowed to apply
chemicals and what chemicals they can use.

Le sénateur Mercer : Combien de personnes travaillent dans
votre ferme?

M. Campbell : Mes filles travaillent pour moi.

Le sénateur Mercer : Si le marché vous payait le juste prix pour
vos produits, seriez-vous prét a embaucher quelqu’un?

M. Campbell : Fort probablement. Je serais ravi de prendre un
jour de congé de temps en temps.

La présidente : Quand nous étions dans le sud-ouest de
I’Alberta, nous avons entendu des gens dans les villes, les
villages, les fermes et les parcs d’engraissement. Ils nous ont
parlé des difficultés traversées au cours des derniéres années.
Nous avons entendu de jeunes agriculteurs qui étaient déja au
bout du rouleau. Ils faisaient de leur mieux, mais affirmaient ne
pas pouvoir rester longtemps dans ce secteur. Le méme jour, nous
avons rencontré un autre jeune homme, ainsi que ses trois freres
et son pére, qui nous ont ficrement fait visiter leur parc
d’engraissement. Il était prét a se lancer en affaires.

M. Campbell : C’est une question d’attitude. Il faut aimer ce
qu’on fait.

La famille de ma femme est de Consort. Elle I’a quitté dans les
années 1930. Ma femme et sa famille ont vécu la sécheresse de sept
ans des années 1930. Ma femme connait les difficultés de la vie
a la ferme. Elle a grandi sur une ferme. Il y a toujours des
difficultés. Voila quel est le probléme. Il nous faut un meilleur prix
pour nos produits.

Le sénateur Segal : Je voulais poser une question a8 MM. Bowes
et Duncan. Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec vous pour la question
du marché. Je pense que le gouvernement a eu une réaction
exagérée en prenant des réglements qui n’étaient pas vraiment
nécessaires.

Si le gouvernement adoptait I’'analyse de M. Duncan, il y aurait
une réaction publique. Vous proposez qu’on revienne en arriére,
qu’on abolisse I’ACIA, qu'on cesse le classement des produits
alimentaires, qu’on cesse de déterminer s’il faut ou non
pasteuriser, et cetera.

Voici ce que je veux savoir. Comment renseigner le public?
Dans une démocratie, qu’il s’agisse des conservateurs, des
libéraux ou des néo-démocrates, on réagit en fonction de
lattitude du public, mais il faut que le public soit renseigné
sur la réalité agricole et ce n’est pas le cas. Les citadins n’ont
pas de liens avec les gens des régions rurales. Nous ne savons
pas ce qui se passe.

Pouvez-vous imaginer que le ministre Strahl annonce la
fermeture de I’ACIA, parce que c’est une épine dans notre pied?
Il y aurait des émeutes. Que nous conseillez-vous?

M. Duncan : L’ACIA réglemente trop les produits alimentaires
canadiens et pratiquement pas les produits importés. Comme
pays, nous réglementons constamment ce que nous produisons au
Canada et ce que les consommateurs canadiens mettent dans leur
assiette. Comme pays, nous n’avons aucune influence sur les
Etats-Unis, la Chine ou le Costa Rica pour leur production
alimentaire, pour ’épandage de produits chimiques, et cetera.
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We have seen the closure of the Hershey plant here in
Smiths Falls. Hershey employs 500 people and is a great
economic benefit to the whole region. They consume enough
milk at Hershey’s to take away enough business from 300 dairy
farms in Eastern Ontario. They were shut down for two months
because of CFIA. That salmonella problem occurred with soy
lecithin imported from Brazil. It is not even manufactured in
Canada. It was not tested. Hershey discovered the problem
and notified the CFIA. Whether because of embarrassment
or whatever, CFIA kept that plant closed for two months
and $14 million was lost in that plant.

If we are in Pennsylvania sitting around the board room table
and discussing the global situation of the company and we have
been shut down Smiths Falls for two months and lost $14 million,
we may be tempted to say we should be doing business some place
else. That is one small example.

Currently, we have a problem with wheat gluten imported
from China. The wheat gluten is contaminated with rat poison,
which is also a chemical component of fertilizer. That was not
tested by CFIA.

If we are going to have the Canadian Food Inspection Agency,
let it inspect food, all food. Do not let them pick on Canadian
producers and shut them down because of regulations that
they can enforce. The CFIA should be more vigilant about the
quality of imported food. The CFIA is shutting the Canadian
farmer out.

I do not know if everybody is familiar with the term
“monopsony,” where the corporate players buying the food are
also the same companies supplying the inputs. We have a vicious
circle. I am not going down this road of supply management of
pasteurized or non-pasteurized milk, but we need the freedom
in this country that we used to have. We need to access the
consumer’s table without regulation.

I will give you this little example. If I was a bricklayer working
in Ottawa, all I would have to do is put my shingle out and go to
work. I would pack my trowel and lunch kit, get in my vehicle
and go to the job. If I am producing food in this country, there
is a $1.5 million to $2 million investment. With that investment,
I do not know if I can support my family. I can support
myself, but there would not be any money left over to support
the second generation of family that wants to take over.

Compare this to a bricklayer who can go to work laying
bricks without regulations. He puts on a hard hat and goes to
his job. When it comes to agriculture, a list of regulations stifles
growth.

Just because you do not have any trees on your street does not
mean that trees are not in abundance where I live. Just because
you do not drill for water for your own well where you live I may
still have to drill for water. I do not pollute the water. I do not
need to be told that I have to maintain a 500-foot buffer zone
from water. I have been doing that, my father did that and his

Nous avons assisté a la fermeture de I'usine Hershey ici, a
Smiths Falls. Hershey compte 500 employés et toute la région en
profite, économiquement. L’usine de Hershey consomme
suffisamment de lait pour acheter celui de 300 fermes laiti¢res
de I’Est ontarien. A cause de I’ACIA, I'usine de Hershey a été
fermée pendant deux mois. Or, le probléme de salmonelle était
attribuable a de la lécithine de soya importée du Brésil. Elle n’était
méme pas fabriquée au Canada. Elle n’avait pas été testée. C’est
Hershey qui a constaté le probleme et 1'a signalé a ’ACIA.
Pour éviter la honte ou pour toute autre raison, '’ACIA a gardé
I'usine fermée pendant deux mois, ce qui a représenté une
perte de 14 millions de dollars.

Si nous étions le conseil d’administration de Hershey, en
Pennsylvanie, qu’on parlait de la situation mondiale de la société
et de la fermeture d’une usine a Smiths Falls pendant deux mois,
assortie d’une perte de 14 millions de dollars, nous pourrions étre
tentés de faire des affaires ailleurs. Ce n’est qu’un petit exemple.

Nous avons actuellement un probléme associé au gluten de blé
importé de Chine. Le gluten de blé est contaminé au raticide, qui
est aussi un composé chimique faisant partie des engrais. 1l n’a
pas été testé par 'ACIA.

Si on veut préserver I’Agence canadienne d’inspection des
aliments, laissons-la inspecter les aliments, mais tous les aliments.
Ne laissons pas I’Agence s’en prendre aux producteurs canadiens,
et fermer leurs portes en vertu de réglements que peut appliquer
I’Agence. L’ACIA doit étre plus vigilante au sujet de la qualité des
aliments importés. L’ACIA étouffe les agriculteurs canadiens.

Je ne sais pas si vous connaissez le terme « monopsone » : ¢’est
un marché ou des sociétés achétent les aliments, mais fournissent
aussi les intrants. C’est un cercle vicieux. Je ne m’étendrai pas
sur la question de la gestion de I'offre du lait pasteurisé ou non
pasteurisé, mais il nous faut au Canada retrouver la liberté
que nous avions. Il nous faut avoir accés a la table des
consommateurs, sans réglementation.

Je vais vous donner un petit exemple. Si j’étais briqueteur a
Ottawa, je n’aurais qu’a m’annoncer et aller travailler. Je
prendrais ma truelle et ma boite a gotter, je monterais dans
mon camion et j’irais travailler. Pour produire des aliments au
Canada, il faut investir 1,5 a 2 millions de dollars. Malgré cet
investissement, je ne sais pas si je vais pouvoir subvenir aux
besoins de ma famille. Je peux peut-étre subsister, mais il n’y aura
pas suffisamment d’argent pour alimenter la deuxiéme génération
de la famille, qui pourrait vouloir reprendre les affaires.

Revenons a la comparaison avec le briqueteur, qui peut
construire des murs, sans réglementation. Il met son casque de
chantier et va travailler. En agriculture, la réglementation est
étouffante et nuit a la croissance.

Ce n’est pas parce qu’il n’y a pas d’arbres dans votre rue qu’il
n’y en a pas en abondance chez moi. Ce n’est pas parce que vous
n’avez pas a creuser un puits pour avoir de ’eau que je n’ai pas a
le faire moi. Je ne pollue pas I’eau. On n’a pas a me dire qu’il me
faut une zone tampon de 500 pieds par rapport aux cours d’eau.
C’est ce que j’ai toujours fait, comme mon pére et son pére, et
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father before him has been doing the same thing for generations.
Now there is legislation to ensure adherence to the policies we
have been doing voluntarily for years.

Walkerton was a tragedy and agriculture was a victim of that
tragedy. The tragedy of Walkerton was two drunks that did not
do their job. Everybody jumped on the bandwagon and portrayed
agriculture as the villain. We did nothing wrong. Agriculture
was exonerated but the history books show agriculture as the
problem. My daughter is taking outdoor education, which is
taught both outdoors and in the classroom. Part of that education
is aquatics management. I wrote the school and asked for the
opportunity to speak in front of the entire school concerning
aquatics management. In that part of the course, it lists the pH
of water at 4.5 and it lists different industries located upstream.
One of the industries upstream is agriculture. To pass the test
the students had to answer a question on the industries upstream.
The students had to list agriculture as the culprit. It is a loaded
question and the answer is agriculture as the culprit.

We need to get around this mindset. Where I live, the grass is
green, the corn grows tall and we feed people. We are being
punished for doing that job.

Hon. Senators: Hear, hear!

Senator Callbeck: Thank you for coming today. Mr. Bowes,
I would like you to explain your comment on misleading
advertising. I want to know more about your comment on what
can be called a Canadian product.

Mr. Bowes: If 51 per cent of the final cost is incurred in
Canada, then it can be called a Canadian product. For example, a
manufacturer can purchase cucumbers anywhere in the world and
pickle them here in Canada. The manufacturer can purchase the
cucumbers cheaply. If the cost of pickling, jarring and labelling
costs 51 per cent of the final cost, it can be listed as a Canadian
product even though it is not from Canada.

I am not in favour of regulations. I am in favour of removing
regulations that benefit neither the consumer nor the producer.
We have too many regulations. We are overloaded with them.
They add cost, time and effort to our situation. The governments
have become good at creating an uneven playing field for
Canadian producers. The regulations do not allow Canadian
food producers to compete with food produced outside of our
borders, food that is not regulated.

Foreign government policies are not as stringent as they are
here in Canada. We have a safe food supply here in Canada;
that is not my concern. My concern is unsafe food that is not
inspected.

By the way, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency is
directly responsible for most food sold in Canadian stores.
Over 80 per cent of the food imported into Canada is not
inspected. The CFIA is responsible. No other agency has such
power. We all want safe food, of course we do. We need a

comme nous le faisons depuis des générations. Nous avons
maintenant des lois pour nous obliger a respecter des pratiques
que nous avons adoptées volontairement il y a longtemps.

Ce qui s’est produit a Walkerton est une tragédie, et
lagriculture a été victime de cette tragédie. La tragédie de
Walkerton est due a deux ivrognes qui n’ont pas fait leur
travail. Mais tout le monde en a profité pour pointer du doigt
l’agriculture. Nous n’avons rien fait de mal. L’agriculture a été
exonérée, mais I’histoire retiendra que c’était la source du
probléme. Ma fille a des cours d’enseignement de plein air, qui
sont donnés tant en plein air qu’en classe. Une partie du cours
porte sur la gestion de I’eau. J’ai écrit a I’école et j’ai demandé la
possibilité de m’adresser a I’ensemble de I’école sur ce sujet. Dans
ce cours, on dit que le pH de I’eau est de 4,5 et on donne la liste
des secteurs industriels en amont. On y trouve l’agriculture.
Pour réussir I’examen, il fallait répondre a une question sur les
industries en amont. L’éléve devait désigner 1’agriculture dans la
liste des coupables. C’est une question biaisée et la réponse, c’était
que l'agriculture était coupable.

Il faut changer de mentalité. La ou je vis, I’herbe est bien verte,
le mais pousse dru et nous nourrissons la population. On nous
punit de faire ce travail.

Des voix : Bravo, bravo!

Le sénateur Callbeck : Merci d’étre venus aujourd’hui.
Monsieur Bowes, j’aimerais que vous étoffiez vos commentaires
sur la publicité trompeuse. J’aimerais en savoir davantage sur ce
qui peut étre appelé un produit canadien.

M. Bowes : Si 51 p. 100 du coft final est payé au Canada, alors,
c’est un produit canadien. Ainsi, un transformateur peut acheter
des concombres n’importe ou dans le monde et les convertir en
marinades ici, au Canada. Il peut payer un prix modique pour ces
concombres. Si le coiit de la marinade, de la mise en conserve et
de I’étiquetage est de 51 p. 100 du cout final, il s’agit alors d’un
produit canadien, méme si les concombres ne sont pas du Canada.

Je suis contre la réglementation. Je suis pour I’élimination de la
réglementation qui ne sert ni le consommateur, ni le producteur.
Nous avons trop de réglements. Nous sommes inondés de
réglements. IIs ne font que nous codter cher, notamment en
temps et en efforts. Le gouvernement excelle lorsqu’il s’agit
de désavantager les producteurs canadiens. Les réglements
empéchent les producteurs alimentaires canadiens d’étre
concurrentiels avec les producteurs étrangers, dont les produits
sont importés sans étre réglementés.

Les politiques gouvernementales étrangeres ne sont pas
aussi strictes que les notres. Nous avons un approvisionnement
alimentaire sar, ici, au Canada. La n’est pas la question. Ce que je
redoute, ce sont les aliments malsains qui ne sont pas inspectés.

En passant, ’Agence canadienne d’inspection des aliments
est directement responsable de la plupart des aliments vendus
dans les épiceries canadiennes. Or plus de 80 p. 100 des aliments
importés au Canada ne sont pas inspectés. L’ACIA est
responsable. Aucune autre agence n’a ce pouvoir. Nous sommes
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national food policy so producers can have an objective food
policy. We need to educate Canadian consumers to what is and
is not inspected.

Instead of running around clapping themselves on the
back about the good job they are doing, the Canadian Food
Inspection Agency, should be educating the public about the real
dangers regarding imported food. This is the list from yesterday
of recalled food items for the month of March. Canadians
consumers have been used as guinea pigs with these items. The
CFIA does not stop this food from reaching the consumer. That
system is not working well. Canadian consumers have heard
about these food safety policies, but they are empty promises.

Farmers are in trouble in this country. Farmers represent
somewhere between 1.5 per cent to 2 percent of the population.
Farmers are in trouble in this country, but the people in the most
trouble are Canadian consumers.

Senator Callbeck: Dr. Bowes, you were in the middle of a
list where you said we have to reverse certain trends.
You mentioned the closure of schools and hospitals, and the
downloading of services. Could you expand on those
comments?

Dr. Bowes: Regulations brought in by government such as the
GST Tax Credit do not really help people who cannot buy a new
fridge or new car. Many of the people I know are living on less
than $20,000 a year.

I also think that there is a role for regulation in government
and I fully agree with what Mr. Bowes and Mr. Duncan have
said. I do not think the role for government regulation is the
kind of thing that happened through the local health board
concerning farmers’ markets. I fully support the health and
safety of locally produced food. I think there is a role in
protecting the public. Part of government’s role then, is to
educate the public on the things that Mr. Bowes has just detailed
because people do not know what they are buying. They do
not know the lack of safety of what they are buying or they
would not eat it.

We are consuming a dreadful amount of chemicals in
our air, soil, water and food and most people do not know
what they are taking in. Part of it is public education, part of
it is legislation. Waiting for big industry to voluntarily do
the right thing by the environment has not worked. It is up
to government to act to protect us.

The Chairman: This has been quite a day. We want to
thank all of you for being so patient. We would like to stay
here for hours. We could keep on going. We need to hear
these things and we need hear them in every part of Canada.
We are pleased to be here today. You obviously have gone
to much trouble to come to this meeting. We thank you and we
thank all of those people who have stayed with us throughout
the day.

tous pour l'innocuité des aliments, cela va de soi. Il faut une
politique alimentaire nationale qui donne aux producteurs
une politique alimentaire objective. Il faut renseigner les
consommateurs canadiens sur ce qui est inspecté et sur ce qui
ne 'est pas.

Au lieu de s’autocongratuler sur son travail bien fait, TACIA
devrait renseigner le public sur les dangers réels relatifs aux
aliments importés. Voici la liste, en date d’hier, des rappels
d’aliments pour le mois de mars. Pour certains de ces articles,
les consommateurs canadiens ont servi de cobayes. L’ACIA
n’empéche pas la vente de ces produits aux consommateurs. Le
systéme ne fonctionne pas bien. Les consommateurs canadiens
ont entendu parler de politiques sur la sécurité alimentaire, mais il
s’agit de veeux pieux.

Les agriculteurs vivent des temps difficiles. Ils représentent de
1,5 a 2 p. 100 de la population. Les temps sont durs pour eux,

mais ceux qui ont le plus a craindre sont les consommateurs
canadiens.

Le sénateur Callbeck : Docteure Bowes, vous étiez a énumérer
les éléments d’une liste quand vous avez déclaré qu’il fallait
renverser certaines tendances. Vous avez parlé de la fermeture
des écoles et des hopitaux et de la dévolution des services.
Pourriez-vous étoffer vos propos?

Dre Bowes : Les réglements pris par le gouvernement comme le
crédit d’impot pour la TPS n’aident pas vraiment les gens qui
n’ont pas les moyens de s’acheter un réfrigérateur ou une nouvelle
voiture. Beaucoup des gens que je connais ont un revenu inférieur
a 20 000 $ par année.

Je crois aussi que le gouvernement a un réle de réglementation
et je suis tout a fait d’accord avec M. Bowes et M. Duncan. Je ne
pense pas que le role de réglementation du gouvernement soit
celui qui a été adopté par une commission d’hygiéne publique
dans le cas des marchés publics. Je suis tout a fait pour 'innocuité
des aliments produits localement. Je pense qu’il faut protéger le
public. Le réle du gouvernement est donc en partie de renseigner
la population sur ce dont vient de parler M. Bowes, parce que les
gens ne savent pas ce qu’ils achétent. IIs ne savent pas que ces
produits ne sont pas nécessairement sains, autrement, ils n’en
consommeraient pas.

Nous consommons des quantités effarantes de produits
chimiques qui sont dans l’air, le sol, I’eau et les aliments. La
plupart des gens n’en sont pas conscients. Il faut a la fois
renseigner le public et 1égiférer. C’est en vain qu’on a attendu que
les grandes entreprises agissent pour le bien de I’environnement.
C’est au gouvernement d’agir pour nous protéger.

La présidente : Nous avons eu toute une journée. Nous vous
remercions tous de votre patience. Nous voudrions rester ici
encore des heures. Nous pourrions certes continuer. Il nous faut
entendre tout cela, et l’entendre partout au Canada. Nous
sommes ravis d’étre ici aujourd’hui. Manifestement, vous vous
étes donné bien du mal pour venir a cette rencontre. Nous vous
remercions et remercions tous ceux qui sont restés ici, tout au long
de la journée.
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This has been a very good opportunity for this committee.
I hope that you will find when we get our report out many
months from now, that it will reflect some of your concerns and
suggestions.

Thank you, colleagues, for your great work.

The committee adjourned.

Cela a été une trés belle occasion pour le comité. J'espére
que vous constaterez, quand notre rapport sortira dans
plusieurs mois, qu’il refléte certaines de vos préoccupations et
suggestions.

Merci, chers collégues, de votre bon travail.

La séance est levée.
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WITNESSES

Friday, March 30, 2007 (morning session)
Loaves and Fishes:
Irene Selkirk, Administrator.
Country Roads Community Health Centre:
Jen Bergman, Health Promoter;
Sue MacLatchie, Vice-Chair, Board.
Leeds, Grenville and Lanark District Health Unit:
Dianne Oickle, Registered Dietician and Public Health Nutritionist.
United Way of Leeds and Grenville:
Judy Baril, Executive Director.

Perth Connections, Lanark Health and Community Services:

Sandy Prentice, Home Visitor and Playgroup Organizer,
Community Action Program for Children.

Salvation Army — Brockville:

Randy Gatza, Community and Family Services Officer.

(Continued on previous page)

TEMOINS

Le vendredi 30 mars 2007 (séance du matin)
Loaves and Fishes :
Irene Selkirk, administratrice.
Centre de santé communautaire de Country Roads :
Jen Bergman, promotrice de la santé;
Sue MacLatchie, vice-présidente du conseil.
Circonscription sanitaire du district de Leeds, Grenville et Lanark :
Dianne Oickle, diététiste et hygiéniste alimentaire publique.
Centraide de Leeds et Grenville :
Judy Baril, directrice administrative.

Programme Perth Connections, Services communautaires et de santé
de Lanark :

Sandy Prentice, ménagére visiteuse et organisatrice d’ateliers de jeu,
Programme d’action communautaire pour les enfants.

Armée du Salut — Brockville :

Randy Gatza, agent des services communautaires et familiaux
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